Distribution Agreement

In presenting this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this dissertation.

Signature:

Jessica Raper Lawrence

Date

Neonatal Amygdala Lesions in Rhesus Monkeys Living in a Semi-Naturalistic Environment: Effects on Emotional Behavior and Neuroendocrine Stress Response.

> By Jessica Raper Lawrence Doctor of Philosophy Psychology

Jocelyne Bachevalier, Ph.D. Advisor

> Kim Wallen, Ph.D. Committee Member

Patricia Brennan, Ph.D Committee Member

Elaine Walker, Ph.D Committee Member

Mar Sanchez, Ph.D Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies Neonatal Amygdala Lesions in Rhesus Monkeys Living in a Semi-Naturalistic Environment: Effects on Emotional Behavior and Neuroendocrine Stress Response.

> By Jessica Raper Lawrence M.A., Emory University, 2009 B.A., Agnes Scott College, 2000

Advisor: Jocelyne Bachevalier, PhD

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology

Abstract

Neonatal Amygdala Lesions in Rhesus Monkeys Living in a Semi-Naturalistic Environment: Effects on Emotional Behavior and Neuroendocrine Stress Response.

By Jessica Raper Lawrence

The amygdala plays a critical role in the evaluation of salient and threatening cues from the environment and in the modulation of behavioral, autonomic, and neuroendocrine responses to threats. Much less know of is its potential role on the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis basal tone and on the development of emotional and neuroendocrine processes through the lifespan. The current study examined the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions in rhesus monkeys on basal and stress reactive HPA function, as well as emotional reactivity from birth to preadolescence. Neonatal amygdalectomy spared the ability to express emotional behaviors, but altered the modulation of those behaviors based on the contextual information provided by the salience of the threat. Interestingly, the sex of the animal modulated the behavioral effects of neonatal amygdala lesions, leading to different patterns of emotional behaviors depending on the sex and lesion status. Neonatal amygdalectomized animals also had elevated cortisol at 5 and 12 months of age, exaggerated cortisol response to a stressor, and increased corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) in cerebrospinal fluid as compared to controls. Pharmacological challenges used to investigate the neural mechanisms of this exaggerated glucocorticoid secretion revealed blunted response to a corticotropin releasing hormone challenge, suggesting a down-regulation of CRF receptors in the anterior pituitary. Thus, the amygdala plays a critical role in the development of both basal and stress-related HPA axis functions and in the expression of sexually dimorphic behaviors, providing valuable insights into the neural mechanism underlying the symptomatology of many developmental neuropsychiatric disorders.

Neonatal Amygdala Lesions in Rhesus Monkeys Living in a Semi-Naturalistic Environment:

Effects on Emotional Behavior and Neuroendocrine Stress Response.

By Jessica Raper Lawrence M.A., Emory University, 2009 B.A., Agnes Scott College, 2000

Advisor: Jocelyne Bachevalier, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology

Acknowledgements

The success of this study is indebted to the dedication of several individuals. First and foremost, my advisor, Jocelyne Bachevalier. Her patience and belief in me kept me focused and helped guide me toward my goals. I am also grateful for the expertise of Mar Sanchez, this study would not have achieved such beautiful results without her mentorship. I would additionally like to thank Kim Wallen for taking me under his wing 11 years ago, while as a technician in his lab, my interest in hormones and behavior was first nurtured. I also want to thank my committee members, Elaine Walker and Patricia Brennan, for their input and service. I am grateful to Nancy Bliwise for imparting her statistical analyses wisdom to me.

I would like to recognize the members of the Wallen laboratory, past and present. It truly takes a team of people to conduct research in large social groups of monkeys, and without their help and devotion to the animals, this study would never have happened.

Special recognize needs to the members of the Bachevalier laboratory, past and present. This study could not have been conducted with their invaluable assistance with the surgeries and post-surgical MRI procedures. Beyond the technical support of the Bachevalier laboratory members, I am also grateful for their support and friendship, graduate school would have been unbearable without you. A special thanks to Christa Payne for being the Lab Mom, without her fantastic organizational skills and reminders to celebrate for special occasions (e.g., birthdays, talk like a pirate day) the lab would surely fall into disrepair. Thank you to Andy Kazama for his Zen nature and rapier wit. I am grateful to Maria Alvarado for initiating me into the SBC, her words of wisdom will haunt me. To Rebecca Richardson, who I am thankful will be on my side when the zombie apocalypse comes. To Jordan Johnson for his extraordinary height, and Anthony Gazy for his strength. To Emily Johnson for joining the lab and picking up the hormones and behavior torch where I left off.

This achievement is attributed to the unconditional love, devotion, and encouragement of my husband, Garth Lawrence, my parents, Tom and Marilyn Raper, and my sisters, Erica Dockery and Pamela Raper. I am eternally grateful for your support and dedication.

Finally, I would like to recognize the monkeys that made the ultimate sacrifice for the advancement of our understanding of the connection between the brain and behavior.

Table of Contents

General Introduction Structure and Connectivity of the Amygdala	. 11 . 11
Amygdala and Emotional Behavior	. 13
HPA axis Regulation	. 16
Amygdala and HPA axis interactions	. 18
Behavioral Development and Amygdala Maturation	. 20
Neonatal Lesions of the Amygdala and Emotional Behavior	. 22
Neonatal Amygdala Lesions and HPA axis Regulation	. 25
Specific Aims	. 27
HPA axis Basal Rhythm	. 27
Emotional Behavior	. 27
HPA axis Reactive Stress Response	. 28
HPA axis Functioning	. 28
Manuscript I. Neonatal amygdala lesions alter basal cortisol levels in infant rhesus monkeys Abstract	. 30 . 31
Introduction	. 32
Methods	. 35
Results	. 44
Discussion	. 47
Acknowledgements	. 53
Figure Captions	. 54
Figure 1. Representative cases of neonatal amygdala lesions.	. 55
Figure 2. Basal cortisol levels.	. 56
Figure 3. Testosterone levels.	. 57

Table 1. Intended and unintended damage after neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala	. 58
Table 2. Surgical and Research Manipulation Factors	. 59
Manuscript II. Sex-dependent role of the amygdala in the development of emotional reactivity threatening stimuli in infant rhesus monkeys. Abstract.	y to . 60 . 61
Introduction	. 62
Methods	. 64
Results	. 70
Discussion	. 75
Acknowledgements	. 83
Figure captions	. 84
Figure 1. Representative case of a neonatal amygdala lesion	. 86
Figure 2. Behavioral responses during the Human Intruder paradigm in Infancy	. 87
Figure 3. Behavioral responses toward the Novel Fruit Test	. 88
Figure 4. Behavioral responses during the Human Intruder paradigm in Preadolescence	. 89
Figure 5. Correlations between testosterone levels and yawning	. 90
Table 1. Extent of damage after neurotoxic amygdala lesions	. 91
Table 2. Behavioral ethogram	. 92
Table 3. Human intruder behavioral responses during infancy and preadolescence	. 93
Table 3. (continued)	. 94
Manuscript III. Neonatal amygdala lesions alter normal functioning of the hypothalamic- pituitary-adrenal axis in juvenile rhesus monkeys	. 95 . 96
Introduction	. 97
Methods	100

Experiment 1)4
Results)7
Experiment 2 10)8
Results	2
Discussion11	.4
Acknowledgements	23
Figure captions	24
Figure 1. Cortisol and corticotropin releasing factor levels	25
Figure 2. Response to neuropeptide pharmacological challenges 12	26
Table 1. Intended and unintended damage after neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala 12	27
General Discussion	28 50
How does the present results inform on the role of the amygdala on emotional reactivity in	
neuropsychiatric disorders?	3
Is the amygdala important for normal functioning of the HPA-axis?	5
How do these data inform on the role of the amygdala on HPA-axis activity in	
neuropsychiatric disorders?	3
Summary14	5
Table 1. Summary of emotional reactivity results 14	17
Table 2. Summary of hormone results 14	8
References	19

General Introduction

Primates live in large complex social groups, characterized by strong hierarchical relationships among group members. Survival within these complex groups requires cohesion and stability within the social group that are maintained by appropriate communication of dynamic patterns of social interactions (Altmann, 1962). Thus, the perception and recognition of social cues from other individuals in the group and the selection of appropriate behavioral responses are critical abilities that facilitate adaptation to an ever-changing social environment. In addition, activation of neuroendocrine responses allows rapid respond to dangers by increasing metabolic states or to maintain homeostatic states during peaceful interactions. Mounting evidence has provided support to the view that these abilities require a set of neural structures that includes the amygdala and its interactions with the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis.

Structure and Connectivity of the Amygdala

The amygdala plays a critical role in evaluating the occurrence of potential dangers and in regulating the behavioral, neuroendocrine, and autonomic responses to threats and social stimuli. The primate amygdala is an almond-shaped structure located in the anterior portion of the medial temporal lobe, consisting of 13 interconnected nuclei that receive projections from overlying temporal lobe cortices (Amaral, 1992; Freese & Amaral, 2009). The intrinsic flow of information through the amygdala is primarily unidirectional, following a lateral-to-medial direction such that the major intra-amygdaloid connections arise in the lateral and basal nuclei and terminate in the nuclei located more medially. The lateral nucleus sends projections to almost all other nuclei of the amygdala, with strong connections to the basal, accessory basal, paralaminar, anterior cortical, medial and periamygdaloid cortex (PAC) nuclei, and lighter connections to the anterior amygdala area, nucleus of the lateral olfactory tract (NLOT), and central nuclei. The lateral nucleus receives very few inputs from other amygdala nuclei, but instead receives information from all sensory systems from both visual (facial features and expression, gaze direction, body posture and movements) and auditory information (specific vocalizations and intonations) originating in temporal cortical areas, such as area TE, TA, and TG (Amaral, et al., 1992; McDonald, 1998). In turn the amygdala sends feedback projections to the sensory cortical areas (Iwai, & Yukie, 1987; Amaral, et al., 1992; McDonald, 1998; Pitkänen, 2000). The basal nucleus provides sensory specific cortical inputs to the central nucleus (CeA), another output of the amygdala, which relays information to the brainstem and hypothalamus influencing the autonomic and endocrine manifestations of emotions.

The amygdala can modulate motor behaviors via the projections from the basal and basal accessory nuclei to the ventral striatum, subcortical elements of the motor system. Specifically, the amygdala modulates facial and vocal expressions, body postures, and movements important for defensive behaviors, such as freezing to avoid predator detection (Iwai, & Yukie, 1987; Amaral, et al., 1992; Davis, 2000). The amygdala also has a high degree of connectivity with the hippocampal formation, implying that cross-talk between these two structures are critical to build highly integrated representations of sensory stimuli and their context (Amaral, et al., 1992; Suzuki, 1996). The hippocampal formation and amygdala send and receive extensive projections to the prefrontal and temporal cortices, such as the orbital frontal, entorhinal, and perirhinal cortices, which may be involved in the consolidation and retrieval of emotional information (Suzuki, 1996).

In addition to the critical role of the amygdala in regulating the behavioral responses

involved in emotional reactions, such as fear, it is also thought to influence endocrine responses to potential threats through both direct projections to the lateral hypothalamus and indirect projections to the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus (Price & Amaral, 1981; Amaral, et al., 1992; Freese & Amaral, 2009). The amygdala has two major extrinsic fiber pathways: the ventral amygdalofugal pathway, and the stria terminalis. The central and basal nuclei of the amygdala project to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, which in turn, projects to the PVN creating an indirect pathway by which the amygdala can influence the HPA axis neuroendocrine response to perceived stressors (Price & Amaral, 1981; Amaral, et al., 1992; Pitkänen, 2000; Feldman, et al., 1990, 1995; Herman, et al., 2003, 2005). Studies in adult animals have shown that electrical stimulation of the amygdala results in increased cortisol secretion (Mason, 1959; Ehle, Mason, & Pennington, 1977), whereas lesions of either all amygdala nuclei or only the CeA result in lower HPA axis response to a stressor in both rodents (Knigge, 1961; Knigge & Hays, 1963; Beaulieu, DiPaolo, & Barden, 1986; Feldman, et al., 1994) and primates (Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Kalin, et al, 2004). Therefore, the amygdala is thought to play an excitatory role on the HPA axis stress response through either direct or indirect connections to the hypothalamus.

The connectivity of the amygdala provides countless number of routes that can modulate information and influence behavior, suggesting that the amygdala is responsible for adaptive social behavior and emotional expression. This idea has been strengthened by neuropsychological studies examining the functions of the amygdala.

Amygdala and Emotional Behavior

In 1939, Klüver and Bucy reported that aspiration removal of the medial temporal lobe,

which included the amygdala and surrounding cortices, resulted in profound alteration of emotional and behavioral responses in adult monkeys. The behavioral changes included in the Klüver Bucy Syndrome were hyperactivity, fearless or unusually tame nature, hypersexuality, "psychic blindness", and excessive examination of objects. Especially striking was the loss of fear as Klüver and Bucy had intentionally selected "wild" and aggressive monkeys for the study.

Klüver and Bucy's observations, although detailed, were only qualitative and anecdotal in nature, lacking direct quantitative measures of behavior. Later researchers employed more systematic observations to examine the effect of temporal lobectomy. Weiskrantz (1956) compared the effects of lesions of the amygdala, inferior temporal convexity, and sham operation in rhesus monkeys. The behavioral effects were apparent immediately following surgery. Amygdalectomized animals allowed researchers to pet and handle them without visible excitement or aggressivity, whereas sham animals and those with inferior temporal convexity continued to display fear and hostility toward humans. Further evidence of the amygdala's involvement in fear-related behavior comes from a split brain study by Downer (1961). Following a midsagittal transection of the optic chiasm and cerebal commissures, rhesus monkeys were trained to discriminate between edible and non-edible objects through visual cues alone to ensure that their visual perceptual ability was intact. Once the visual discrimination was learned, animals underwent unilateral selective aspiration lesions of the amygdala in the right hemisphere. After recovery from surgery, the contralateral eye (left) to the amygdalectomy was sutured to deprive the intact amygdala of visual input. Animal, which were "wild" and aggressive, became "placid and "peaceful" following the suturing of the eye. In contrast, when the ipsilateral eye (right) to the amygdalectomy was sutured and visual information was reaching the intact amygdala, the animal's behavior abruptly returned to the pre-operative level of

aggression to visual threats.

These earlier studies demonstrate that animals, which were previously "wild" and aggressive toward experimenters prior to surgery, became "tame and "peaceful", and did not express fear or hostility toward human handling following amygdalectomy. These results should be viewed with caution because aspiration and radiofrequency lesions not only damage the cell bodies within the amygdala, but also cause additional damage to surrounding cortices and connection fibers from adjacent areas that pass through or nearby the amygdala (Bachevalier, 2000; Amaral, et al., 2003; Bachevalier, & Meunier, 2005). Therefore, it is difficult to ascertain if the behavioral changes are due to damage to the amygdala, the adjacent cortices, or both. Recent technological advancement has made it possible to overcome these problems and to perform selective lesions that only destroy neural cells and spare fibers of passage. Lesions employing MRI-guided stereotaxic techniques to administer neurotoxins (e.g. ibotenic acid, a glutamatergic agonists that opens calcium channels, causing the cell body to become hyperactivated and fire to death) can selectively damage the amygdala.

Meunier and colleagues (1999) used naturally threatening stimuli (e.g. unfamiliar human or conspecific) to compare the effects of aspiration and neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala. Although both lesion types produced similar effects of hypoaggression and reduced fear, the emotional changes of enhanced submission and decreased aggression were more subtle after neurotoxic lesions than after aspiration lesions. These data suggest that some of the affective changes seen after aspiration lesions of the amygdala are likely due to unintentional damage to surrounding cortices. In fact, a study directly investigating the effects of entorhinal and perirhinal damage on emotional reactivity confirms this idea. Rhinal cortical damage produced heightened defensiveness and attenuated submission and approach responses, which are the opposite of some of the most distinctive symptoms following amygdala damage. Therefore, it is possible that the rhinal cortex and amygdala have distinct, interactive functions in normal behavioral adaptation to affective stimuli (Meunier & Bachevalier, 2002; Meunier, Cirilli, & Bachevalier, 2006).

In addition, early aspiration studies relied on anecdotal observations of subjects' reactivity toward the experimenter as a threatening social stimulus; however, later studies have systematically examined emotional reactivity using the "intruder" paradigm. The "intruder" paradigm investigates the animal's response to being confronted with a social threat of either an unfamiliar conspecific or novel human. Neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala in adult monkeys result in less fearful and less aggressive behaviors toward a taxidermic or live conspecific as compared to controls (Meunier, et al, 1999; Kalin, et al., 2001), and increased willingness to approach an unfamiliar human (Meunier, et al., 1999; Kalin, Shelton, & Davidson, 2004; Mason, et al., 2006; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008). These results from neurotoxic lesions support the key role played by the amygdala in the regulation and expression of fear response and emotional reactivity.

HPA axis Regulation

The role of the amygdala in emotion regulation is also tightly associated with the HPA axis. The HPA axis plays an essential role in an organism's ability to adapt to a homeostatic challenge. Activation of the HPA axis results in the release of glucocorticoids that act at multiple levels to redirect bodily energy resources. Glucocorticoids restore homeostasis by replenishing lost energy through increasing glucose production in the liver, controlling inflammation through inhibiting T-cell proliferation, and reducing energy expense through

suppression of other hormonal systems such as the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis (de Kloet, et al., 1998; Sapolsky, et al., 2000; Herman, et al., 2003). These homeostatic restorative properties of glucocorticoids can also have deleterious effects if allowed to go unchecked, thus negative feedback control is also essential to the health of the organism. Therefore, the HPA response is generally characterized by an "activation" signal from ACTH release followed by a "stop" signal generated by glucocorticoids as well as neuronal negative feedback (Herman, et al., 2003). Specifically, the HPA response begins with the release of corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) from the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus into the hypophyseal portal veins and travels to the anterior pituitary, which then stimulates the release of ACTH into the systemic circulation. ACTH binds to the adrenal cortex, which in turn stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids. The circulating glucocorticoids then complete a negative feedback loop acting back on the hypothalamus to shut off the HPA axis activity.

The HPA axis plays two equally important roles. First, under relatively unstressed conditions, the HPA axis exhibits a circadian rhythm, with a peak at the time of waking, followed by a decline across the day, and finally a trough overnight during rest (Weitzman, et al., 1971; Keller-Wood & Dallman, 1984). This rhythmicity of the HPA axis is under "proactive" negative feedback control of glucocorticoids to maintain basal activity and set the sensitivity and threshold of the organism's stress response. This basal secretory rhythm is essential for the body's homeostasis and normal functioning of other systems in the organism, such as metabolism, growth, immune function, the sleep/wake cycle, and efficient performance of learning and memory tasks (Munck, Guyre, & Holbrook, 1984; de Kloet, et al., 1998; Diamond et al., 1992). The second role of the HPA axis is to promote a reactive response to actual or perceived challenges (threats) to the organism by initiating an increase in ACTH. It is this

reactive stress response that is important for the activation of the "fight or flight" response. This stress response is controlled by "reactive" glucocorticoid negative feedback to prevent the system from overshooting (Sapolsky, et al., 2000) and gives the organism the ability to cope with, adapt to, and recover from stress. Thus, the HPA axis serves two essential roles in the overall function and survival of an organism.

Amygdala and HPA axis interactions

The dramatic effects of amygdalectomy on emotional behavior led researchers to question its effects on HPA axis reactivity. Electrical stimulation of the amygdala in conscious adult monkeys produced a significant increase in cortisol compared to no stimulation or stimulation of a control area, i.e. the putamen (Mason, 1959; Ehle, Mason, & Pennington, 1977). This significant increase in cortisol was even seen with unilateral amygdala stimulation (Mason, 1959). Although this rise in cortisol in response to electrical stimulation could have been due to the animal's behavioral change, this factor was eliminated by examining the effects of electrical amygdala stimulation in unconscious (anaesthetized) monkeys (Frankel, Jenkins, & Wright, 1978). Selective stimulation of either the lateral or basal nuclei of the amygdala was sufficient to create an increase in cortisol in anaesthetized animals. Thus, the amygdala can influence the HPA axis response without directly affecting behavior. Overall, these studies suggest that the activation of the amygdala has an excitatory effect on the HPA axis.

The strong evidence involving the amygdala in emotional behavior led to the design of new studies mostly focusing on its role in the reactive stress response (for review Herman, et al., 2003, 2005) without consideration of its potential contributions on basal cortisol secretion. Consequently, only a few studies have examined the influence of the amygdala on basal HPA axis functions. In one study, the authors assessed whether the amygdala is necessary to maintain basal tone of the HPA axis (Allen & Allen, 1975). Adrenalectomy (removal of the adrenal glands) eliminates the production of glucocorticoids, and, in turn reduces negative feedback on the HPA axis, resulting in hypersecretion of ACTH. However, adrenalectomy combined with bilateral radiofrequency amygdala lesions yielded significantly lower ACTH release as compared to that of intact animals or those with unilateral lesions of the amygdala (Allen & Allen, 1975). These data suggest that an input from only one amygdala is sufficient to maintain hypersecretion of ACTH after adrenalectomy. Additionally, unilateral amygdala lesion coupled with severing the connection to the hypothalamus from the intact amygdala on the contralateral side also vielded a significant reduction of ACTH hypersecretion after adrenalectomy in rodents (Allen & Allen, 1975). Although other studies in rodents or primates with adult amygdala lesions have found no difference in baseline (pre-stressor) cortisol levels (Sapolsky, et al., 1991; Prewitt & Herman, 1994; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008), these studies did not thoroughly examine the potential effects of amygdalectomy at different points throughout the diurnal rhythm, leaving the role of the amygdala on basal cortisol secretory rhythm largely unknown in primates. In fact, a recent study by Regev and colleagues (2012) showed that CRH knockdown in the CeA of adult mice leads to increases in basal corticosterone secretion, specifically in the later phase of the diurnal rhythm (close to bedtime, when levels of glucocorticoids are low). Lastly, neurotoxic amygdala lesions led to lower CRF expression in the PVN of the hypothalamus under stressed and non-stressed conditions (Prewitt & Herman, 1994) and lower CRF in the median eminence (Beaulieu, et al., 1989). Taken together, these results suggest that the amygdala and its connections with the hypothalamus have an excitatory role during times of stress as well as during tonic (basal) conditions.

These results demonstrate that the amygdala and its connections to the hypothalamus directly influence the HPA axis, such that excitation of the amygdala results in increase glucocorticoid secretions and influences the endocrine response to stress. Additionally, lesion studies of adult rodents and monkeys demonstrate that the amygdala regulates emotional reactivity as well as the neuroendocrine response to stressors and basal HPA function.

The studies outlined above relate to the role of the amygdala in adult animals that have already acquired the social skills necessary for appropriate responses essential to survival and in which both central structures, the amygdala and hypothalamus, are fully mature at the time of the experimental manipulation (typically, stimulation or lesion). Thus, little is known about the influence of the amygdala on normal development of behavioral and neuroendocrine responses.

Behavioral Development and Amygdala Maturation

During primate development there exists critical periods when significant refinements in behavioral repertoire appear to coincide with neural development of the amygdala. The amygdala exhibits a developmental increase in volume from birth to 2 years of age in rhesus monkeys. A longitudinal developmental MRI study in rhesus monkeys demonstrates that between 1 week to 2 years of age the volume of the amygdala increases 86.49% in males and 72.94% in females (Payne, et al., 2010). Histological examination reveals that the postnatal development of the amygdala occurs in two stages (Chareyron, et al., 2012). The first stage occurs between birth and 3 months of age when the lateral, basal, and accessory basal nuclei significantly increase in volume, whereas the second stage is characterized by a slow and continuous increase in most amygdala nuclei volume. This increase in volume is mostly due to an increase in oligodendrocyte number (Chareyron, et al., 2012). The second stage most likely

reflects the postnatal myelination of the amygdala and its connections to other neural systems that help coordinate responses to threats in the environment.

The protracted development of the amygdala described above is associated with refinement in behavior responses. For a period of about three months following birth, infant macaques appear to lack fear and defensive behaviors and do not understand the meaning of social signals (Mendelson, et al., 1982a, 1982b). Between one week and three months of age, projections from higher-order visual cortices (area TE and TEO) to the amygdala develop, giving the amygdala more accurate visual information regarding social signals (Rodman, 1994). At approximately two months of age, the stria treminalis, which connects the amygdala to the hypothalamus, basal ganglia, basal forebrain, and areas of the brainstem, has developed moderate myelination, presumably increasing the effectiveness of amygdala communication to other areas (Amaral, et al., 1992; Gibson, 1991). The emergence of appropriate responses to social signals in infant macaques (Mendelson, et al., 1982a, 1982b) correlates with these refinements of cortical-amygdala projections and increased myelination of amygdala connections. These refinements occur around the time when infant primates begin to leave the security of their mother (only short distances) and enter into social interactions with their peers (Hinde, Rowell, & Spencer-Booth, 1964). Considering how vulnerable infants are when away from their mothers, it would seem important for them to also have acquired appropriate predator avoidance (freezing) and defensive behaviors by three months of age. This was in fact demonstrated by Kalin and colleagues (1991) using the human intruder paradigm. Infants did not respond to the human intruder with distinct fear and predatory avoidance until 9-12 weeks of age. Considering the correlations between neuroanatomical and behavioral development, several important questions emerge. Would early amygdala lesions lead to behavioral deficits comparable to those

seen in adult-onset lesions? Or would further development and brain plasticity reduce or even prevent the appearance of the deficit? Finally, would early-onset lesions appear unnoticeable in early life but result in a cascading effect, causing drastic behavioral changes later in life?

There is little information available to directly answer these questions. In humans, cases of early amygdala damage are rare, and often the damage extends to surrounding cortical areas and other structures (Chutorian & Antues, 1981; Tonsgard, Harwicke, & Levine, 1987; Rossitch & Oakes, 1989; Lanska & Lanska, 1993; Caparros-Lefebvre, et al., 1996; Adolphs, et al., 1998; 2001). There are also very few developmental studies in monkeys (described below). Yet information about early onset condition is vital to explain how social and emotional competencies develop from a neurobiological standpoint, and particularly the role of the amygdala in normal development.

Neonatal Lesions of the Amygdala and Emotional Behavior

In 1967, Kling and Green explored the effects of early damage to the amygdala on emotional behavior of maternally reared and maternally deprived infants. No differences in emotional behavior were found between operated animals and controls. Maternally reared amygdalectomized infants expressed species-typical responses toward human observers (i.e. fear grimace, withdrawal, threat postures, and barking) as compared to their maternally reared unoperated peers. Likewise, amygdalectomized maternally deprived infants reacted toward human observers in the same way as unoperated maternally deprived controls, exhibiting withdrawal, cowering, and rocking. Researchers only observed these subjects through the first two years of life, before the monkeys had reached puberty. Kling and Green suggested that emotional changes after neonatal amygdalectomy may require some degree of sexual maturation in order to manifest.

A longitudinal study by Thompson and colleagues (1969) examined the effects of neonatal aspiration amygdalectomy on female rhesus monkeys. Emotional reactivity was examined at 6.2 months of age by placing subjects alone in a novel cage and presenting them pictures: a monkey exhibiting a threatening, frightened, or neutral (relaxed) expression, an infant monkey, and a control picture of an inanimate object. Amygdala-operated animals expressed less fear as compared to controls when the pictures were presented. To directly address whether emotional changes after early amygdala damage would become more apparent with further maturation, Thompson and colleagues (1977) re-examined the subjects after they had reached sexual maturity at 6 years of age. Compared to control subjects, neonatal amygdalectomized subjects exhibited increased activity when placed alone in a novel environment for 24 hours. The adult control subjects were re-tested after receiving an amygdala lesion, which allowed for comparison between the behavioral effects of neonatal and adult amygdala lesions (Thompson, et al., 1977). Adult-operated animals exhibited increased activity in the test, similar to subjects with neonatal amygdala damage. These results suggest that, despite the timing of the amygdala lesion, rhesus monkeys exhibit similar blunting of emotional reactions after both neonatal and adult lesions of the amygdala.

These results from Thompson and colleagues may seem contradictory to those of Kling and Green (1967); however, the differences in results may reflect differences in methodology of the measurement of emotional behavior. Kling and Green merely measured subject's reaction to humans during passive observations, whereas Thompson and colleagues designed a specific test to systematically examine reactivity to emotional stimuli. Thompson and colleagues (1969; 1976) found blunted fear response and increased activity as early as 6 months, and these emotional changes were still present when subjects reached sexual maturity. Thompson also reported that neonatal and adult lesions produced similar blunting of emotional behavior in subjects (Thompson, et al., 1977). Therefore, the amygdala is important for the normal expression of emotional behavior despite the age at which the damage occurs. Although one study reported no effects of early amygdala damage, it appears clear that when affective behavior is tested more systematically, early amygdala damage produced similar emotional changes to those seen in animals with amygdala lesions in adulthood. Conclusions from these studies are limited by the aspiration technique used to create the amygdala damage, since this technique is known to cause unintentional damage to the surrounding cortical areas and fibers of passage.

Recent studies have examined the effects of neonatal neurotoxic amygdala lesions on emotional reactivity in rhesus monkeys (Prather, et al., 2001; Bliss-Moreau, et al., 2010, 2011a, 2011b). Lesions of the amygdala were done at 14 days of age, and emotional reactivity was examined in infancy (Prather, et al., 2001, Bliss-Moreau, 2010), adolescence (Bliss-Moreau, et al., 2011a), and adulthood (Bliss-Moreau, 2011b). Emotional reactivity was assessed by presenting subjects with neutral objects (i.e. luggage tag) and fearful objects (i.e. rubber snake replica). Neonatal amygdala-operated animals engaged in more object manipulation and expressed less fearful behaviors compared to sham-operated controls (Prather, et al., 2001; Bliss-Moreau, et al., 2010, 2011a, 2011b). These findings suggest that emotional changes seen after early amygdala damage are specifically due to the amygdala damage and not damage to surrounding cortical areas or fibers of passage.

A recent study examined the impact of neonatal neurotoxic lesions on emotional reactivity using the Human Intruder paradigm (Raper, et al., 2012a). Neonatal amygdala lesions did not impair or delay the emergence of defensive behaviors in early infancy, but instead altered their modulation depending on the gaze direction of the intruder. The changes in emotional reactivity persisted into adulthood, becoming more pervasive. Animals with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited a blunted freezing response during the Profile (No Eye Contact) condition but heightened fearful behaviors in the Alone condition. Unlike controls, neonatal amygdala lesion subjects were unable to modulate their fearful, hostile, or anxious behaviors depending on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder. These results suggest that, despite the potential for greater brain plasticity and compensatory reorganization after early brain damage, neonatal amygdala lesions result in pervasive changes in emotional reactivity. Nevertheless, although the data demonstrated that lesions of the amygdala early in life result in altered emotional reactivity, another question that needs to be answered is whether these behavioral changes were associated with concurrent changes in the HPA axis?

Neonatal Amygdala Lesions and HPA axis Regulation

Goursaud and colleagues (2006) examined the neuroendocrine response to stress in monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions. Between 3 and 5 months of age, animals were separated from their mothers and relocated to single cages for a 48 hour period of behavioral testing. During this behavioral testing, blood samples were taken from the femoral vein, the first sample was taken 1.5 to 2.5 hours after the initial separation from the mother. The second blood sample was taken at the end of the behavioral testing day, just before an injection of dexamethasone (synthetic glucocorticoid). On day two, a third blood sample was taken to assess the effects of the dexamethasone challenge. Immediately after the third blood draw, ACTH was injected, and a final fourth blood draw was taken 30 minutes after the ACTH challenge. No differences were found between groups. That is, animals with neonatal amygdala lesions responded to the challenges with similar levels of cortisol as compared to controls. However, these results should be viewed with caution since the first sample was collected after at least 1.5 hours of the stress of being separated from their mother and the baseline sample taken prior to the dexamethasone was after several stressful behavioral tests (e.g. Human Intruder paradigm); therefore, this study lacked a true basal blood sample to accurately compare hormonal reactivity.

A recent study examined the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on stress reactive HPA response to the Human Intruder paradigm (Raper, et al., 2012a). Since changes in HPA secretions can be detected within 10 minutes of initial disturbance, this study controlled for changes in cortisol secretion by collecting the baseline sample within 5-7 minutes of the experimenter entering the housing room. To ensure that group differences in hormone secretion were due to the effects of the stressor and not merely the effect of handling or blood sampling technique, ACTH and cortisol levels were examined on a baseline day two days prior to the Human Intruder stressor. Neonatal amygdala lesions resulted in lower awakening basal cortisol and blunted stress response (Raper, et al., 2012a). The blunted cortisol response to a stressor was similar to that seen in adult-onset amygdala lesions (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008). However, in this study, the change in HPA axis functioning was observed in adulthood long after the amygdala damage occurred. Thus, the question of whether the amygdala influences basal HPA axis functioning during early development remains to be directly investigated.

There are several issues that remain to be further investigated to characterize the impact of selective amygdala damage early in life on emotional behavior and the HPA axis. The first is the determination of how neonatal amygdala lesions impact emotional and HPA axis functioning during early development. The second is the role of the amygdala in sexually dimorphic emotional reactivity and HPA functioning. With the exception of Thompson and colleagues (1969, 1976, 1977), the majority of studies examining the effects of amygdala damage, either in adulthood or in infancy, have only examined males. The third is the lack of findings regarding the role of the amygdala on basal HPA functioning in primates. The goal of this project is to directly address these issues. Specifically, the effects of emotional and neuroendocrine behavior will be examined at different time points during development to determine the long-term effects of early amygdala damage on both male and female rhesus monkeys living in large complex social groups.

Specific Aims

HPA axis Basal Rhythm

Basal blood samples will be collected at 2.5, 5, and 12 months of age to investigate the effects of neonatal amygdala damage on the basal tone of the HPA axis. Evidence from adult lesion studies in rodents (Allen, & Allen, 1975; Beaulieu, et al., 1989; Regev, et al., 2012) and neonatal lesions in primates (Raper, et al., 2012a) suggests that diurnal rhythm of the HPA axis will be disrupted by amygdala damage. Therefore, early amygdala damage will result in a flattened and lower diurnal cortisol rhythm compared with normally developing controls.

Emotional Behavior

The Human Intruder paradigm was employed at 2.5-3 months, and 12 months of age to examine the effects of early amygdala damage on the development of emotional behavior. Since the expression of species typical defensive behaviors are fully developed by 3 months of age (Kalin, Shelton, & Takahashi, 1991) and changes in emotional behavior can be detected very early in development (Raper, et al., 2012a), we predict that alterations in emotional reactivity will become increasingly apparent with age. Specifically, neonatal amygdala-operated subjects will exhibit less freezing behavior and lack modulation of emotional behavior based on the gaze direction of the intruder as compared to controls. Thus, neonatal amygdala damage will alter the ability of subjects to process potentially threatening situations resulting in emotional dysregulation.

HPA axis Reactive Stress Response

The reactive HPA axis response will be investigated with blood samples collected immediately before and after the emotional stressors, Human Intruder paradigm at 12 months of age. Normally developing animals will exhibit a significant increase in ACTH and cortisol from baseline to post-test sample. Given the amygdala's excitatory influence on the HPA axis stress response, subjects with neonatal amygdala lesions will exhibit a significantly lower cortisol response to the stressor compared to controls (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Raper, et al., 2012a). Thus, early amygdala damage will disrupt the HPA axis reactive stress response, causing a blunted response to threatening stimuli.

HPA axis Functioning

If the basal rhythm as well as the reactive stress response are negatively impacted by early amygdala damage, then examination of the overall functioning of the HPA axis is necessary to determine at which level of the HPA axis the disruption has occurred. Pharmacological challenges will be employed at 12 months of age to examine the overall responsiveness of the HPA axis. The CRH challenge measures the responsiveness of the pituitary, whereas an ACTH challenge assesses the responsiveness of the adrenal cortex. Finally, a dexamethasone suppression test is used to investigate glucocorticoid negative feedback on the HPA axis. The impact of early amygdala damage on the hypothalamus will result in altered hormonal response to the CRH and dexamethasone pharmacological challenges. Specifically, neonatal amygdala-operated animals will exhibit an increased stress hormone response to the CRH challenge due to the disconnection of the excitatory influence of the amygdala on the hypothalamus. This disconnection will lead to an inability to unable to escape from dexamethasone suppression as compared to controls. Lastly, there will be no differences between groups' responses to the ACTH challenge because the communication between the pituitary and the adrenal cortex has not been altered.

These four aims have been divided into three chapters. Chapter 1 will focus on how damage to the amygdala early in life impacts the development of the HPA axis, by examining basal cortisol secretions at 2.5 and 5 months of age. Chapter 2 focuses on the impact that neonatal amygdala lesions have on emotional behavior, as examined by the Human Intruder paradigm during infancy and preadolescence. Finally, Chapter 3 will focus on how neonatal amygdala lesions have impacted the normal functioning of the HPA axis during preadolescence, specifically examining the basal, stress reactivity, as well as response to neuropeptide challenges. Manuscript I. Neonatal amygdala lesions alter basal cortisol levels in infant rhesus monkeys.

Jessica Raper^{a,b} jraper@emory.edu

Jocelyne Bachevalier^{a,b} jbachev@emory.edu

> Kim Wallen^{a,b} kim@emory.edu

*Mar Sanchez^{b,c} mmsanch@emory.edu

^a Department of Psychology, Emory University, 36 Eagle Row, Atlanta GA 30322

^b Yerkes National Primate Research Center, 954 Gatewood Rd NE, Atlanta, GA 30329

^c Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, Emory University, 101 Woodruff Circle,

WMB suite 4000, Atlanta GA 30322

*Corresponding author Mar Sanchez, Ph.D. Dept. of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences and Yerkes National Primate Research Center 954 Gatewood Rd NE Atlanta, GA 30329 Email address: <u>mmsanch@emory.edu</u> Phone: 404-712-2393

Abstract

The amygdala is mostly thought to exert an excitatory influence on the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis, although its role regulating HPA basal tone is less clear, particularly during primate development. The current study examined the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on basal HPA function and the postnatal testosterone (T) surge of rhesus monkeys reared with their mothers in large outdoor social groups. An early morning basal blood sample was collected at 2.5 months of age, whereas at 5 months samples were collected not only at sunrise, but also at mid-day and sunset to examine the diurnal rhythm of cortisol. At 2.5 months of age shamoperated males exhibited higher cortisol than females, but this sex difference was abolished by neonatal amygdalectomy, with lesioned males also showing lower basal cortisol than controls. Although neonatal amygdalectomy did not alter the postnatal T surge, there was a positive relationship between T and basal cortisol levels. At 5 months of age, neither the sex difference in cortisol, nor its correlation with T levels were apparent any longer. Instead, the diurnal cortisol rhythm of both males and females with amygdalectomy showed a blunted decline from mid-day to sunset compared to controls. These results indicate that neonatal amygdala damage alters basal HPA function in infant rhesus monkeys, affecting males only at early ages (at 2.5 months), while leaving the postnatal T surge intact, and resulting in a flattened diurnal rhythm in both genders at the later ages. Thus, the primate amygdala has a critical influence on the HPA axis in the first few months of life.

Keywords amygdala, HPA axis, testosterone, sex difference

Introduction

The amygdala is anatomically positioned to play a critical role in the evaluation of salient and threatening cues from the environment and in the modulation of behavioral, autonomic, and neuroendocrine responses to potential threats (e.g., Freese & Amaral, 2009). The amygdala influences neuroendocrine stress responses through indirect inputs to the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN), via direct projections to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Herman, et al., 2003; Freese & Amaral, 2009). Thus, in response to a perceived threat, stressorspecific pathways from the amygdala activate the PVN, yielding a cascade of events beginning with the secretion of corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) into the hypophyseal portal blood followed by the release of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary gland into the systemic circulation. ACTH then binds to receptors in adrenocortical cells, which in turn increases the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids, such as cortisol in primates (Herman, et al., 2003). A stimulatory role of the amygdala on these neuroendocrine responses has mostly been demonstrated in adult animals. Thus, electrical stimulation of the primate amygdala increases cortisol secretion (Mason, 1959), whereas either complete bilateral lesions of the amygdala nuclei or selective lesions of the central nucleus (CeA) of the amygdala reduces glucocorticoid secretion in response to a stressor in both rodents (Herman, et al., 2003) and primates (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008). Most of these studies, however, have focused on the role of the amygdala regulating HPA axis stress reactivity (for review see Herman, et al., 2003) with little consideration of its role on basal cortisol secretion and its circadian secretory rhythm. Allen and Allen (1975) reported that the rodent amygdala was necessary to maintain ACTH secretion after adrenalectomy, suggesting a potential stimulatory role of the amygdala for tonic (basal) control of the HPA axis in the absence of glucocorticoid

regulation. However, a more recent study showed that CRH knockdown in the CeA of adult mice actually increases basal corticosterone (Regev, et al., 2012). In primates, no effects on baseline (pre-stressor) cortisol levels have been reported after adult amygdala lesions in monkeys (Sapolsky, et al., 1991; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008). Even less studied is the role of the amygdala in the regulation of basal HPA axis function during prepubertal development.

Human studies suggest that the basal HPA axis secretory rhythm emerges between 8-12 weeks of age (see review Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006). The few studies that have examined the ontogeny of basal HPA function in monkeys indicated either stable or slight decreases in basal cortisol secretion between 2 and 24 weeks of age (Champoux, et al., 1989; Higley, et al., 1992; Clarke, 1993) with an adult-like diurnal pattern of cortisol secretion already present by one year of age (Sanchez, et al., 2005; Barrett, et al, 2009). Thus, the available developmental data point to a progressive maturation of HPA axis function throughout infancy and raise the question of whether the amygdala plays a critical role in this maturation. Few studies have examined the effects of amygdala lesions on HPA axis function in developing rhesus monkeys, either during the juvenile period (Norman & Spies, 1981) or in infancy (Goursaud, et al., 2006; Raper, et al., 2012 submitted). Two have reported no effects on basal activity (Norman & Spies, 1981; Goursaud, et al., 2006). However, these negative results may have resulted either from studying the juvenile rather than the infant developmental period (Norman & Spies, 1981) or from the lack of true baseline samples in the experimental design (Goursaud, et al., 2006). In the most recent study (Raper, et al., 2012 submitted), lower basal cortisol was found in adult animals with neonatal amygdala lesions, although cortisol was not measured in infancy. Thus, the amygdala's influence on basal HPA axis functioning during early primate development remains to be

directly investigated.

The current study had two main aims: 1) to examine the effects of neonatal neurotoxic amygdala lesions on basal HPA function of rhesus monkeys during infancy, and 2) to determine whether these effects are sexually dimorphic. In adulthood, gonadal hormones modulate the HPA axis activity. Thus, estrogens in females have mostly a stimulatory effect on the basal HPA axis (Burgess & Handa, 1992; Stavisky, et al., 2003), whereas testosterone appears to inhibit corticosteroid secretion, at least in rodents (Seale, et al., 2004). Although the relationship between gonadal hormones and the HPA axis in adults is complex and not clearly understood, a few studies have also reported sex differences in basal cortisol levels during childhood, prior to the pubertal increases in gonadal hormones. Thus, boys have higher basal cortisol levels than girls in some studies (Davis & Emory, 1995; Elmlinger, et al., 2002; Ouellet-Morin, et al., 2010); but opposite findings have also been reported (Essex, et al., 2002; Koupil, et al., 2005; Sondeijker, et al., 2007). The differing results may reflect differences in the age at which boys and girls were sampled. Importantly, Davis and Emory (1995) reported higher cortisol levels in boys than girls during a developmental phase when the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis is temporarily activated in boys, resulting in a transient postnatal testosterone (T) surge (Forest, 1979). A similar HPG activation occurs neonatally in male rhesus monkeys, with elevated T levels from birth through 4 months of age followed by HPG inactivation until puberty (Robinson & Bridson, 1978; Mann, et al., 1989). Furthermore, amygdala androgen receptors (AR; Choate, et al., 1998) are present in higher concentrations in males than females (Pomerantz & Sholl, 1987), suggesting that the amygdala may be an important site for the regulation of the HPG axis and for interactions between the HPG and HPA axes. To investigate this potential regulatory role of the amygdala on HPA and HPG activity during infancy, we measured both

basal cortisol and T at 2.5 months (during the postnatal T surge) and at 5 months of age (after the surge, when T was expected to be low) in male and female infant monkeys with and without neonatal amygdala lesions.

Methods

Subjects: Twenty-eight infant rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*) were selected from middleranking multiparous mothers living in large social groups at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center (YNPRC) Field Station (Lawrenceville, GA), Emory University. The social groups were housed in 38 x 38 m outdoor compounds with indoor housing and capture area. Social groups consisted of 20-30 adult females with their immature offspring and two unrelated adult males. Infants were divided into two treatment groups; neonatal amygdala lesion (Neo-A; males = 9, females = 7) and sham-operated controls (Neo-C; male = 6, females = 6). Infants in group Neo-A received MRI-guided bilateral neurotoxic lesion of the amygdala at an average of 25.6 ± 0.8 days of age (range: 20 - 30 days). Infants in group Neo-C received a sham surgery (see below) at an average of 24 ± 1.6 days of age (range: 12 - 33 days). All neuroimaging and surgical procedures were performed at the YNPRC Main Station (Atlanta, GA).

To minimize the risk of maternal rejection, four days prior to surgery, mother-infant pairs received a one hour separation-trial that simulated the manipulations that the mother and infant would receive prior to the imaging and surgical procedures (see below). The separation-trial required isolation of the mother-infant pair away from their social group and separating the infant from the mother, shaving the infant's head, cleaning the area with alcohol and betadine, and placing the infant away from the mother in a temperature-controlled isolette incubator for one hour. The infant was then reunited with the mother and the mother-infant pair was returned to their social group. Two days prior to surgery, the mother-infant pair was transported from the YNPRC Field Station to the YNPRC Main Station. Once all surgical and post-surgical procedures were completed, the mother-infant pairs were transported back to the YNPRC Field Station where they were reintroduced to their social group using a staged procedure.

All procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University in Atlanta, GA and carried out in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Imaging and surgical procedures:

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Procedure: The neurotoxic surgical technique utilized MR images of each animal for pre-surgical location of injection sites and pre-surgical calculations of stereotaxic coordinates of each injection site. On the day of the surgery, the infant was removed from their mother, anesthetized (Ketamine hydrochloride, 100mg/ml), intubated and given isoflurane (1-2% to effect). An intravenous drip of dextrose and 0.45% sodium chloride was placed to maintain normal hydration during MRI and surgery. The animal's head was shaved and secured in a nonferromagnetic stereotaxic apparatus. After the animal was aligned in the center of the magnet, the brain was imaged in each of two stereotaxic planes (sagittal and coronal) using a Siemens 3.0T/90 cm whole body scanner and a 3" circular surface coil. Following a sagittal localizer, a high resolution T1-weighted scan (spin-echo sequence, echo time [TE] = 11ms, repetition time [TR] = 450ms, 12cm field of view [FOV], 256x256 matrix) was acquired throughout the brain at 1 mm in the coronal plane. This series was used to estimate the coordinates of injection sites. Additionally, three fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) scans (3D T2-weighted fast spoiled gradient [FSPGR]-echo sequence, TE = 2.6ms, TR
= 10.2ms, 25 flip angle, 12 cm FOV, 256x256 matrix) were obtained in the coronal plane at 3.0 mm (each offset of 1 mm posteriorly) throughout the brain. The FLAIR images reveal tissue T2 prolongation with cerebrospinal fluid suppression and were used with the post-surgical FLAIR images to estimate the lesion extent.

Injection coordinates: A T1 coronal image representing the largest body of the amygdala, roughly at the level of the chiasm and the middle portion of the anterior commissure, was selected. From this image, four injection sites were located 1 mm dorsal, 1 mm ventral, 1 mm lateral, and 1 mm medial to the center point of the amygdala, allowing diffusion of ibotenic acid through the entire amygdala. Two additional images, one immediately anterior and one immediately posterior to the central image, were used to determine 2-3 additional injection sites spaced 2-mm apart depending on the size of the amygdala at these levels for each subject. Coordinates for each injection site were determined by measuring the distance of the target site to each of three referents for each monkey: Anterior/Posterior Coordinates were calculated from the zero point determined from the tips of the ear bars; Medial/Lateral Coordinates were calculated from the dorsal/ventral coordinates of the earbars. These MRI coordinates were then translated into stereotaxic coordinates.

Surgical Procedure: After the imaging procedure, the animals were kept anesthetized and immediately transported to the surgical suite. The scalp was disinfected with Nolvasan Solution and a local anesthetic (Bupivicaine 0.25% concentration, 1.5ml) was injected subcutaneously along the midline (beginning at the supra-orbital ridge and ending at the occipital notch) to

reduce the pain during skin incision. Under aseptic conditions, the skin was opened and connective tissue was gently displaced laterally to expose the skull. Two small craniotomies were made bilaterally, in front of bregma and above the amygdala, and the dura was cut and retracted to expose the brain. Injections were made simultaneously in the two hemispheres using 30-gauge needles attached to 10 µl Hamilton syringes. The needles were lowered slowly at each injection site, and 0.6-0.8 µl of ibotenic acid (PH 7.8-7.9, 10 mg/ml concentration) was manually injected at a 0.2 µl/min rate. After injection, the needles were left in place for an additional 3-minute period to allow complete diffusion of the neurotoxin at the tip of the needle and minimize its spread in the needle track during retraction of the needles. After the last injection, the dura was closed with silk sutures, the bone opening was covered with Surgicel NU-KNIT (absorbable hemostat), and connective tissues and skin were sutured at the midline. Neo-C animals receiving sham-surgeries were treated in the same way as the experimental animals except that no needles were lowered and no injections were administered.

Postoperative care: Upon complete recovery from anesthesia, the infants were taken to the nursery and placed in an isolette incubator ventilated with oxygen. They were given banamine (1mg/kg for 3 days), dexamethasone (0.5mg/kg for 3 days) and antibiotic (rocephin, 25mg/kg for 7 days) after surgery to prevent pain, edema, and infection, respectively.

Mother-infant Reunions and Cross-fostering: The day after surgery, after ensuring that the animal was alert, it was returned to the mother. The mother-infant reunions were monitored constantly via a secured internet web camera. In most of the cases, the mothers immediately retrieved their infants and the infants were observed nursing on the mother that same day.

However, for a few infants that demonstrated difficulty nursing on the mother during the first reunion, the mother-infant pairs received additional overnight separations for nutrition and monitoring purposes followed by morning reunions until the infant was able to nurse on the mother adequately.

In three cases (one Neo-C male and two Neo-A animals, one male and female), the mother refused to take the infant back after surgery. Repeated attempts were made to reunite those infants with their mother at the YNPRC Main Station, but in each case the mother refused to cradle and nurse the infant. In two cases (Neo-A female and Neo-C male), another reunion was attempted at the YNPRC Field Station upon reintroduction of the mother-infant pairs to their social group. However, in both cases the mother still rejected its infant, but the "abandoned" infant was adopted and raised by another adult female that already had an infant during the birth season and, thus, raised two infants that year. In these two cases of mother-infant 'twin' pairs, the infants' growth patterns were not different from other subjects of the study. The third case, Neo-A male, was successfully cross-fostered to a mother that had recently lost its infant.

Lesion Assessment: The extent of lesion was assessed in vivo using postsurgical neuroimaging procedures, following previously published protocols (Nemanic, et al, 2002). Six to eight days following the surgical procedures, Neo-A infants were again separated from their mother and given a second MRI session for acquisition of both high resolution T1 and FLAIR images, using the same protocols as described for the pre-surgical MRI (see above). Sham-operated animals did not receive this follow-up MRI, but were separated from their mothers and placed in an isolette incubator for the same amount of time. All infants were then re-united with their mothers.

The extent of lesion was estimated using pre- and post-surgery FLAIR images.

Presurgical T1 images were also used to help identify the borders of each structure. The pre- and post-surgery FLAIR images were matched to digital drawings of coronal sections from a normalized rhesus monkey template brain (J. Bachevalier, unpublished atlas). Hypersignals were identified on the post-surgical FLAIR images and plotted onto corresponding coronal drawings from the template brain using Adobe Photoshop CS5 software. These drawings were imported into image analysis program Image-J[®] (version 1.44) to measure the surface area (in pixels squared) of damage for intended targets, as well as all areas sustaining unintended damage (entorhinal and perirhinal cortex and hippocampus). The surface area of hypersignal on each section through each hemisphere were summed and then multiplied by image thickness (i.e. 1mm) to calculate a total volume of damage. The volume of amygdala damage was then divided by the normal volume of the amygdala (obtained from the template brain in a similar manner) and multiplied by 100 to estimate a percentage of the total volume damage.

Procedures for Assessment of Basal HPA Axis Function

Training and capture procedures: Due to the subjects' young age (2.5 and 5 months) they depend on their mothers, which carry the infants during procedures. Thus, all mother-infant pairs were trained to quickly separate from their social group and enter an indoor area. Once inside, mothers were trained to enter a transfer box with their infant and, then, the pair was placed into a cage from which the infant could be separated from the mother. Mothers learned quickly to voluntarily remove their infant off their ventrum, leaving it in the cage while returning to the transfer box. Infants were then carefully removed from the cage, wrapped in a fleece cloth and gently held while a second researcher took a blood sample via femoral venipuncture from

the unanesthetized infant. Blood samples were collected within 10 minutes from the initial disturbance (i.e., researchers approaching the social group). Blood samples collected under these training/habituation conditions and within 10 minutes reflect basal hormone levels since elevations in plasma cortisol concentrations are minimal/undetectable, as demonstrated by previous studies of rhesus monkeys done at the YNPRC, including infants (McCormack, et al., 2009; Sanchez, et al., 2010). In addition, infants experiencing these procedures exhibit normal development (Wilson, Gordon, & Collins, 1986).

Blood Sampling: At 2.5 months of age, an early morning basal blood sample was collected within 30 minutes from sunrise to assess basal cortisol plasma concentrations. No additional afternoon or evening samples were collected at this early age to avoid multiple disturbances to the mother-infant pair. At 5 months of age, the diurnal rhythm of cortisol secretion was examined by collecting blood samples at sunrise, mid-day (afternoon), and sunset using time charts published by the United States Naval Meteorology and Oceanography Command (http://aa.usno.navy.mil/data/docs/RS_OneYear.php) to determine exact daylight times (Sanchez et al., 2005). These daylight diurnal time points were selected instead of clock times because the animals live under natural lighting conditions that affect their circadian cortisol secretory rhythms.

All blood samples were collected in pre-chilled plastic 2 ml vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (3.6mg) and immediately placed on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 minutes in a refrigerated centrifuge (at 4°C). Plasma was pipetted into sterile eppendorfs and stored at -80°C until assayed.

Plasma Hormonal Assays: All assays were performed by the YNPRC Biomarker Core Laboratory. Plasma concentrations of cortisol were assayed in duplicate by R.I.A. using commercially available kits (DSL kit: Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Webster, TX). The sensitivity of the DSL assay was 1.25μ g/dl and intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <10%. Plasma T levels were also assayed in duplicate by R.I.A using commercially available kits (DSL kit: Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Webster, TX). The sensitivity of the DSL assay was 0.05ng/ml and intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <7%.

Data Analysis

Of a total of 112 blood samples collected, only seven took more than 10 minutes to collect (five samples were collected within 11-12 minutes of initial disturbance; 2.5 months: n=3 samples; 5 months: n=2 samples) and were kept in the analysis; the other two were collected within 15 and 16 minutes from disturbance (2.5 months) and were excluded from the cortisol analysis. A Neo-C male exhibited T levels two standard deviations higher than the group mean; thus, this sample was excluded from the T analysis as an outlier to avoid bias in any group or sex differences in T. At 5 months, diurnal blood samples could not be collected from one Neo-C male due to illness. Lastly, one Neo-A male had a history of chronic illness (unrelated to the lesion) and thus its data were excluded from the analysis at both 2.5 and 5 months.

Preliminary analyses were performed to ascertain if surgical, research manipulations factors, or the time from disturbance until collection of blood samples had any influence on basal cortisol levels. Two Hierarchical Linear Model (HLM) Regression analyses were performed on basal cortisol levels at 2.5 months and 5 months of age separately. Any factor that explained a significant portion of the variance in cortisol levels was used as a covariate in subsequent analyses of group differences.

Early morning cortisol levels at 2.5 months were analyzed using a General Linear Model (GLM) ANOVA with Group (2; Neo-C, Neo-A) and Sex (2; male, female) as the between subjects factors, cortisol levels as the dependent variable and time to collect the sample as covariate. Interaction effects were examined with post-hoc comparisons using independent t-tests. Testosterone levels at 2.5 and 5 months of age were analyzed using a GLM ANOVA with Group (2) and Sex (2) as the between subjects factors and T level in the morning as the dependent variable. Lastly, the relationship between cortisol and testosterone levels were examined for each sex (male, female) and age (2.5, 5 months) separately using a HLM Regression analyses accounting for "time to collect the cortisol sample" and group differences in cortisol level.

Diurnal rhythm at 5 months of age was analyzed using a Repeated Measures ANOVA with between subjects factors Group (2) and Sex (2), within subjects factor Time of the Day (3; sunrise, mid-day, sunset), and time to collect the sample as covariate. Comparisons of Time of Day across the between subjects factors were assessed by repeated measures contrasts. The percent change of cortisol concentrations throughout the day was calculated as percent decline between sunrise and mid-day or between mid-day and sunset ([sunrise – mid-day]/sunrise*100 or [mid-day - sunset]/mid-day*100, respectively) for each subject. The percent decline was analyzed by GLM ANOVA with Group (2) and Sex (2) as the between subjects factors and percent decline in cortisol level as the dependent variables. Significance level was set at p < 0.05 for all analyses and effect sizes were eta squared for ANOVA's and cohen's d for t-tests.

Lastly, we investigated potential correlations between the extent of amygdala lesion and cortisol levels at 2.5 and 5 months of age. Partial correlations were performed for cortisol and

extent of amygdala damage correcting for the "amount of time it took to collect the blood sample".

Results

Lesion Assessment: Table 1 displays the volume of damage estimated from the FLAIR MRimages for each monkey in group Neo-A. The extent of bilateral amygdala damage in twelve cases was substantial and bilateral (mean: 84.82% and 92.80% on the right and left, respectively). Case Neo-A-F5 had more moderate but bilateral damage (Neo-A-F5: right: 61.6%, left: 58.4%) and cases Neo-A-F3 and Neo-A-M4 had asymmetrical amygdala damage (right vs left: 100% vs 32.2% and 50.5% vs 84.9%, respectively). Only in one case (Neo-A-F1) was the damage restricted to the right hemisphere (right: 82.3%). The extent of unintended damage to the perirhinal and entorhinal cortices, temporal cortical areas TE, TEO, TG, anterior portion of the hippocampus, and tail of the putamen were negligible in 13 cases. In two cases, Neo-A-F1 and Neo-A-F3, moderate damage to the entorhinal cortex was found in the right hemisphere (18.3% and 21.8%, respectively). Lastly, moderate damage to the tail of the putamen was noted in two cases (Neo-A-F5 and Neo-A-F6). Figure 1 illustrates an example of the extent of bilateral amygdala damage in two cases (Neo-A-F4 and Neo-A-M7) as reflected by the location and extent of hypersignals seen in post-surgical FLAIR images.

Basal Cortisol: Preliminary analyses were performed to ascertain if surgical, research manipulation factors, or the time from disturbance until collection of the blood sample had any influence on basal cortisol levels. As shown in Table 2, none of the surgical or research manipulation factors accounted for a significant amount of the variance in cortisol level at either age. Therefore, since cortisol levels were not influenced by factors such as surgical procedure, handling, or amount of time infants were separated from their mother, these variables were not included as covariates in the analysis of group differences. However, because a significant portion of the variance in cortisol levels at each age could be explained by "time to collect the sample", this variable was used as a covariate in subsequent analysis of group differences.

At 2.5 months of age, Neo-C males had higher basal cortisol levels than did females. However, this sex difference was not evident in animals with amygdala lesions as comparable basal cortisol levels were seen in males and females (Figure 2a). This was confirmed by a significant Group by Sex interaction effect (F[1,25]=4.9, p=0.039, η^2 =0.20). Bonferroni corrected post-hoc comparisons indicated that Neo-C males differed significantly from Neo-C females (t[8]=2.58, p=0.032, d=1.63), Neo-A males (t[11]=2.89, p=0.015, d=1.65), and Neo-A females (t[9]=2.9, p=0.018, d=1.70), whereas Neo-A males and females had comparable cortisol levels (t[13]=0.473, p=0.64, d=0.24).

Analysis of the diurnal cortisol rhythm at 5 months revealed no Group (F[1,19]=0.001, p=0.986, $\eta^2=0.001$) or Sex effect (F[1,19]=2.51, p=0.13, $\eta^2=0.12$), but a significant Group by Time of day interaction (F[2,38]=3.43, p=0.043, $\eta^2=0.15$), reflecting a flattened diurnal cortisol rhythm in Neo-A animals, as compared to Neo-C animals (Figure 2b). Repeated contrasts showed no group differences in cortisol decline from sunrise to mid-day (F[1,19]=1.13, p=0.30), but a steeper decline from mid-day to sunset in Neo-C than Neo-A animals (F[1,19]=6.98, p=0.009). This group effect was most evident when the percent decline in cortisol levels (mid-day to sunset) was calculated (F[1,26]=5.56, p=0.028, $\eta^2=0.20$; Figure 2c).

To further investigate whether the Sex difference found at 2.5 months of age was truly no longer present at 5 months, an additional *a priori* planned GLM ANOVA was conducted only for

sunrise cortisol at 5 months. Results revealed no Group (F[1,26]=0.08, p=0.78, η^2 =0.004), or Sex (F[1,26]=0.01, p=0.94, η^2 =0.001), or Group by Sex interaction effects (F[1,26]=1.79, p=0.20, η^2 =0.08) on sunrise cortisol at 5 months. These results confirm the lack of Sex effects at this age, when the postnatal T surge is over (as shown below).

Testosterone: As shown in Figure 3a, Neo-A and Neo-C males both demonstrated a normal "postnatal T surge" at 2.5 months of age with comparable levels of T (F[1,26]=0.062, p=0.806, η^2 =0.003). In addition, all males had significantly higher T levels than did females (F[1,26]=23.32, p<0.001, η^2 =0.52). Unlike cortisol, there was no Group or Group by Sex interaction for T levels (F[1,26]=0.37, p=0.55, η^2 =0.02). When time to collect the sample and group differences in cortisol were corrected for, regression analyses revealed that T levels during the postnatal T surge accounted for a significant percentage of the variance in basal cortisol among male subjects (R² change=0.34, F(1,8)=9.3, p=0.016; Figure 3b). Such relationship between cortisol and T levels was not found in female subjects (R² change=0.02, F(1,8)=0.38, p=0.55).

The "postnatal T surge" was over by 5 months of age, as indicated by the low T levels in both male groups, Neo-C (M=0.18 ng/ml±0.03) and Neo-A (M=0.19 ng/ml±0.02) and a significant Age effect (F[1,23]=66.55, p<0.001, η^2 =0.74). Neonatal amygdala lesions did not affect T levels at this age, as shown by the lack of a Group effect (F[1,26]=0.16, p=0.70, η^2 =0.01; Figure 3a). The end of the "postnatal T surge" is also evident by the lack of a sex differences in T levels at 5 months of age (F[1,26]=0.07, p=0.79, η^2 =0.003). Lastly, T level no longer accounted for the variance in morning cortisol level among males (R² change=0.03, F(1,9)=0.3, p=0.60), and the same nonsignificant relationship was found among females (R² change=0.05, F(1,8)=0.86, p=0.38).

Correlations between extent of amygdala damage and cortisol: There were no significant correlations between cortisol levels and the amount of amygdala damage at either age (2.5 or 5 months of age) in Neo-A animals.

Discussion

The present results demonstrate that neonatal amygdala lesions yielded alterations in basal cortisol secretion in infant rhesus monkeys, affecting early morning levels in males only at the early age (2.5 months) at the time of the postnatal T surge. At 5 months of age, after the postnatal T surge, neonatal amygdala lesions did not alter early morning basal cortisol levels, but resulted in a flattened diurnal rhythm driven by higher cortisol levels secreted at night in the amygdala-lesioned animals. This later effect of neonatal amygdalectomy was evident in both males and females.

As with previous reports of blunted cortisol response to stressors after amygdala lesions in adulthood (Herman, et al., 2003; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008), the lower basal cortisol levels in amygdalectomized males at 2.5 months of age suggest that the amygdala has an excitatory effect on the HPA axis in early infancy, at least on its basal activity. These results are consistent with those of an earlier study indicating that neonatal amygdala lesions reduced basal cortisol levels in adulthood (Raper, et al., 2012, submitted), and extend these findings by showing that the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on basal cortisol levels are already present in infancy. Nonetheless, these findings contrast with the lack of effects on basal glucocorticoid secretion reported in other studies, including adult-onset amygdala lesions in rodents or primates (Sapolsky, et al., 1991; Herman, et al., 2003; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008), juvenile rhesus monkeys (Norman & Spies, 1981), or in a previous study of infant rhesus with neonatal lesions (Goursaud, et al., 2006). These contrasting results may reflect differences in age at lesion and procedures between studies, including time of day for sample collection. Previous primate studies examined basal cortisol samples taken around mid-morning or mid-day (Kalin, et al., 2004; Goursaud, et al., 2006; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008), but we found that neonatal amygdalectomy affected basal cortisol levels during the early morning (at 2.5 months) or at sunset (at 5 months; see discussion below).

Interestingly, a significant sex difference in basal cortisol levels was detected in Neo-C animals at 2.5 months (i.e., males exhibited higher cortisol levels than females) that was eliminated by the neonatal amygdala lesions. Thus, at 2.5 months, Neo-A males showed lower basal cortisol levels than Neo-C males. Although such a sex dimorphism in basal cortisol during infancy has not been previously reported in human or non-human primates (Champoux, et al., 1989; Higley, et al., 1992; Clarke, 1993; Jonetz-Mentzel & Wiedemann, 1993; Knutsson, et al, 1997; Netherton, et al, 2004), our findings indicate that it may be associated with the T surge in male rhesus infants at this early age given the strong correlation found between cortisol and T levels.

After birth, when infants' HPG-axis is abruptly released from the inhibitory effect of the mothers' high estrogen levels, male infants experience a rise in T levels occurring around birth until approximately day 5 in rodents (Forest, 1979; Weisz & Ward, 1980), 4 months in monkeys (Robinson & Bridson, 1978; Mann, et al., 1989), and 7-9 months in humans (Forest, 1979; Bouvattier, et al., 2002), followed by a quiescent phase until puberty. This "postnatal T surge" is known to affect the normal development of male genitalia and reproductive function later in life

(Mann, et al., 1989; Bouvattier, et al., 2002; Boas, et al., 2006). The positive relationship between T and cortisol occurring during the T surge at 2.5 months together with its absence at 5 months when T levels are low suggests that the elevated postnatal androgen levels stimulate the HPA axis in male infants whose amygdala is intact, but is not present in males with amygdala damage. A similar positive relationship between T and cortisol levels was found in castrated adult male rhesus monkeys that exhibited lower morning cortisol levels than intact males (Smith & Norman, 1987). These findings are in line with those of a study in newborn human infants reporting sex differences in HPA axis activity, with boys exhibiting higher salivary cortisol response to a mild examination stressor than girls (Davis & Emory, 1995), although this study did not focus on basal HPA function nor directly assessed T levels. Although these findings seem contrary to the inhibitory role of T previously described in adult male rodents (Seale, et al., 2004) and the lower basal cortisol reported in post-pubertal boys than in girls (Jonetz-Mentzel & Wiedemann, 1993; Knutsson, et al., 1997; Netherton, et al., 2004), at least for these latter studies we have to consider that after puberty, the sex differences are also influenced by increases in estrogen, and boys show lower cortisol than girls only when estrogen is highest in the menstrual cycle (Wolfram, Bellingrath, & Kudielka, 2011). Altogether, these findings suggest that gonadal hormones in both males and females play an important role when investigating sexual differences in HPA axis function, and that circulating testosterone levels could represent an important factor modulating its activity prior to puberty.

Although neonatal amygdalectomy eliminated sex differences in basal cortisol seen at 2.5 months, it did not affect the postnatal T surge. This suggests that the amygdala's role in the development of the HPA axis and its sexual dimorphism is not due to a direct effect on T secretion, but possibly by mediating the stimulatory effect of T on basal cortisol release.

Although the specific mechanism of these interactions is unknown, they could be potentially mediated via AR found in high density in the amygdala (Choate, et al., 1998) and whose expression is higher in males than females (Pomerantz, & Sholl, 1987). Although, the reduced basal cortisol levels in amygdalectomized males could be due to a lack of normal T binding to ARs in the amygdala, there are other mechanisms by which the lesions could affect HPG axis on HPA function. Follow up studies are needed to address this important question about the mechanisms involved.

The diurnal rhythm of cortisol secretion has not previously been fully characterized in socially-housed, mother-reared, infant rhesus monkeys. Previous research in rhesus monkeys has mostly focused on the impact of early experience on HPA stress reactivity (Champoux, et al., 1989; Clarke, 1993; Capitanio, et al., 2005; Barrett, et al., 2009). Of the few studies that have characterized the diurnal cortisol rhythm during rhesus development (Boyce, et al., 1995; Sanchez, et al., 2005; Barrett, et al., 2009), most have studied juveniles and reported a steep decline in cortisol level between early morning and afternoon, and between afternoon and night (Sanchez, et al., 2005; Barrett, et al., 2009). Our results show that although the diurnal rhythm is already present at 5 months of age, characterized by high cortisol levels in the early morning (at sunrise), there is a nonsignificant decline from sunrise to afternoon (mid-day), followed by a steeper cortisol decline from afternoon to bedtime (sunset). These results suggest that the rhythm is still immature at this age, consistent with the lack of clear cortisol decline from midmorning to mid-afternoon reported in human infants and toddlers (Larson, et al, 1998; Watamura, et al., 2004). In humans, this immature pattern of cortisol secretion has been attributed to napping (Larson, et al., 1998) and immature self-regulation (e.g., low effortful control and behavioral inhibition: Watamura, et al, 2004; Geoffroy, et al, 2006; Tarullo &

Gunnar, 2006; Gunnar, et al, 2011). With age, children's ability to self-regulate increases and napping periods decrease, resulting in behavioral changes that parallel a steeper decline in cortisol secretion from mid-morning to mid-afternoon (Watamura, et al., 2004). It is possible that similar mechanisms influence the immature pattern of cortisol secretion seen in infant macaques in this study, although this possibility will need to be addressed in future studies.

Although the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on early morning cortisol seen at 2.5 months were not detected at 5 months, the lesions resulted in a blunted cortisol decline from mid-day to sunset, driven by increased cortisol levels at sunset, in Neo-A as compared to the Neo-C group. Of the few previous studies that have examined the effects of adult, juvenile, or neonatal amygdala lesions on primate basal HPA function (Norman & Spies, 1981; Kalin, et al, 2004; Goursaud, et al., 2006; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Raper, et al., 2012 submitted) only one has previously reported effects, in particular lower early morning cortisol compared to controls (Raper, et al., 2012 submitted), in adults with neonatal lesions. One important difference with the studies that did not detect differences in basal cortisol is that the levels were measured during mid-morning or afternoon, where we did not detect changes, either. Regardless of the direction of changes in the diurnal cortisol pattern, both studies point to an important influence of the amygdala on basal HPA function in primates. This evidence supports reports of amygdala regulation of tonic (basal) HPA axis activity in rodents (Allen & Allen, 1975; Regev, et al., 2012). Consistent with our findings, Regev and colleagues (2012) recently showed that CRF knockdown in CeA of mice leads to increased basal corticosterone secretion specifically close to the bedtime/sleep phase of the diurnal rhythm, ("lights on" for rodents, when glucocorticoid levels are low). Altogether, these findings suggest that either disruption of just the CeA or the complete amygdala early in development leads to alterations in HPA axis daytime

rhythm, in addition to the more widely reported stimulatory role of this region on HPA stress reactivity.

In addition to developmental factors, the different effects of the lesions on early morning cortisol at 2.5 and 5 months of age could be explained by the low T levels exhibited by all groups at 5 months. These low T levels could, in fact, explain the lack of a sex difference in cortisol secretion at this older age, and the lack of a positive relationship between T and cortisol. Thus, our findings at 2.5 months suggest, that when T levels are high, the amygdala mediates their stimulatory action on the HPA axis function, so that amygdala lesions lead to lower cortisol in males. However, at 5 months, when T levels are low in all groups, the amygdala seems to have an inhibitory role on cortisol secretion instead, at least during the trough of diurnal activity. Altogether, our findings suggest a different (opposite) mechanism of amygdala regulation of basal cortisol secretion, under a low versus a high gonadal hormone context. Future examination of the effects of neonatal amygdalectomy on HPA axis functioning during the juvenile, adolescence and adulthood periods will further help elucidate some of the relationships between amygdala, gonadal hormones, and basal HPA activity.

In summary, results from the current study demonstrate the importance of normal amygdala development and its influence on basal HPA functioning. For example, damage to the amygdala early in life leads to changes in basal cortisol secretion in infant rhesus monkeys, eliminating the normative sex difference seen during the postnatal T surge and leading to a flattened diurnal rhythm at 5 months of age. The long-term effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on this neuroendocrine axis and its interactions with the HPG axis are currently being evaluated and will shed light on the developmental consequences during the juvenile, adolescent, and adult periods.

Acknowledgements

Authors are grateful to Amy Henry, Trina Villarreal, Shannon Stephens, M.A., Christen Merte, Patrick McFarland, Cassie Lyons, Rebecca Roberts, M.A., and Sara Dicker for their invaluable assistance with handling mother-infant reunions, reintroductions to the social groups as well as data collection. We also thank all members of the Bachevalier Laboratory who have helped with the neuroimaging and surgical procedures on the infant monkeys and Sarah Pruett, PhD in the Yerkes BioMarker Core Laboratory for assistance with the hormone assays. This research was supported by the National Institute for Mental Health (MH050268). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official view of the NIMH, or the National Institutes of Health. The studies were also supported by the Center for Behavioral Neuroscience (NSF IBN 9876754), and Integrated Training in Psychobiology and Psychopathology Fellowship (NIMH T32 MH732505), as well as by the National Center for Research Resources to the Yerkes National Research Center (P51 RR00165; YNRC Base grant) which is currently supported by the Office of Research Infrastructure Programs/OD P510D11132. The YNPRC is fully accredited by the American for the Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Care, International.

Figure Captions

Figure 1. Four coronal MR images through the amygdala: T1-weighted images in one shamoperated control (Neo-C-1) and Fluid Attenuated Inversion Reversal (FLAIR) images in two representative cases with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A-F4 and Neo-A-M7). The numerals to the left of each coronal section indicate the distance in millimeters from the interaural plane. Black arrows point to the hypersignal resulting from the cell death from neurotoxic injections.

Figure 2. Basal plasma cortisol levels during early morning at 2.5 months (a), diurnal rhythm at 5 months (b), and Percent Decline in the diurnal rhythm at 5 months (c). Sham-operated controls (Neo-C) is represented with open bars or open squares with dashed lines, neonatal amygdala lesion animals (Neo-A) are represented with black bars or black circles with solid lines. * indicates a significance of p < 0.05.

Figure 3. Early morning testosterone levels 2.5 and 5 months of age (a) and correlation of testosterone and cortisol at 2.5 months of age in the males only (b). All abbreviations as in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Representative cases of neonatal amygdala lesions.



Figure 2. Basal cortisol levels.



Figure 3. Testosterone levels.

Intended Damage				Unintended Damage								
	Amygdala			Hippocampus				Entorhinal				
Subjects	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%
Neo-A-F1	82.3	0.0	41.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	18.3	0.0	9.2	0.0
Neo-A-F2	65.7	98.7	82.2	64.8	0.0	5.7	2.9	0.0	0.6	5.5	3.0	0.03
Neo-A-F3	100	32.2	66.1	32.2	2.5	0.0	1.2	0.0	21.8	2.9	12.4	0.6
Neo-A-F4	90.9	89.3	90.1	81.1	1.9	0.0	1.0	0.0	12.3	0.0	6.2	0.0
Neo-A-F5	61.6	58.4	60.0	36.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6	0.0	0.8	0.0
Neo-A-F6	100	97.7	98.8	97.7	2.4	7.9	5.1	0.2	1.3	2.0	1.6	0.03
Neo-A-F7	98.3	99.0	98.6	97.3	4.3	2.1	3.2	0.1	7.3	2.5	4.9	0.2
Mean	85.5	67.9	76.7	58.4	1.6	2.2	1.9	0.04	9.0	1.8	5.4	0.12
Neo-A-M1	100	80.6	90.3	80.6	8.9	9.0	9.0	0.8	8.3	15.8	12.0	1.3
Neo-A-M2	66.8	89.1	77.9	59.5	0.0	2.7	1.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0
Neo-A-M3	70.3	90.8	80.6	63.9	3.1	5.3	4.2	0.2	2.1	31.4	16.8	0.7
Neo-A-M4	50.5	84.9	67.7	42.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Neo-A-M5	95.9	97.1	96.5	93.1	0.0	12.1	6.1	0.0	5.0	4.4	4.7	0.2
Neo-A-M6	77.3	92.3	84.8	71.3	4.4	0.0	2.2	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0
Neo-A-M7	90.9	98.9	94.9	90.0	5.1	0.6	2.9	0.03	1.4	0.0	0.7	0.0
Neo-A-M8	100	87.0	93.5	87.0	6.4	0.4	3.4	0.03	7.1	0.0	3.6	0.0
Neo-A-M9	61.8	93.2	77.5	57.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.4	0.0
Mean	79.3	90.4	84.9	71.8	3.1	3.4	3.2	0.1	2.7	5.8	4.3	0.2

Table 1. Intended and unintended damage after neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala

L%: percent damage in the left hemisphere; R%: percent damage in the right hemisphere; X%: average damage to both hemispheres; W%: weighted average damage to both hemispheres (W%=(L%×R%)/100). Neo-A-F: female amygdala lesion subject, Neo-A-M: male amygdala lesion subject.

			Interaction with Cortisol Levels		
Factor	Definition	Measured	2.5 months	5 months	
Separation	Total time separated from	Hours	R2 = 0.138	R2 = 0.077	
from	mother from birth until		F(1,25)=0.04, p=0.9	F(1,25)=1.71,	
mother	reunion after surgery			p=0.2	
Handling	Number of times subjects	Frequency	R2 = 0.167	R2 = 0.101	
	were handled for research		F(1,24)=0.84, p=0.4	F(1,24)=0.6, p=0.5	
	(e.g. blood draw),				
	veterinary (e.g. physical				
	exam), and general care				
	(e.g. weight) procedures				
Surgical	Measures of stressors	Cumulative	R2 = 0.169	R2 = 0.101	
Stress	during surgery	Score	F(1,23)=0.05, p=0.8	F(1,23)=0.4, p=0.9	
Score*					
Length of	Total time it took to	Hours	R2 = 0.262	R2 = 0.101	
Surgery	complete the surgical		F(1,22)=2.8, p=0.11	F(1,22)=0.5, p=0.9	
	procedure				
Rate of	Total amount of	% Iso/hr	R2 = 0.297	R2 = 0.132	
Isoflurane	isoflurane per hour of		F(1,21)=1.0, p=0.32	F(1,21)=0.7, p=0.5	
	procedure (pre- & post-				
	surgery MRI, surgery)				
Time to	Time from group	Minutes	R2 = 0.718	R2 = 0.345	
collect the	disturbance until the		F(1,20)=30,	F(1,20)=6, p=0.02	
blood	blood sample was		p<0.001		
sample	obtained				

Table 2. Surgical and Research Manipulation Factors

* Adapted from Anand & Aynsley-Green (1988)

Manuscript II. Sex-dependent role of the amygdala in the development of emotional reactivity to threatening stimuli in infant rhesus monkeys.

*Jessica Raper^{1,2} jraper@emory.edu

Mar Sanchez^{2,3} mmsanch@emory.edu

> Kim Wallen^{1,2} kim@emory.edu

Jocelyne Bachevalier^{1,2} jbachev@emory.edu

¹ Department of Psychology, Emory University, 36 Eagle Row, Atlanta GA 30322

² Yerkes National Primate Research Center, 954 Gatewood Rd NE, Atlanta, GA 30329

³ Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, Emory University, 101 Woodruff Circle,

WMB suite 4000, Atlanta GA 30322

*Corresponding author Jessica Raper, Ph.D. Yerkes National Primate Research Center 954 Gatewood Rd NE Atlanta, GA 30329 Email address: jraper@emory.edu Phone: 404-727-8334

Abstract

Amygdala dysfunction and abnormal fear reactivity are common features of several developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. Yet, little is known about the exact role the amygdala plays in the development of normal fear detection and emotional modulation. The current study examined the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on defensive and emotional reactivity of infant rhesus monkeys reared with their mothers in large social groups. Monkeys received either bilateral MRI-guided ibotenic acid amvgdala (Neo-A; n = 16) or sham (Neo-C; n = 14) lesions at 24.8 ± 1.2 days of age. Defensive and emotional reactivity was assessed using the Human Intruder Paradigm during infancy and preadolescence (2.5 and 12 months of age, respectively). Neonatal amygdalectomy spared the ability to exhibit defensive and emotional behaviors, but did alter the modulation of these responses based on the presence and gaze direction of the human intruder. Interestingly, the sex of the infant modulated the behavioral effects of neonatal amygdalectomy, leading to different patterns of behavior depending on the sex and lesion status of the infant. These changes are also correlated with hormonal changes at this age, and share similarities with the characteristics of some neuropsychiatric disorders such as autism, schizophrenia, and anxiety disorders.

Key words: sex difference, amygdala, emotional, cortisol, testosterone

Introduction

Amygdala dysfunction results in abnormal fear reactivity or affective dysregulation that are common features of several developmental neuropsychiatric disorders, such as autism, William's Syndrome, schizophrenia, and mood disorders. Although the core symptoms of these disorders are similar in males and females, the prevalence and behavioral symptomatology varies in both sex. For example, the prevalence of autism, schizophrenia, and conduct disorder is higher in men, whereas anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder are more preponderant in females (Häfner, 2003; Zahn-Waxler, Shirtcliff, & Marceau, 2008; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). These differences in the clinical profile are consistent with gender differences in behavior of the normal population. For example, typically developing males exhibit more externalizing behaviors (e.g., hyperactivity, aggression, less behavioral inhibition), whereas females exhibit more internalizing behaviors (e.g., shyness, social withdrawal). Thus, children with neuropsychiatric disorders exhibit an exacerbated developmental pattern of these typical sex differences (Häfner, 2003; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). Although the specific neural mechanisms mediating the expression of these behavioral sex differences are still largely unknown, the amygdala has been thought to be a key structure given the sexual dimorphism reported in its size and androgen receptors (Pomerantz & Sholl, 1987; Micheal, Rees, Bonsall, 1989; Abdelgardir, et al., 1999). In a recent review Schumann and colleagues (2011) have proposed that people with neuropsychiatric disorders can be categorized according to two types of amygdala functioning: 1) those having a low threshold for detecting danger (e.g., amygdala hyperactivity), for whom typically benign environmental cues are being perceived as dangerous; and 2) those having a high threshold for detecting danger (e.g., amygdala hypoactivity), for whom a lack of appropriate danger appraisal from the environment results in increased risk

taking. Therefore, both hyper- and hypo- activity in the amygdala alter an individual's response to potentially threatening stimuli.

Given the clinical evidence reviewed above, it becomes important to investigate the specific role played by the amygdala in the development of normal fear detection and emotional modulation. To date, only a few studies have shown that early amygdala damage yields abnormal threat detection and leads to inappropriate reactivity to objects and social partners (Thompson, 1981; Prather, et al., 2001; Bliss-Moreau, et al., 2010; Raper, et al., 2012a). In one recent study using the Human Intruder paradigm to assess the modulation of emotional reactivity, surrogate peer-reared rhesus monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited pervasive alterations in defensive and emotional reactivity (Raper, et al., 2012a). This investigation showed that, although animals with neonatal amygdalectomies were capable of expressing the species-typical defensive behaviors (i.e., freezing or hostility), they lacked the ability to appropriately modulate those behaviors based on the level of threat posed by the human intruder. Therefore, in early infancy, the amygdala is essential to adequately assess the level of threat or danger and to adjust animals' behavioral responses accordingly. In addition, few animal studies have investigated sex differences in threat detection (Kalin, et al., 1998), and none have examined how sex may modulate the effects of early amygdala damage. Thus, the current study aimed to examine the effects of neonatal neurotoxic amygdala lesions on threat detection and modulation of defensive behaviors in both male and female rhesus monkeys. In addition, during the time of testing in infancy, male monkeys are undergoing the postnatal testosterone (T) surge (Robinson & Bridson, 1978; Mann, et al., 1989), thus we also assessed how this surge in gonadal hormones may impact sex-dimorphisms in emotional responses by measuring T levels in circulation.

Methods

Subjects

Thirty-one infant rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*) from middle-ranking multiparous mothers were used in this study. Mother-infant pairs lived in large social groups (38m x 39 m outdoor compunds) at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center (YNPRC) Field Station (Lawrenceville, GA), Emory University. Infants received neonatal neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala (Neo-A; males = 9, females = 7), and sham operations (Neo-C; males = 6, females = 6) at an average of 24.8 ± 1.2 days of age, or served as behavioral control (Neo-BC; males =2, females = 1). All neuroimaging and surgical procedures were performed at the YNPRC Main Station (Atlanta, GA). Following surgeries, their emotional reactivity to a Human Intruder was assessed during infancy and preadolescence. All procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University and carried out in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Procedures for neuroimaging, surgical, estimation of lesion extent, as well as reunions with the mother after surgery have previously been described in detail elsewhere (Raper, et al., 2012b submitted) and will be briefly summarized below.

Imaging and surgical procedures:

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Procedure: The day of surgery, infants were removed from their mother, sedated (Ketamine hydrochloride, 100mg/ml), intubated, anesthetized with isoflurane (1-2% to effect), their head was shaved, and secured in a nonferromagnetic stereotaxic apparatus. Infants received an intravenous drip of 0.45% dextrose and sodium chloride to maintain hydration and vital signs (heart rate, respirations, blood pressure, expired CO2) were

monitored throughout the procedures. Two MRI sequences were obtained using a Siemens 3.0T/90 cm whole body scanner and a 3" circular surface coil. First, a T1-weighted scan (spinecho sequence, echo time [TE] = 11ms, repetition time [TR] = 450ms, contiguous 1mm section, 12cm field of view [FOV], 256x256 matrix) was acquired in the coronal plane and used to determine the coordinates of injection sites in the amygdala. Additionally, three fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) scans (3D T2-weighted fast spoiled gradient [FSPGR]-echo sequence, TE = 2.6ms, TR = 10.2ms, 25 flip angle, 12 cm FOV, 256x256 matrix) were obtained in the coronal plane at 3.0 mm (each offset of 1 mm posteriorly) throughout the brain. These MR sequences were repeated for Neo-A animals 7-10 days after the surgical procedure, to accurately localize the areas of edema and estimate the extent of lesion.

Surgical Procedure: After imaging, the infants were kept anesthetized and brought to the surgical suite where they were prepared for aseptic surgical procedures. The scalp was disinfected with Nolvasan solution and a local anesthetic (Bupivicaine 0.25% concentration, 1.5ml) was injected subcutaneously along the midline to reduce the pain during skin incision. The skin and connective tissue were gently displaced laterally, two small bilateral craniotomies were made in front of bregma and above the amygdala, and the dura was cut and retracted to expose the brain.

Neo-A animals received injections of ibotenic acid (PH 7.8-7.9, 10 mg/ml concentration) in 6-8 sites within the center of the amygdala using 10µl Hamilton syringes. Needles were lowered simultaneously in both hemispheres and a total of 0.6-0.8 µl of ibotenic acid was manually injected at a rate of 0.2μ l/minute. After each injection, needles were left in place for a 3-minute period to minimize the spread of neurotoxin during needle retraction. At the completion of the injections, the dura was closed with silk sutures, the craniotomies were covered with Surgicel NU-KNIT (absorbable hemostat), and connective tissues and skin were closed. The animal was placed in a temperature controlled incubator ventilated with oxygen until fully recovered from anesthesia. All animals received banamine (1mg/kg for 3 days), dexamethasone (0.5mg/kg for 3 days) and antibiotic (rocephin, 25mg/kg for 7 days) after surgery to prevent pain, edema, and infection, respectively.

Neo-C animals received the same surgical procedures except no needle was lowered and no injections were given. Animals in the behavioral control group (Neo-BC) received separations from their mother, sedation (Ketamine hydrochloride, 100mg/ml), their head was shaved, scalp was disinfected with Nolvasan Solution, but no surgery was performed. They also received the same "post-surgical" medications.

Lesion Verificaiton: Estimation of the extent of intended and unintended damage for Neo-A animals was made using pre- and post-surgical MR images (Malkova, et al, 2001; Nemanic, et al, 2002). The T1 images were used to identify the borders of each structure and FLAIR images were used to identify extent of hypersignals, which were then plotted onto corresponding coronal drawings from a normalized infant rhesus monkey brain (J. Bachevalier, unpublished atlas) using Adobe Photoshop software. Image-J[®] (version 1.44) program was used to measure the surface area (in pixels squared) containing hypersignals in amygdala and surrounding structures (entorhinal and perirhinal cortex and hippocampus). The volume of the amygdala damage was then divided by the normal volume of the amygdala (obtained from the template brain in the same manner) and multiplied by 100 to estimate a percentage of the total damage volume. The same procedure was applies to estimate potential damage to structures adjacent to the amygdala.

Lesion Extent

An average of 81.3% damage across both hemispheres was obtained, but varied from case to case. Twelve cases received substantial damage to the amygdala in both hemispheres (right: M = 84.82%; left: M = 92.80%). Three cases received only moderate bilateral damage (Neo-A-F5: right: 61.6%, left: 58.4%) or more asymmetrical amygdala damage (Neo-A-F3: right 100%, left 32.2%; Neo-A-M4: right 50.5%, left 84.9%). One case (Neo-A-F1), the damage was restricted to the right hemisphere (right 82.3%, left 0%). The extent of unintended damage to the perirhinal and entorhinal cortices, anterior portion of the hippocampus, and tail of the putamen were negligible in 13 cases. In two cases, there was moderate damage to the entorhinal cortex in the right hemisphere (Neo-A-F1: 18.3%; Neo-A-F3: 21.8%). Moderate damage to the tail of the putamen was seen in two cases (Neo-A-F5 and Neo-A-F6). Figure 1 illustrates the extent of bilateral amygdala damage in a representative case (Neo-A-M5) as shown by the location and extent of hypersignals seen in the post-surgical FLAIR images.

Human Intruder Paradigm

Thirty subjects were tested as infants at 81 ± 10 days of age and given their dependence on their mother at this early age, all mother-infant pairs were trained for quick capture from the social group (see Raper, et al., 2012b) and, then the infants were separated from their mother for behavioral testing. All subjects were re-tested again at 12 months of age, except 4 subjects that were not tested due to illness unrelated to their experimental procedures. Thus, only 26 subjects were tested as juveniles. Juvenile monkeys were independently trained to quickly separate from their social group without their mothers.

For behavioral testing, at both ages, animals were transported to a novel testing room,

and transferred to a stainless steel cage in which one side wall was made of clear lexan plastic to allow video recording. The Human Intruder paradigm lasted 30 minutes and consisted of three conditions (Alone, Profile [No Eye Contact in other publications], Stare) presented in the same order for all animals. Thus, the animal first remained alone in the cage for 9 minutes (Alone condition), then the intruder (experimenter wearing a rubber mask) entered the room, and sat two meters from the test cage for 9 minutes while presenting his/her profile to the animal (Profile condition). After the Profile, the intruder left the room and the animal remained in the cage alone for a 3-minute period, after which the intruder re-entered the room and made direct eye contact with the animal for 9 minutes (Stare condition). In infancy, an additional condition was added to the end of the Stare condition: the Novel Fruit test. Once the Stare condition was completed, the intruder approached the test cage and placed a slice of novel fruit (kiwi) on a foraging board attached to the outside of the test cage. The intruder then left the room, giving the infant 5 minutes alone to explore and eat the kiwi. Immediately following the test, monkeys were reunited with their mother and/or social group.

Animals' emotional reactivity during the Human Intruder paradigm was video recorded and later coded using a detailed ethogram (described in Table 2). Digital videos were coded using the Observer XT program (Noldus, Inc., Netherlands) by one experimenter (JR with an average intra-rater reliability of Cohens Kappa = 0.98; and an average intra-rater reliability of Cohen's Kappa = 0.845 with other trained experimenters who coded samples of the videos).

Hormone assessment

At both ages, blood samples were collected on all animals, immediately after being removed from their social group and prior to testing, to assess basal hormonal levels. As described above, animals were trained for quick capture from the social group and blood samples were collected within 10 minutes of initial disturbance, when the experimenters first enter the social group (see Sanchez, et al., 2010; Raper, et al., 2012a). All blood samples were collected in pre-chilled plastic 2 ml vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (3.6mg) and immediately placed on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 minutes in a refrigerated centrifuge (at 4°C). Plasma was pipetted into sterile eppendorfs and stored at -80°C until assayed.

Testosterone assay was performed by the YNPRC Biomarker Core Laboratory (Atlanta, GA). Plasma testosterone levels were also assayed in duplicate by R.I.A using commercially available kits (DSL kit: Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Webster, TX). The sensitivity of the DSL assay was 0.05ng/ml and intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <7%.

Data Analysis

At each age, preliminary analyses were first performed to compare the two groups of control animals (i.e., behavioral control group [Neo-BC] and the sham-operated group [Neo-C]). Repeated measures ANOVA (Group X Condition) revealed no significant main effects or interactions. Therefore, data from the Neo-BC group was combined with those of the animals in the Neo-C group to create a single control group (Neo-C) for all subsequent analyses. There were 14 Neo-C animals (males = 7; females = 7) and 16 Neo-A animals (males = 9; females = 7) tested as infants and 13 Neo-C animals (males = 6; females = 7) and 13 Neo-A animals (males = 7; females = 6) tested as juveniles.

Prior to analysis, the behavioral data were transformed using a natural log plus constant to obtain normal distribution. The impact of early amygdala damage on the expression of defensive and emotional behaviors toward the Human Intruder was examined separately at each age using a Repeated Measures ANOVAs with Group (Neo-C, Neo-A) and Sex as between subjects factors, and Condition (Alone, Profile, Stare) as the within subjects factor. Interactions were examined with post-hoc one-way ANOVAs.

Finally, we investigated potential relationships between basal testosterone levels and behavior during the Human Intruder paradigm at each age. Partial correlations were performed for testosterone levels and behavior correcting for the amount of time it took to collect the blood sample. The relationship between the extent of amygdala damage and behavior during the Human Intruder paradigm was also examined using Pearson correlations. Significance level was set at p < 0.05 for all statistical analyses.

Results

Neonatal amygdala lesions and emotional reactivity in infancy:

Normally developing infant rhesus monkeys modulated their behavioral responses depending on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder, whereas neonatal amygdalectomized monkeys did not (see Table 3). As compared to conditions when the intruder was present (Figure 2), infant monkeys of both groups exhibited significantly greater coo vocalizations during the Alone condition (Condition: F[2,52]=4.3, p=0.019, η^2 =0.14). However, Neo-A infants emitted more coos throughout all conditions compared to Neo-C infants (Group: F[1,26]=3.9, p=0.05, η^2 =0.13). Again, as compared to the conditions in which the intruder was present, during the Alone condition, Neo-C infants engaged in more cage exploration than Neo-A animals (Group X Condition: F[2,52]=3.9, p=0.03, η^2 =0.13; see Figure 2). Additionally, females of both groups explored the cage more compared to males (Sex: F[1,26]=5.1, p=0.032, η^2 =0.17; Figure 2).

When the intruder presented his/her profile, both groups displayed an increase in freezing behavior (Condition: F[2,52]=35.8, p<0.001, n²=0.58) and there were no differences between groups (see Table 3). However, the pattern of fearful defensive behaviors varied according to the infants' group, sex, and the condition (Group X Sex X Condition: F[2,52]=3.4, p=0.04, η^2 =0.12; see Figure 2). Neo-C males exhibited a linear decline from Alone to Profile to Stare condition, but Neo-C females had more fearful defensive behaviors during the Profile condition than in the other conditions (see Figure 2). Thus, Neo-C animals displayed a clear modulation of fearful defensive behaviors across conditions, but this modulation was not seen in Neo-A animals. Unlike Neo-C males, Neo-A males exhibited an exaggerated pattern of fearful defensive behaviors and expressed significantly more fearful defensive behaviors during the Profile and Stare conditions (F[1,15]=5.98, p=0.028, η^2 =0.30; F[1,15]=8.15, p=0.013, η^2 =0.37, respectively). Similarly, unlike Neo-C females, Neo-A females expressed more fearful defensive behaviors during the Alone and a trend in the Stare conditions (F[1,13]=5.07, p=0.044, η^2 =0.30; F[1,13]=4.10, p=0.06, $\eta^2=0.25$, respectively). Taken together, these data suggest that neonatal amygdala lesions altered the ability to modulate fearful defensive behaviors based on the presence or gaze direction of the intruder.

The most salient threat is provided when the intruder stares directly at the monkey, as a result both groups exhibited an increase in hostility (Condition: F[2,52]=23.4, p<0.001, $\eta^2=0.47$) and did not differ from each other (see Table 3). In contrast, the amount of scream vocalizations emitted by infants varied depending on their group, sex, and condition (Group X Sex X Condition interaction: F[2,52]=528, p=0.009, $\eta^2=0.17$). As illustrated in Figure 2, Neo-C males and females emitted more screams during the Stare condition as compared to the other conditions, but this pattern was seen in the Neo-A males but not in Neo-A females. Unlike Neo-

C females, Neo-A females emitted significantly more screams during the Alone condition $(F[1,13]=6.47, p=0.026, \eta^2=0.35; \text{ see Figure 2}).$

Infant monkeys of both groups expressed more anxious behaviors, tooth grinding, and vawning during the Stare condition (Condition: F[2,52]=84.7, p<0.001, $\eta^2=0.77$; F[2,52]=106, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.80$; F[2,52]=15.5, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.37$, respectively). Interestingly, the expression of anxious and tooth grinding behaviors differed depending on the infants' sex and group (Group X Sex interaction: F[1,26]=5.0, p=0.034, $\eta^2=0.16$; F[1,26]=4.2, p=0.05, $\eta^2=0.14$), such that Neo-C males exhibited more anxiety and tooth grinding compared to Neo-A animals or Neo-C females (see Figure 2). There was also a significant increase in yawning during the Stare condition that differed according to the sex of the animals (Sex: F[1,26]=4.1, p=0.05, $\eta^2=0.14$), such that males expressed more yawns than females in both groups (see Table 3). Lastly, selfsoothing (e.g., self-grooming) behaviors increased as the salience of the threat increased (Condition: F[2,52]=9.01, p<0.001, η^2 =0.26). Again, these behaviors tended to differ according to the sex of the infant (Sex X Condition: F[2,52]=2.88, p=0.06, $\eta^2=0.10$). Females from both groups exhibited more self-soothing behaviors during the Stare condition (F[1,13]=6.04, p=0.03, η^2 =0.34; Table 3). No significant differences were found between groups for affiliative or stereotypic behaviors.

The Novel Fruit test examines the infants' reactivity (approach or avoidance) toward an ecologically relevant nonsocial stimulus that has a reward value. Analysis of the Novel Fruit test revealed that Neo-A animals touched the fruit as rapidly as Neo-C animals (Group: F[1,30] = 0.53, p = 0.47, $\eta^2 = 0.02$), although Neo-A males tended to spend slightly less time manipulating the fruit (Group X Sex: F[1,30] = 4.09, p = 0.054, $\eta^2 = 0.14$; see Figure 3). Although none of the infant monkeys ate all of the novel fruit, the amount of time spent eating the fruit differed
between males and females of both groups (Group X Sex: F[1,30] = 6.98, p = 0.014, $\eta^2 = 0.21$; Figure 3), such that Neo-A males spent significantly less time eating the fruit compared to Neo-C animals and Neo-A females.

Neonatal amygdala lesions effects on emotional reactivity during preadolescence:

At twelve months of age, normally developing juvenile monkeys continued to modulate their behavioral responses depending on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder, whereas juveniles with neonatal amygdala lesions again showed impairments in modulating their behavior (see Figure 4). Unlike infancy, during this preadolescent stage of development, there were fewer sex differences in the production of emotional response in the two groups (Table 3).

First, both groups exhibited more cage exploration and cooing during the Alone condition compared to conditions when the intruder was present (Condition: F[2,44]=6.86, p=0.003, η^2 =0.24; F[2,44]=5.87, p=0.006, η^2 =0.21, respectively). Although the groups did not differ in the amount of cage exploration (Table 3), Neo-A animals continue to express more coos throughout all conditions compared to controls (Group: F[1,22]=4.43, p=0.047, η^2 =0.17; see Figure 4). Preadolescent monkeys of both groups also exhibited more stereotypies (e.g. pacing; Condition: F[2,44]=6.75, p=0.003, η^2 =0.24; Table 3).

Interestingly, at this preadolescent period, the impact of neonatal amygdala lesions became more apparent in condition when the intruder presented his/her profile. Thus, as compared to infancy during which both groups exhibited the same amount of freezing, in preadolescence Neo-A animals now exhibited significantly less freezing as compared to Neo-C animals (Group X Condition: F[2,44]=4.51, p=0.017, η^2 =0.17; see Figure 4). Additionally, both groups exhibited an increase in fearful defensive behaviors depending on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder (Condition: F[2,44]=16.11, p<0.001, η^2 =0.42; see Figure 4). However, whereas Neo-C juveniles exhibited more fearful defensive behaviors in the Profile as compared to the other two conditions (Alone vs Profile: F[1,11]=15.09, p=0.003, η^2 =0.58; Profile vs Stare: F[1,11]=18.44, p=0.001, η^2 =0.63), Neo-A juveniles did not modulate their fearful defensive behaviors, exhibiting similar levels of fearful defensive behaviors between the Alone and Profile conditions (Alone vs Profile: F[1,11]=3.84, p=0.076, η^2 =0.25; Profile vs Stare: F[1,11]=7.06, p=0.022, η^2 =0.39). Thus, damage to the amygdala early in life has impacted anti-predator detection behaviors during preadolescence.

During the Stare condition, juvenile monkeys of both groups exhibited an increase in hostility, although the magnitude of this behavioral modulation was greater in Neo-C animals than in Neo-A animals (Group X Condition interaction: F[2,44]=4.83, p=0.013, η^2 =0.18; see Figure 4). Additionally, both groups expressed more scream vocalizations, yawning, and anxiety during the Stare condition as compared to the other conditions (Condition: F[2,44]=8.14, p=0.001, η^2 =0.27; F[2,44]=15.3, p<0.001, η^2 =0.41; F[2,44]=34.7, p<0.001, η^2 =0.61, respectively; Table 3). The sex difference in yawning found in infancy was no longer present during preadolescence (see Table 3). However, Neo-A animals expressed significantly less tooth grinding, a specific type of anxious behavior as compared to Neo-C animals (Group: F[1,22]=8.14, p=0.009, η^2 =0.27; see Figure 4).

Interestingly, the pattern of affiliative behaviors varied depending on the juveniles' group, sex, and condition (Group X Sex X Condition interaction: F[2,44]=4.29, p=0.02, η^2 =0.16). Neo-C males exhibited more affiliative behaviors during the Alone condition compared to the other conditions, but Neo-C females expressed more affiliative behaviors during the Stare than in the other conditions (see Figure 4). Neo-A males, unlike Neo-C males,

expressed more affilitative behaviors during the Stare condition (F[1,12]=4.0, p=0.05, η^2 =0.27), whereas Neo-A females, unlike Neo-C females, exhibited a trend toward more affiliative behaviors in the Alone condition (F[1,12]=3.8, p=0.07, η^2 =0.24). Similar to infancy, juvenile monkeys' exhibited increased self-soothing behaviors during the Stare condition compared to the other conditions (Condition: F[2,44]=3.22, p=0.05, η^2 =0.13), and females of both groups exhibit more self-soothing compared to the males (Sex: F[1,22]=9.18, p=0.006, η^2 =0.29; see Figure 4). Again, as in infancy, this sex difference in self-soothing was present in juvenile monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions as well.

Correlations between Behavior and Testosterone and extent of amygdala damage:

Relationship between testosterone levels and total amount of yawning were examined using partial correlations to control for the "amount of time to collect the blood sample." There was a moderate positive relationship (pr[22] = 0.37, p = 0.038; see Figure 5) between yawning and testosterone levels in infancy, but this relationship disappeared by preadolescence (pr[22] =0.07, p = 0.37; Figure 5), at a time when the postnatal testosterone surge had subsided and sex differences in yawning had disappeared. Thus, during infancy, sex differences in yawning appeared to be linked to circulating testosterone levels. Lastly, examination of potential correlations between the extent of amygdala damage and any of the behaviors examined revealed no significant relationships either during infancy or preadolescence.

Discussion

This study examined the effects of early amygdala damage on emotional reactivity across infancy and pre-adolescence. There were four main findings. First, the data confirmed previous

findings that neonatal amygdala lesions did not impair the expression of emotional or defensive behaviors; rather, these early lesions did impact the modulation of these behaviors depending on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder (Raper, et al., 2012a). They also extended the earlier findings by showing that the effects of the neonatal amygdala lesions on emotional reactivity became more pronounced as the animals matured. Second, unlike previous studies (Kalin, et al., 1998), the data also demonstrated the presence of sex differences in the expression and modulation of emotional reactivity, which were more clear-cut in infancy than in preadolescence. These results indicate intriguing influences of gonadal hormones on expression and modulation of behavior as exemplified by the influence of the postnatal testosterone surge on behavioral sex differenced in yawning during infancy. Together, these results suggest that the amygdala plays a critical role in the expression of sexually-dimorphic emotional responses during primate early development.

Amygdala and Modulation of Fear Reactivity

As shown in previous studies (Kalin, et al., 1989, 1991; Raper, et al., 2012a submitted), infant rhesus monkeys modulated their defensive and emotional behaviors depending on the gaze direction and magnitude of the threat provided by the human intruder in the first few months after birth. Importantly, early damage to the amygdala did not disrupt the development of species typical behaviors. During infancy, both sham-operated controls and animals with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited more freezing during the Profile condition and more hostility during the Stare condition. However, when reaching preadolescence, the impact of early amygdala damage became more apparent as indicated by a reduction in the production of these behaviors in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions as compared to controls. The current results are directly in line with those of a recent study indicating that neonatal amygdala lesions yielded no changes in freezing at 4.5 months of age, but decreased freezing in adulthood (Raper, et al., 2012a). This pattern of findings demonstrates that the effects of neonatal amygdalectomy become more apparent with development. There are numerous neural developmental changes occurring between infancy through adolescence. Amygdala volume significantly increased in normal rhesus monkeys from 1 week to 2 years of age (86.49% in males and 72.94% in females; Payne, et al., 2010) and this volume increases are reflected by important cytoarchitectonic changes within the different amygdala nuclei (Chareyron, et al., 2012). There are also developmental changes in the neural pathways involved in the coordination of the reactive stress response (Lidow, et al., 1991; Andersen, 2003). Glucocorticoid receptors increase from infancy to adolescence (Perlman, et al., 2007), whereas neurotransmitter receptor density steadily declines and tapers off at puberty (Lidow, et al., 1991). In addition, the impact of the amygdala on emotional reactivity also involves interactions of the amygdala with other neural systems, such as the orbital and ventromedial prefrontal cortex, which are known to have a more protracted development than the amygdala (Machado & Bachevalier, 2004). Therefore, the protracted effects of amygdala damage on emotional reactivity may have resulted from an impact of the amygdala damage on the normal development of other structures and pathways involved in assessing threat level and coordinating an appropriate behavioral and neuroendocrine response.

Although neonatal amygdala lesions did not disrupt the development of species typical defensive and emotional behaviors, it did impair the animals' ability to modulate the expression of those behaviors. As infants and as juveniles, monkeys with early amygdala damage expressed more coo vocalizations throughout the test and exhibited less cage exploration during the Alone

condition in infancy but not in preadolescence. The alterations in cooing and cage exploration are in line with the role of the amygdala in detecting environmental danger and adapting an appropriate behavioral strategy according to the salience of that threat (Davis & Whalen, 2001). The willingness to emit coo vocalizations regardless of the presence or gaze direction of the intruder suggests that amygdalectomized animals could not discern the difference in threat level between conditions and thus could not modulate their vocalizations accordingly.

Sex-dependent Role of the Amygdala in Emotional Reactivity:

For some emotional responses, the effects of the amygdala lesions varied according to the sex of the animal, indicating an important role of the amygdala in the expression of sexuallydimorphic behaviors. In the case of fearful defensive and scream vocalizations, infant females with neonatal amygdalectomy showed a different pattern compared to sham-operated females, exhibiting more of those behaviors in the Alone condition. Given that the typical sex difference in normal monkeys is for female rhesus monkeys to exhibit more fear grimaces and hostility toward social stimuli (Mason, et al., 1960), the pattern seen in Neo-A females reflects an exaggeration of the normal sex difference. Similarly, neonatal amygdalectomized infant males and control males expressed the same linearly increasing pattern of fearful defensive behaviors across conditions, but Neo-A males exhibited an exaggeration of this behavior pattern. For some other behaviors, such as anxious behaviors and tooth grinding, the typical sex difference was eliminated by early amygdala damage. Normally developing male infant monkeys exhibited increased anxious behaviors and tooth grinding compared to females, neonatal amygdalectomy eliminated this sex difference in infancy.

Neonatal amygdalectomy did not abolish all sex differences, as shown by the presence of

overall sex differences in yawning during infancy and self-soothing behaviors during preadolescence. This is the first report of a sex difference in yawning behavior during infancy. Previous studies have shown that the sex difference in vawning emerges after puberty (Hadidian, 1980; Troisi, et al., 1990) and is influenced by testosterone level in old world monkey (Phoenix, et al., 1973; Graves & Wallen, 2005). This sex difference occurred during a developmental stage when males are experiencing the postnatal testosterone surge, a period when gonadal hormones are temporarily active in male infants only (Forest, et al., 1974, 1979; Robinson & Bridson, 1978; Mann, et al., 1989). Thus, the increased yawning in males was positively related with testosterone levels in males, suggesting that this behavioral sex difference is present at birth and under the activational influence of circulating testosterone levels. Support for this hypothesis was further provided by in the absence of sex difference in yawning during preadolescence, at a time when the postnatal testosterone surge has ended and both sexes are in a period of gonadal quiescence prior to puberty. Finally, the fact that early amygdala damage did not impact the sex difference in yawning during infancy suggests that the amygdala is not involved in all sexually dimorphic behavioral expressions.

Another example of a lack of sex-dependent role of the amygdala is provided with selfsoothing behaviors during infancy and preadolescence. Juvenile rhesus females exhibited significantly more grooming with partners in their social group (Hassett, et al., 2010), thus the increased self-soothing (e.g. self-grooming) was expected. Interestingly, early damage to the amygdala did not disrupt this typical sex difference in juvenile rhesus monkey females. Nevertheless, additional sex differences in behavior may emerge after puberty among these animals; therefore continued monitoring of these animals will shed light on the long-term effects of early amygdala damage and its potential to impact normal development of sexually dimorphic behaviors.

Amygdala and Reactivity to Novelty:

The Novel Fruit test examined the infants' reactivity (approach or avoidance) toward a nonsocial stimulus with a reward value. Although groups did not differ in their latency to first approach the kiwi, neonatal amygdala lesion males spent less time manipulating and eating the kiwi. Since neonatal amygdala lesion males approached the kiwi at the same rate compared to other groups, it seems unlikely that their decreased manipulation and eating is caused by inattention, lack of interest, or increased avoidance of novelty. Alternatively, neonatal amygdalectomized males decreased eating may be due to an alteration in food preference, which has been found in previous studies of amygdala lesions (Machado, et al., 2010). Future studies should systematically examine food preferences.

Amygdala and Neuropsychiatric Disorders in Humans:

In summary, the present findings inform our understanding on the role of the amygdala on the development of the expression and regulation of emotion. Early amygdala damage leads to an inability to modulate behavioral responses based on the level of threat presented by the human intruder. Furthermore, the amygdala plays a critical role in the expression of sexuallydimorphic emotional response during primate early development. These sex-dependent alterations in defensive and emotional reactivity after neonatal amygdala lesions bare some similarities with sex-dependent symptomatology of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders.

Developmental neuropsychiatric disorders, such as autism, schizophrenia, Williams

Syndrome, and mood disorders, share common characteristics of amygdala dysfunction, alterations in fear reactivity, and sex differences in prevalence and behavioral profile (Häfner, 2003; Zahn-Waxler, et al., 2008; Rinehart, et al., 2011; Schumann, et al., 2011). There is growing evidence of aberrant amygdala and brain development in children with neuropsychiatric disorders (see review Schumann, et al., 2011). Previous studies have focused on overall amygdala volume among patients with autism or schizophrenia; however, more recent studies point to an abnormal growth trajectory instead of overall volume changes. For example, among patients with either autism or schizophrenia, the amygdala volume is enlarged early in development compared to typically developing children, whereas examination of older patients (adolescents or adults) reveals smaller amygdala volumes (Aylward, et al., 1999; Pierce, et al., 2001; Sparks, et al., 2002; Schumann, et al., 2004, 2009, 2011; Nacewicz, et al., 2006; Mosconi, et al., 2009). This abnormal brain development has been associated with many of the behavioral characteristics of autism, such as gaze avoidance, unusual affect, anxiety, and impaired social behavior (Nacewicz, et al., 2006; Schumann, et al., 2009). Results from the current developmental primate study may shed light on how disruption of normal amygdala function can directly impact emotional behavior in infancy and can manifest through development.

The results provide three examples of impaired emotionality that could related to some of the symptomatology characterizing neuropsychiatric disorders. First, we found that neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited impaired threat appraisal and reduced avoidance of threatening stimuli (less hostility and freezing). Similar inappropriate appraisal of threat level in stimuli and reduced avoidance is generally found in individuals with Williams Syndrome who exhibit hypersociality, increased approach, and reduced amygdala activation to social threatening stimuli, together with increased anxiety (Einfeld, et al., 1997), although amygdala activation in these individuals was found for non-social threatening stimuli (Meyer-Lindenberg, et al., 2005).

Second, we also found that neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited an exaggerated pattern of the typical sex differences in fearful defensive behaviors. Similarly, although the core symptoms of neuropsychiatric disorders are similar between the sexes, the behavioral profile differs between males and females in a way that is consistent with gender-related differences in the normal population (Häfner, 2003; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011).

Finally, during the Novel Fruit test, neonatal amygdala-lesioned males spent less time manipulating and eating the fruit compared to the other animals. This avoidance or withdrawal from exploring novel foods or objects has consistently been reported in autistic children who also exhibit decreased approach of novel toys as compared to typically developing and developmentally delayed children (Brock, et al., 2012), and are frequently reported to be picky eaters, mouth nonfood items, and resist new foods (Provost, et al., 2010). Overall, neonatal amygdala lesions in rhesus monkeys appear to model some of the aspects of neuropsychiatric disorders and continued examination of these animals may give valuable insight into the mechanisms underlying the behavioral profiles of these developmental disorders.

Acknowledgements

Authors are grateful to Amy Henry, Christen Merte, Patrick McFarland, Cassie Lyons, Sara Dicker, Trina Villarreal, Rebecca Roberts, M.A., and Shannon Stephens, M.A., for their invaluable assistance running the Human Intruder Paradigm, animal handling, mother-infant reunions, and reintroductions to the social group. We also thank all members of the Bachevalier Laboratory who have helped with the neuroimaging and surgical procedures on the infant monkeys. This research was supported by the National Institute for Mental Health (MH050268). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official view of the NIMH, or the National Institutes of Health. The studies were also supported by the Center for Behavioral Neuroscience (NSF IBN 9876754), and Integrated Training in Psychobiology and Psychopathology Fellowship (NIMH T32 MH732505), as well as by the National Center for Research Resources to the Yerkes National Research Center (P51 RR00165; YNRC Base grant) which is currently supported by the Office of Research Infrastructure Programs/OD P510D11132. The YNPRC is fully accredited by the American for the Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Care, International.

Figure captions

Figure 1. Two coronal MR images through the amygdala: T1-weighted images in one shamoperated control (Neo-C-1) and Fluid Attenuated Inversion Reversal (FLAIR) images in a representative case with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A-M5). The numerals to the left of each coronal section indicate the distance in millimeters from the interaural plane. Black arrows point to the hypersignal resulting from the cell death from neurotoxic injections.

Figure 2. Average Coo vocalizations, Freezing, Hostile, Cage Exploration, Fearful defensive, Tooth Grinding, and Scream vocalizations during the Alone (A), Profile (P), and Stare (S) conditions of the Human Intruder paradigm for animals with sham operations (Neo-C, open bars) and animals with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A, black bars). * indicates a significant difference from same sex controls (p < 0.05). \ddagger indicates a trend toward a difference from same sex controls (p < 0.06). \$ indicates a significant sex difference.

Figure 3. Animals' investigation of the novel fruit (kiwi), average Latency, Manipulation, and Eating behaviors. All other abbreviations as in Figure 2.

Figure 4. Average Coo vocalizations, Freezing, Hostile, Affiliative, Tooth Grinding, and Selfsoothing behaviors during the three conditions of the Human Intruder paradigm.

Figure 5. Correlation between Testosterone and Total Yawning expressed across all three conditions for all animals. Sham operated controls (Neo-C) are represented by squares (males =

open squares, females = grey squares), neonatal amgydala lesion animals (Neo-A) are

represented by circles (males = black circles, females = grey circles).



Figure 1. Representative case of a neonatal amygdala lesion.



Figure 2. Behavioral responses during the Human Intruder paradigm in Infancy



Figure 3. Behavioral responses toward the Novel Fruit Test



Figure 4. Behavioral responses during the Human Intruder paradigm in Preadolescence



Figure 5. Correlations between testosterone levels and yawning

Male	Amygdala Damage		nage	Female	Amygdala Damage		age		
Subjects	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%	Subjects	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%
Neo-A-M1	100	80.6	90.3	80.6	Neo-A-F1	82.3	0.0	41.2	0.0
Neo-A-M2	66.8	89.1	77.9	59.5	Neo-A-F2	65.7	98.7	82.2	64.8
Neo-A-M3	70.3	90.8	80.6	63.9	Neo-A-F3	100	32.2	66.1	32.2
Neo-A-M4	50.5	84.9	67.7	42.8	Neo-A-F4	90.9	89.3	90.1	81.1
Neo-A-M5	95.9	97.1	96.5	93.1	Neo-A-F5	61.6	58.4	60.0	36.0
Neo-A-M6	77.3	92.3	84.8	71.3	Neo-A-F6	100	97.7	98.8	97.7
Neo-A-M7	90.9	98.9	94.9	90.0	Neo-A-F7	98.3	99.0	98.6	97.3
Neo-A-M8	100	87.0	93.5	87.0					
Neo-A-M9	61.8	93.2	77.5	57.6					
Mean	79.3	90.4	84.9	71.8	Mean	85.5	67.9	76.7	58.4

Table 1. Extent of damage after neurotoxic amygdala lesions

L%: percent damage in the left hemisphere; R%: percent damage in the right hemisphere; X%: average damage to both hemispheres; W%: weighted average damage to both hemispheres (W%=(L%×R%)/100). Neo-A-F: female amygdala lesion subject, Neo-A-M: male amygdala lesion subject.

Category and specific behavior	Measurement	Brief Definition
Fearful Defensive Behaviors Freeze	Cumulative Frequency frequency ^a	Rigid, tense, motionless posture except slight head
Crouch Withdrawal	frequency ^a	Whole body or just front limbs bent with head near floor Ouick, jerky motion away from intruder (jump back)
Fear Grimace	frequency	Refracted lips, exposed clenched teeth (exaggerated grin)
Hostile Defensive Behaviors	Cumulative Frequency	
Threat Bark Vocalization	frequency	Low pitch, high intensity, rasping, guttural
Threat (facial expression)	frequency	Any of the following: open mouth (no teeth exposed), head-bobbing, or ear flapping
Cage Aggression	frequency	Vigorously slaps, shakes or slams body against cage
Lunge	frequency	A quick, jerky movement toward the intruder
Anxious Behaviors	Cumulative Frequency	
Scratch	frequency	Rapid scratching of body with hands or feet
Body Shake	frequency	Whole body or just head and shoulder region shakes
Tooth Grind	frequency ^a	Repetitive, audible rubbing of upper & lower teeth
Yawn	frequency	Open mouth widely, exposing teeth
Stereotypies	Cumulative Duration	
Pacing	duration	Repetitive motor pattern around the test cage
Motor stereotypy	duration	Repetitive, abnormal voluntary or involuntary motor patterns (swinging, twirling, floating limb)
Self-directed	duration	Sucking thumb, eye poke, self-bite
Affiliative Behaviors	Cumulative Frequency	
Coo Vocalization	frequency	Clear soft, moderate in pitch and intensity, usually "oooooh" sounding
Grunt Vocalization	frequency	Deep, muffled, low intensity, almost gurgling sound
Lipsmack	frequency	Rapid movement of pursed lips, accompanied by a smacking sound
Present	frequency	Rigid posture (knees locked) with tail elevated and rump oriented toward intruder
Scream Vocalization	Frequency	High pitch, high intensity screech or loud chirp
Cage Explore	Duration	Calm and inquisitive inspections of cage either by tactile, oral, or visual means
Self-Sooth	Cumulative Duration	
Self-grooming	Duration	Use of hands or mouth to smooth or pick through fur
Self-clasping	Duration	Non-manipulatory enclosing or holding of a limb or body part with arms

Table 2. Behavioral ethogram

List of all behaviors scored, how they are measured and a brief definitions. a Behavior for which total duration was also measured

Behavior	Infancy	Preadolescence
Fearful defensive		
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.58$, p=0.08, n ² =.09	$F_{(2,44)}=16.11$, p<0.001, n ² =.42
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=10.61$, p=0.003, p ² =.29	$F_{(1,22)}=2.05, p=0.16, n^2=.09$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)} = 0.27 \text{ p} = 0.61 \text{ m}^2 = 0.1$	$F_{(1,22)}=2.72$ p=0.11 p ² =11
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)} = 0.14$ p=0.71 p ² =0.06	$F_{(1,22)}=0.23$ p=0.64 p ² =01
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.66$ p=0.52 p ² = 02	$F_{(2,44)}=0.64$ p=0.53 p ² =03
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)} = 4.88 \text{ p} = 0.011 \text{ m}^2 = 16$	$F_{(2,44)} = 0.89 \text{p} = 0.41 \text{m}^2 = $
Condition X Group X Sex	$F_{(2,52)}=3.4, p=0.04, \eta^2=.12$	$F_{(2,44)}=1.53, p=0.23, \eta^2=.06$
Freezing	(2,52)	(2,11)
Condition:	$E_{(2,52)}=35.8 \text{ n} \le 0.001 \text{ n}^2=58$	$F_{(2,44)}=32.39 \text{ p} \le 0.001 \text{ m}^2=59$
Group:	F(2,52)=55.6, p=0.84, p=0.001, q=0.002	F(2,44) = 32.59, $p = 0.001$, $q = 1.59$
Sav:	$F(1,26)=0.03, p=0.85, n^2=0.01$	$\Gamma(1,22)=2.04, p=0.12, q=11$
Sex.	$F_{(1,26)}=0.05, p=0.85, n=0.01$	$F_{(1,22)} = 1.99, p = 0.17, \eta =08$
Goodition V Crown	$F_{(1,26)}=0.37, p=0.35, q=-0.01$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.01, p=0.92, \eta=001$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.29, p=0.75, \eta^2=.011$	$F_{(2,44)}=4.51, p=0.017, \eta^2=.17$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.02, p=0.97, \eta^2=.001$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.4$ /, p=0.62, $\eta^2=.02$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.02, p=0.98, \eta^2=.001$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.05, p=0.95, \eta^2=.002$
Hostile defensive	2	2
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=23.4, p<0.001, \eta^2=.47$	$F_{(2,44)}=26.39, p<0.001, \eta^2=.55$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.75$, p=0.39, $\eta^2=.03$	$F_{(1,22)}=3.79$, p=0.06, $\eta^2=.15$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.02$, p=0.90, $\eta^2=.001$	$F_{(1,22)}=1.92, p=0.18, \eta^2=.08$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.69$, p=0.42, $\eta^2=.03$	$F_{(1,22)}=1.09, p=0.31, \eta^2=.05$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.84$, p=0.44, $\eta^2=.03$	$F_{(2,44)}=4.83$, p=0.013, $\eta^2=.18$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.23$, p=0.30, $\eta^2=.05$	$F_{(2,44)}=1.89, p=0.16, \eta^2=.08$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.38$, p=0.69, $\eta^2=.01$	$F_{(2,44)}=2.57, p=0.09, \eta^2=.10$
Scream		
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=24.62, p<0.001, \eta^2=.49$	$F_{(2,44)}=8.14$, p=0.001, $\eta^2=.27$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=2.15$, p=0.15, $\eta^2=.08$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.01, p=0.93, \eta^2=.001$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.01$, p=0.92, $\eta^2=.001$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.01, p=0.94, \eta^2=.001$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.39$, p=0.54, n ² =.01	$F_{(1,22)}=0.08, p=0.78, n^2=.004$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.43$, p=0.09, p ² =.08	$F_{(2,44)}=1.14, p=0.33, n^2=.05$
Condition X Sex:	F(2,52) = 0.214, p=0.81, p ² =.008	$F_{(2,44)}=0.25, p=0.78, p^2=.01$
Condition X Group X Sex	$F_{(2,52)}=5.2, p=0.009, p^2=.17$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.95, p=0.39, n^2=.04$
Stereotyny	- (2,52) ····, P ·····, T ····	(2,44) 5557, P 5657, 4
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.67$ p=0.08 p ² =09	$F_{(2,44)}=6.75 \text{ p}=0.003 \text{ p}^2=24$
Group:	F(2,52)=2.07, p=0.00, q=09	F(2,44)=0.75, p=0.005, q=24
Sev.	F(1,26)=0.57, p=0.55, q=0.01	$F(1,22)=0.13$ p=0.27, $\eta^2=.006$
Group V Sav:	$\Gamma(1,26)=0.45, p=0.31, q=02$	$\Gamma(1,22)=0.13, p=0.72, q=000$ $\Gamma(1,22)=0.49, p=0.48, p^2=0.02$
Condition X Crown	$\Gamma(1,26)=0.95, p=0.34, q=-0.05$	$\Gamma(1,22)=0.49$, p=0.48, q=02
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.50, p=0.11, \eta^2=.08$	$F_{(2,44)}=1.03, p=0.30, \eta^2=.03$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.16, p=0.85, \eta^2=.006$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.09, p=0.91, \eta^2=.004$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F(2,52)=0.31, p=0.74, \eta^2=.01$	$F(2,44)=0.92, p=0.41, \eta^2=.04$
Cage Explore	2	
Condition:	$F(2,52)=23.9, p<0.001, \eta^2=.48$	$F_{(2,44)}=6.86$, p=0.003, $\eta^2=.24$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=3.9, p=0.05, \eta^2=.13$	$F_{(1,22)}=1.46, p=0.24, \eta^2=.06$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=5.1$, p=0.032, $\eta^2=.17$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.98, p=0.33, \eta^2=.04$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.16$, p=0.69, $\eta^2=.006$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.06, p=0.81, \eta^2=.003$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=3.9, p=0.03, \eta^2=.13$	$F_{(2,44)}=1.79, p=0.18, \eta^2=.08$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.18$, p=0.32, $\eta^2=.04$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.27, p=0.76, \eta^2=.01$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.04$, p=0.96, $\eta^2=.001$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.15, p=0.86, \eta^2=.007$

Table 3. Human intruder behavioral responses during infancy and preadolescence

Table 3. (continued)

Behavior	Infancy	Preadolescence
Anxious	E	E
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=84.7, p<0.001, \eta^2=.77$	$F_{(2,44)}=34.7, p<0.001, \eta^{2}=.61$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=4.68, p=0.04, \eta^2=.15$	$F_{(1,22)}=2.72$, p=0.11, $\eta^2=.11$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)} = 7.42, p=0.011, \eta^2 = .22$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.83$, $p=0.37$, $\eta^2=.04$
Condition X Groups	$F_{(1,26)}=5.0, p=0.034, q=10$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.46, p=0.31, \eta=02$
Condition X Source	$F_{(2,52)} = 1.19, p=0.51, q=04$	$F_{(2,44)} = 1.00, p = 0.20, \eta =07$
Condition X Group X Save	$F_{(2,52)} = 1.77, p=0.18, q=00$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.07$, p=0.94, q=-0.005
Condition A Group A Sex:	F(2,52) ^{-0.80} , p-0.40, η ² 03	F(2,44) ^{-1.12} , p=0.34, η=03
Tooth Grind	2	2
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=106, p<0.001, \eta^2_2=.80$	$F_{(2,44)}=42.2, p<0.001, \eta^2=.66$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=9.59, p=0.005, \eta^2=.27$	$F_{(1,22)}=8.14$, p=0.009, $\eta^2=.27$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=5.8$, p=0.023, $\eta^2=.18$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.05, p=0.82, \eta^2=.002$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=4.2, p=0.05, \eta^2=.14$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.51$, p=0.48, $\eta^2=.02$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.36, p=0.11, \eta^2=.08$	$F_{(2,44)}=8.14, p=0.001, \eta^2=.27$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.75, p=0.18, \eta^2=.06$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.05, p=0.95, \eta^2=.002$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.22$, p=0.30, $\eta^2=.04$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.51$, p=0.60, $\eta^2=.02$
Yawns		-
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=15.5, p<0.001, \eta^2=.37$	$F_{(2,44)}=15.3$, p<0.001, $\eta^2=.41$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.001$, p=0.99, $\eta^2=.001$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.90, p=0.35, \eta^2=.04$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=4.1, p=0.05, \eta^2=.14$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.001$, p=0.98, $\eta^2=.001$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=1.75$, p=0.19, $\eta^2=.06$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.74$, p=0.39, $\eta^2=.03$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.33$, p=0.72, $\eta^2=.01$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.90, p=0.41, \eta^2=.04$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.98, p=0.15, \eta^2=.07$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.001$, p=0.99, $\eta^2=.001$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.60, p=0.55, \eta^2=.02$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.74, p=0.48, \eta^2=.03$
Self-sooth	Note that provide a subsection of the state	
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=9.01$, p<0.001, p ² =.26	$F_{(2,44)}=3.22, p=0.05, p^2=.13$
Group:	$F_{(1,26)}=2.41$, p=0.13, p ² =.09	$F(1,22)=2.68, p=0.12, n^2=.11$
Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=0.14$, p=0.71, n ² =.005	$F_{(1,22)}=9.18, p=0.006, n^2=.29$
Group X Sex:	$F_{(1,26)}=2.68, p=0.11, \eta^2=.09$	$F_{(1,22)}=1.25, p=0.28, \eta^2=.05$
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=1.92, p=0.15, \eta^2=.07$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.47, p=0.63, \eta^2=.02$
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=2.88, p=0.06, \eta^2=.10$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.48, p=0.62, \eta^2=.02$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.69, p=0.51, \eta^2=.02$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.14$, p=0.87, $\eta^2=.006$
Allifiativa	(1,02)	(-,)
Condition:	$F_{(2,52)}=7.9$ n=0.001 n ² = 23	$F_{(2,44)}=10.16 \text{ p} \le 0.001 \text{ p}^2 = 32$
Group	F(2,52) = 3.27 p=0.08 p ² = 11	$F(1,22)=3,11, p=0,09, p^2=12$
Sev:	F(1,26) = 2.01 n=0.17 n ² = 07	F(1,22) = 0.47 p=0.50 p ² = 02
Group X Sex:	$F(1,26) = 0.05, p=0.83, p^2 = 0.02$	F(1,22) = 0.001 p=0.98 p ² =0.01
Condition X Group:	$F_{(2,52)}=0.65, p=0.53, n^2=0.02$	$F_{(2,44)}=0.36$ p=0.69 p ² = 02
Condition X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)} = 0.36, p = 0.55, \eta = 0.02$ $F_{(2,52)} = 0.36, p = 0.70, \eta^2 = 01$	$F(2,44) = 1.69 \text{ p} = 0.19 \text{ p}^2 = 0.7$
Condition X Group X Sex:	$F_{(2,52)} = 0.28$ p=0.76, p ² =01	$F_{(2,44)} = 1.09, p=0.02, n^2 = 16$
Condition A Group A Sex.	1 (2,52) ^{-0.28} , p ^{-0.70} , if ⁰¹	r(2,44)-4.29, p=0.02, q=.10
Coo	F 12 0010 2 11	E
Condition:	$F(2,52) = 4.3, p=0.019, \eta^2 = .14$	$F(2,44)=5.87, p=0.006, \eta^2=.21$
Group:	$r_{(1,26)}=3.9, p=0.05, \eta^{2}=.13$	$F(1,22) = 4.43, p = 0.047, \eta^2 = .17$
Sex:	$\Gamma(1,26)=0.7, p=0.41, \eta^2=.03$	$\Gamma(1,22)=0.06, p=0.81, \eta^2=.003$
Group X Sex:	$F(1,26)=0.16, p=0.69, \eta^2=.006$	$F_{(1,22)}=0.04, p=0.84, \eta^2=.002$
Condition X Group:	$\Gamma(2,52)=0.11, p=0.89, \eta^2=.004$	$\Gamma(2,44)=2.30, p=0.11, \eta^2=.09$
Condition X Crew X Saw	$\Gamma(2,52)=0.34, p=0.59, \eta^2=.02$	$\Gamma(2,44) = 0.13, p = 0.87, \eta^2 = .006$
Condition A Group A Sex:	$\Gamma(2,52)=0.28, p=0.76, \eta^2=.01$	$\Gamma(2,44)^{=1.81}$, p=0.18, η^{2} =.08

Manuscript III. Neonatal amygdala lesions alter normal functioning of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis in juvenile rhesus monkeys.

> Jessica Raper^{1,2} jraper@emory.edu

Jocelyne Bachevalier^{1,2} jbachev@emory.edu

> Kim Wallen^{1,2} kim@emory.edu

Mar Sanchez^{2,3} <u>mmsanch@emory.edu</u>

¹ Department of Psychology, Emory University, 36 Eagle Row, Atlanta GA 30322

² Yerkes National Primate Research Center, 954 Gatewood Rd NE, Atlanta, GA 30329

³ Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, Emory University, 101 Woodruff Circle,

WMB suite 4000, Atlanta GA 30322

Abstract

The current study examined the effects of neonatal amygdala (Neo-A) lesions on hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis functioning in rhesus monkeys reared with their mothers in large complex social groups. At 12 months of age, stress reactive HPA axis response, diurnal cortisol rhythm, and response to HPA axis challenges were examined. Compared to controls, Neo-A animals exhibited increased reactivity to a stressor as well as increased cortisol secretion across the diurnal rhythm as compared to controls. This hyper-secretion of basal cortisol was associated with reduced HPA response to corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) challenge and increased levels of corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) in cerebrospinal fluid, suggesting that early amygdala damage altered hypothalamic secretions. In addition, unlike controls, Neo-A animals also exhibited insufficient escape from glucocorticoid negative feedback after a dexamethasone suppression test. Taken together these data indicate that early amygdala damage impacts the normal development of the HPA axis, presumably via participation of other neural structures involved in the HPA axis regulation. Introduction

The ability to recognize and react to potential threats encountered is essential to survival and requires integrated activation of autonomic and endocrine systems to promote rapid changes in behavioral response and redistribution of resources (Herman, et al., 2003, 2005; Myers, et al., 2012). Modulation of both behavioral and physiological responses to potential threats is mediated at least in part by the amygdala, which has an excitatory influence on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis through both direct projections to the lateral hypothalamus and indirect projections to the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus (Price & Amaral, 1981; Amaral, et al., 1992; Freese & Amaral, 2009). The central and basal nuclei of the amygdala also project to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, which in turn projects to the PVN providing an indirect pathway by which the amygdala can influence the HPA axis neuroendocrine response to perceived threats (Price & Amaral, 1981; Amaral, et al., 1992; Pitkänen, 2000; Feldman, et al., 1990; 1995; Herman, et al., 2003; 2005). Specifically, in response to a threat, activation of these stressor-specific pathways causes the PVN to release corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) into the hypophyseal portal blood system, which is transported to the anterior pituitary to stimulate the release of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) into systemic circulation. ACTH then binds to receptors in cells of the adrenal cortex and stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids, such as cortisol in primates (Herman, et al., 2003, 2005). Previous studies in adult animals have shown that electrical stimulation of the amygdala results in increased cortisol secretion (Mason, 1959; Ehle, et al., 1977), whereas amygdala lesions result in decreased HPA axis response to a stressor (Beaulieu, et al., 1986; Feldman, et al., 1994; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008). Thus, although the role of the amygdala in the reactive stress response has received some support, its potential

contribution to basal cortisol secretion has been less studied.

The HPA axis basal secretory rhythm is essential for the body's homeostasis and normal functioning of other systems in the organism, such as metabolism, growth, and immune function (Munck, Guyre, & Holbrook, 1984). In diurnal animals, this basal HPA axis activity follows a circadian rhythm characterized by a peak of cortisol secretion during the early morning hours (upon awakening), and a decline across the day with a trough at night (during sleep) (Weitzman, et al., 1971; Keller-Wood & Dallman, 1984). An earlier study in rodents (Allen & Allen, 1975) reported that the amygdala was necessary to maintain ACTH secretion after adrenalectomy, suggesting a potential role of the amygdala for tonic (basal) control of the HPA axis in the absence of glucocorticoid regulation. A more recent study showed that CRH knockdown in the CeA of adult mice leads to increased basal corticosterone (Regev, et al., 2012). However, studies in primates with adult-onset amygdala lesions have reported no changes in baseline (prestressor) cortisol levels (Sapolsky, et al., 1991; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008), but blood samples in these studies were collected mid-morning or afternoon and could not inform on the role of the amygdala on the basal cortisol secretory rhythm.

Finally, the role of the amygdala on HPA axis functioning has been mostly studied in adult animals in which both the amygdala and hypothalamus are fully mature at the time of experimental manipulations (typically, stimulation or lesion). Thus, little is known about the influence of the amygdala on the HPA axis during development. From the few reports on the effects of amygdala lesions performed either during the juvenile period (Norman & Spies, 1981) or during the neonatal phase (Goursaud, et al., 2006; Raper, et al., 2012a, 2012b), the data are inconsistent. The former study examined cortisol response to dexamethasone suppression and ACTH neuropeptide challenge in infant monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions (Goursaud, et al., 2006) and indicated no changes in cortisol secretion between the amygdalectomized animals and controls. However, the lack of effects of amygdala lesions on the HPA axis may have resulted from an absence of a true baseline sample for comparison or from the long delay (16 hours) after which the dexamethasone suppression was examined, which could have missed the peak suppression time. In the most recent study, Raper and colleagues (2012a) showed that neonatal amygdala lesions yielded a flattened diurnal HPA axis rhythm (i.e., lower basal cortisol at "lights on") as well as a blunted cortisol response to a stressor that was associated with altered modulation of emotional reactivity. These more recent results suggest a critical influence of the amygdala not only on the HPA axis reactive stress response but also on basal HPA functioning, although the changes after neonatal amygdalectomy were only examined in adulthood.

Given the paucity of information on the role of the amygdala on the HPA axis during development, we initiated a longitudinal investigation to measure the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on HPA functioning from 2.5 months to adulthood. In a first report (Raper, et al., 2012b), the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions were examined in infancy and the results demonstrated a flattened diurnal cortisol rhythm as early as five months of age, with neonatally amygdalectomized infants showing higher cortisol at night compared to sham-operated controls. To further examine the effects of neonatal neurotoxic amygdala lesions across development, the present study re-assessed basal and stress reactive HPA axis function of these same animals during the juvenile period. Given our previous findings (Raper, et al., 2012a, 2012b), we predicted that the flattened HPA rhythm observed at 5 months will still be present in pre-adolescent monkeys. In addition, consistent with previous data on amygdala lesions received either in adulthood (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008) or in infancy (Raper, et al., 2012a), we predicted that neonatal amygdalectomized juvenile monkeys will exhibit a

blunted cortisol response to psychological stressors. Lastly, we predicted that neonatal amygdalaectomy would alter the normal functioning of the HPA axis at the feed-forward loop examined by CRH challenge and the escape from glucocorticoid negative feedback after dexamethasone suppression.

Methods

Subjects

All animals were raised by middle-ranking mothers and lived in large social groups (38 X 39 m outdoor compounds) at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center (YNPRC) Field Station (Lawrenceville, GA), Emory University. From the 30 juvenile rhesus monkeys (Macaca *mulatta*) that were included in the original longitudinal developmental study (Raper, et al., 2012b, 2012c), only 26 participated in Experiments 1 and 2 below. At 24.8 ± 1.2 days of age, 13 animals (7 males, 6 females) had received neonatal neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala (Neo-A) and 13 animals (4 males, 5 females) had received sham operations (Neo-C). In addition, three animals (2 males, 1 female) had received the same experimental manipulation given to the other animals except the neuroimaging and surgical procedures and served as behavioral controls (Neo-BC). All neuroimaging and surgical procedures were performed at the YNPRC Main Station (Atlanta, GA). In the current study, their neuroendocrine reactivity to a Human Intruder was assessed at 12 months of age. Procedures for neuroimaging, surgical, estimation of lesion extent as well as reunions with the mother after surgery have been described in detail earlier (Raper, et al., 2012b submitted) and will be briefly summarized below. The Animal Care and Use Committee of Emory University has approved all procedures, which were carried out in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory

Animals.

Imaging and surgical procedures:

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Procedure: On the day of surgery, the infant was removed from their mother, sedated (Ketamine hydrochloride, 100mg/ml), intubated, and anesthetized with isoflurane (1-2% to effect). Their head was shaved and secured in a nonferromagnetic stereotaxic apparatus, an intravenous drip of 0.45% dextrose and sodium chloride was placed to maintain normal hydration and vital signs (heart rate, respirations, blood pressure, expired CO2) were monitored throughout the procedures. Two MRI sequences were acquired using a Siemens 3.0T/90 cm whole body scanner and a 3" circular surface coil. A high resolution T1-weighted scan (spin-echo sequence, echo time [TE] = 11ms, repetition time [TR] = 450ms, contiguous 1mm section, 12cm field of view [FOV], 256x256 matrix) obtained in the coronal plane was used to determine the coordinates of injection sites in the amygdala. Three additionally fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) scans (3D T2-weighted fast spoiled gradient [FSPGR]echo sequence, TE = 2.6ms, TR = 10.2ms, 25 flip angle, 12 cm FOV, 256x256 matrix) were obtained in the coronal plane at 3.0 mm (each offset of 1 mm posteriorly) throughout the brain. These two MR sequences were then repeated 7-10 days after the surgical procedure for Neo-A animals, whereas Neo-C animals were just separated from their mothers and placed in an isolette incubator for the same amount of time.

Surgical Procedure: After the pre-surgical imaging session, the anesthetized infants were immediately brought to the surgical suite where they were prepared for aseptic surgical procedures. Nolvasan Solution was used to disinfect the scalp and a local anesthetic

(Bupivicaine 0.25% concentration, 1.5ml) was injected subcutaneously along the midline to reduce the pain during skin incision. After the skin and underlying connective tissue were gently displaced laterally, two small craniotomies were made in front of bregma and above the amygdala, and the dura was cut and retracted to expose the brain.

Animals in group Neo-A, injections of ibotenic acid (PH 7.8-7.9, 10 mg/ml concentration) were made in 6-8 sites within the center of the amygdala using 10µl Hamilton syringes. Needles were lowered simultaneously in both hemispheres and a total of 0.6-0.8 µl of ibotenic acid was manually injected at a rate of 0.2μ l/minute. After each injection, 3-minute waiting period was allotted to minimize neurotoxin spread during needle retractions.

At the completion of the injections, the dura was closed with silk sutures, the bone opening was covered with Surgicel NU-KNIT (absorbable hemostat), and connective tissues and skin were closed. The animal was removed from anesthesia, and placed in a temperature controlled incubator ventilated with oxygen until full recovery from anesthesia. All animals received banamine (1mg/kg for 3 days), dexamethasone (0.5mg/kg for 3 days) and antibiotic (rocephin, 25mg/kg for 7 days) after surgery to prevent pain, edema, and infection, respectively.

The sham-operated controls (Neo-C) received the same surgical procedures except no needles were lowered and no injections were given. In addition, the behavioral controls (Neo-BC) were separated from their mother and sedated (Ketamine hydrochloride, 100mg/ml). Their head was shaved and scalp was disinfected with Nolvasan Solution, but no surgery was performed. They were also given the same "post-surgery" medication treatments.

Mother-infant Reunions and Cross-fostering: The day after surgery, after ensuring that the infant was alert, it was returned to the mother and monitored constantly via a secured internet

web camera. Most mothers immediately retrieved their infants and the infants were observed nursing on the mother that same day. In a few cases, however, infants demonstrated difficulty nursing during the first reunion and the mother-infant pairs had to be separated overnight for a few days to monitor nutrition until the infant was able to nurse on the mother adequately.

In three cases, the mother-infant reunions were unsuccessful despite repeated attempts. However, one amygdalectomized male, was successfully cross-fostered to a mother that had recently lost her infant. In the remaining two cases (Neo-A female and Neo-C male), the "abandoned" infant was nursed and raised by another adult female who already had an infant that birth season. Close monitoring of these two cases of 'twin' mother-infant pairs revealed that both infants were growing normally and remained healthy.

Lesion Verification: Estimation of the extent of intended and unintended damage for Neo-A animals was made using pre- and post-surgical MR images (Malkova, et al, 2001; Nemanic, et al, 2002). The high-resolution T1 images were used to help identify the borders of each structure and lower resolution FLAIR images were used to identify extent of hypersignals which were then plotted onto corresponding coronal drawings from a normalized infant rhesus monkey brain (J. Bachevalier, unpublished atlas) using Adobe Photoshop software. Drawings were imported into image analysis program Image-J[®] (version 1.44) to measure the surface area (in pixels squared) containing hypersignals in the amygdala and in all surrounding structures (entorhinal and perirhinal cortex and hippocampus). Surface areas measured by the image thickness (i.e., 1mm) to obtain an estimate of volume, and the volume of damage for each structure was then divided by the normal volume of that structure (obtained from the template brain in the same manner) and multiplied by 100 to estimate a percentage of the total damage volume.

Lesion Extent

Estimated bilateral damage to the amygdala, averaged 80.3 % across both hemispheres (see Table 1), but varied from case to case. Thus, substantial bilateral damage to the amygdala in both hemispheres was found in 9 cases, averaging 87.72% and 92.09% on the right and left, respectively. Three other cases had either moderate bilateral damage (Neo-A-F5: right: 61.6%, left: 58.4%) or more asymmetrical amygdala damage (Neo-A-F3: right 100%, left 32.2%; Neo-A-M4: right 50.5%, left 84.9%). Lastly, in one case (Neo-A-F1), the damage was only unilateral (right: 82.3%, left 0%). Unintended damage to surrounding structures was negligible in 13 cases, and only two cases had moderate damage to the right entorhinal cortex (Neo-A-F1: 18.3%; Neo-A-F3: 21.8%), whereas two others had moderate damage to the tail of the putamen (Neo-A-F5 and Neo-A-F6). Figure 1 illustrates the extent of bilateral amygdala damage in animal Neo-A-F6 as reflected by the location and extent of hypersignals seen in the post-surgical FLAIR images.

Experiment 1

A human intruder was used as a threatening stimulus in a paradigm that has previously shown significant activation of the HPA axis reactive stress response as revealed by rapid increases in ACTH and cortisol in blood following the presence of the intruder (Kalin, et al., 1991b; Jahn, et al., 2010; Raper, et al., 2012a). In an earlier report, we described the impact of neonatal amygdala lesion on the behavioral reactions of the juvenile monkeys toward the human intruder (Raper, et al., 2012c). This study will focus on investigating the neuroendocrine stress response of the same animals after being confronted with the human intruder.

Human Intruder Paradigm and Blood collection

Experimental procedures were performed at sunrise prior to subjects being fed to avoid meal-induced HPA axis activation and to minimize arousal occurring during routine animal husbandry procedures in the early morning. Animals' were trained for quick capture from the social group and to present a leg for awake (unanesthetized) blood drawing procedures to minimize arousal (see Sanchez, et al., 2010; Raper, et al., 2012a). After collecting a "prestressor" blood sample immediately after capture and within 10 minutes of initial disturbance (when the experimenters first enter the social group), the animal was transported to a testing room away from their social group, and then transferred to a stainless steel cage (65 cm X 65 cm x 150 cm) with one side made of clear plexiglass for video recording. The human intruder paradigm lasted 30 minutes and consisted of three conditions (Alone, No Eye Contact, Stare) presented in this order for all animals (for details see Raper, et al., 2012b). Immediately following the end of the test, an additional blood sample (post-stressor) was collected to examine HPA axis stress reactive response. All blood samples were collected in pre-chilled 2 ml vacutainer tubes containing EDTA (3.6 mg) and immediately placed on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 minutes in a refrigerated centrifuge (4°C) and plasma samples were stored at -80°C until assayed.

Plasma Hormonal Assays:

All assays were performed by the YNPRC Biomarker Core Laboratory. Plasma samples during the Human Intruder task and on baseline days were assayed for both ACTH and cortisol. Plasma concentrations of ACTH were assayed in duplicate by radioimmunoassay (RIA) using commercially available kits (DiaSorin, Inc., Stillwater, MN). The sensitivity of the DiaSorin assay was 7.10 pg/ml and intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation in each assay were < 9.2%. Plasma concentrations of cortisol were assayed using liquid chromatography – mass spectroscopy (LC-MS). LC-MS analyses were performed via reverse phase chromatography on an LTQ-Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Quantitation was achieved using a deuterated cortisol internal standard (CDN Isotopes, Cortisol-9,11,-12,12-d4). The assay range was 2.5-60 ug/dl with intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation < 8%.

Data Analysis

Because the control group was made of sham-operated controls (Neo-C) and behavioral controls (Neo-BC), we first conducted a preliminary statistical analysis to ensure that the two control groups did not differ in any neuroendocrine measures taken in the present study. All group comparisons were non-significant, and all control animals were combined into a signle control group (Neo-C) for all subsequent analyses. Additionally, three females had to be dropped from hormonal analyses due to illness or injury at the time of testing (one Neo-C female, two Neo-A females), reducing the sample size to 23 subjects for the final analysis (Neo-C: males = 6, females = 6; Neo-A: males = 7, females = 4).

A preliminary analysis was performed to ascertain if the time from disturbance until collection of the blood sample had any influence on pre-stress cortisol levels. Two Hierarchical Linear Model (HLM) Regression analyses were performed on pre-stress cortisol and ACTH levels separately. The amount of time it took to collect the blood sample could explain a significant portion of the variance in pre-stress cortisol levels ($R^2 = 0.20$, F(1,20) = 3.57, p = 0.047), but not in pre-stress ACTH levels ($R^2 = 0.10$, F(1,20) = 1.08, p = 0.36), thus this variable of time to collect the sample was used as a covariate in subsequent analyses of group differences

for cortisol levels only.

Changes in cortisol and ACTH levels were assessed using repeated measures ANOVA with Group (2) and Sex as between subjects factor and Time (pre- vs post-stressor) as the within subjects repeated measures. Post hoc analyses to further examine interactions effects were performed with One-way ANOVA's. Lastly, the relationship between the extent of amygdala lesion and hormone levels were examined with Partial correlations to correct for the amount of time it took to collect the blood sample.

Results

HPA axis stress reactivity after neonatal amygdala lesion:

At one year of age, neonatal amygdalectomy produced profound changes in neuroendocrine stress response. Thus, as shown in Figure 2a, Neo-A animals exhibited greater cortisol levels during the post-stress as compared to Neo-C animals (Group: F[1,18] = 7.79, p = 0.012, $\eta^2 = 0.30$). There was also a significant Group X Sex X Time interaction for cortisol levels (F[1,18] = 4.31, p = 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.19$), indicating that females with neonatal amygdalectomies had the highest cortisol levels after exposure to the human intruder (see Figure 2a). By contrast, both groups demonstrated significant increase in ACTH level from pre- to post-stressor (Time: F[1,19] = 13.28, p = 0.002, $\eta^2 = 0.41$), but there was no significant effects of Group or Sex (F[1,19] = 0.59, p = 0.45, $\eta^2 = 0.03$; F[1,21] = 0.20, p = 0.65, $\eta^2 = 0.01$, respectively). There were no significant correlations between the extent of amygdala lesion and hormone levels.

Experiment 2

Results of Experiment 1 demonstrate that neonatal amygdalectomy results in an increased cortisol stress response to a threatening stimulus in juvenile monkeys. In addition, although both males and females with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited higher cortisol levels during the post-stressor as compared to their same sex controls, the Neo-A females exhibited the highest cortisol response to the stressor. To investigate whether the effects of early amygdala lesions on stress reactivity is the result of alterations to the HPA axis, diurnal cortisol rhythm as well as pharmacological challenges were used to examine the basic functioning of different levels of the HPA axis.

Neuropeptide Challenges and CSF collection

From the 26 animals participating in this study, six could not be included in Experiment 2 due to illnesses or injuries reducing the sample size to 20 animals (Neo-C: males = 5, females = 5; Neo-A: males = 6, females = 4). All animals received intravenous neuropeptide challenges consisting of corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH), adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) or a saline vehicle injections. Animals were accessed at sunrise prior to feeding or other routine care procedures to avoid both meal-induced or arousal HPA axis activation. Since the animals live outdoors under natural lighting conditions, sunrise times were obtained from the US Naval Observatory (http://aa.usno.navy.mil/data/docs/RS_OneYear.php) and used as daylight time instead of clock time. Animals were separated from their social group according to the procedures outlined in Experiment 1, and immediately anesthetized with an intramuscular injection of Telazol (5mg/kg) to minimize the stress associated with repeated handling and blood sampling after the drug injection. The response to neuropeptide challenges was assessed while
the animals were under anesthesia to minimize the stress associated with repeated handling and blood sampling after the drug injection. A basal blood sample was taken (0 minute) by saphenous venipuncture, prior to anesthesia injection, to assess pre-challenge cortisol and ACTH levels. An intravenous bolus of r/h CRH (50ug/kg), r/h ACTH (ug/kg) or a vehicle solution (10mM acetic acid/sterile 0.9% saline) was administered into the saphenous vein of the animal, and blood samples were collected from the femoral vein at 15, 30, and 45 minutes after the injection. These intravenous neuropeptide challenges were done according to published protocols (Sanchez, et al., 2005) and interval between drug treatments were a minimum of one week. Administration of a saline vehicle solution was used to control for the effects of anesthesia and blood drawing procedures on the hormonal variables of interest.

A cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) sample was collected, immediately prior to the administration of neuropeptides or saline, but only one CSF sample was collected per subject before one of the three neuropeptide challenges. The CSF sample was obtained by cisternal tap within 15 minutes of initial disturbance in the anesthetized animal.

Diurnal cortisol rhythm and Dexamethasone Suppression Test

For the diurnal rhythm, blood samples were collected at sunrise, mid-day and sunset according to the sun times obtained from the US Naval Observatory. All blood samples were collected by quickly separating subjects from their social group according to the procedures outlined in Experiment 1. After the sunset blood sample collection and 10 hours before sunrise, subjects were given an intramuscular injection of dexamethasone sodium phosphate (0.25 mg/kg). The following day after the dexamethasone injection, blood samples were collected at sunrise to examine the suppression of the morning cortisol rise and then at mid-day to examine

the escape from suppression. The sunrise and mid-day samples collected after dexamethasone suppression were compared to the diurnal cortisol samples collected at the same time of day.

Hormonal Assays: All plasma assays were performed by the YNPRC Biomarker Core Laboratory. Plasma samples for neuropeptide challenges, diurnal rhythm, and dexamethasone suppression were assayed for cortisol. Plasma concentrations of cortisol were assayed in duplicate by RIA using commercially available kits (DSL kit: Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Webster, TX). The sensitivity of the DSL assay was 1.25µg/dl and intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation in each assay were < 10%.

Assay for corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) in CSF samples was conducted by Dr. Patrick Roseboom at the University of Wisconsin. CRH was measured in cerebrospinal fluid using an antibody (rC68 – 5/31/83 bleed) generously provided by Wylie Vale (Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, CA). Briefly the CSF was incubated for 72 hours in the presence of the antibody, and this was followed by a 48 hour incubation with [125 I-Tyr⁰]r,hCRH (Perkin-Elmer, Downers Grove, IL). The final dilution of the antibody was 1:1,000,000. Following the addition of normal rabbit serum (Bachem, Torrence, CA) as a carrier, the antigen-antibody complex was pelleted using goat anti-rabbit gamma globin (Bachem) at 1,700 x g for 20 min. The supernatant was removed by aspiration and the radioactivity remaining in the pellet was counted in a gamma counter (Perkin-Elmer). The amount of CRH in the sample was determined using a standard curve ranging from 3.91 pg/ml to 1000 pg/ml of r,hCRH (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The limit of detection was 0.4 pg, and the majority of samples were assayed in triplicate with the exception that three samples were assayed in duplicate as a result of low sample volume. All samples in the current study were assessed for CRH in a single assay run.

Data Analysis

Due to illness at the start of this experiment six animals were unable to undergo neuropeptide challenge or dexamethasone suppression testing. Additionally, one Neo-C female was excluded from neuropeptide challenge analyses due to illness unrelated to the experiment, but this female was able to be included in the diurnal and dexamethasone suppression tests. Another Neo-C female was excluded from the CRH challenge analyses because she did not receive the full injection of the neuropeptide, but this female was included in ACTH challenge, dexamethasone, and diurnal analyses. Therefore, 20 subjects were included in the final analyses for diurnal and dexamethasone suppression (Neo-C: males = 5, females = 6; Neo-A: males = 6, females = 3), and only 18 subjects were included in the final analyses of neuropeptide challenges (Neo-C: males = 5, females = 4; Neo-A: males = 6, females = 3).

Area under the curve with respect to increase (AUCi) calculates the change in hormones with respect to the baseline value, thereby indexing change beyond baseline over time (0/baseline, 15, 30, 45 minutes post-injection; Pruessner, et al., 2003). Therefore, AUCi was calculated for cortisol and ACTH levels response to neuropeptide challenges. Mix-model design ANOVA with Drug (Saline vehicle vs ACTH or CRH), Group (Neo-C, Neo-A), and Sex as between subjects factors were used to analyze the AUCi for cortisol and ACTH.

To ascertain whether the time from disturbance until collection of the blood sample had any influence on basal cortisol levels, Hierarchical Linear Model (HLM) Regression analyses were performed on basal cortisol levels. Variance in basal cortisol level was not significantly explained by the amount of time it took to collect the sample ($R^2 = 0.15$, F(1,17) = 1.59, p =0.23), therefore time to collect the sample was not covaried in subsequent analyses of group differences in diurnal cortisol. However, a significant amount of variance in cortisol was accounted for in samples collected after dexamethasone suppression ($R^2 = 0.35$, F(1,17) = 6.33, p = 0.009), in this case time to collect the sample was used as a covariate in subsequent analyses of group differences in dexamethasone suppression.

The diurnal cortisol rhythm was assessed using a repeated measures ANOVA with Group (2) and Sex as between subjects factors and Time (sunrise, mid-day, sunset) as the within subjects factor with repeated measures and the "time from initial disturbance" as covariate. The dexamethasone suppression test was assessed with mixed-model ANOVA with Group (2), Drug (diurnal/non drug, dexamethasone), and Sex as between subjects factors and Time (sunrise, mid-day) and "time from initial disturbance" as covariate. Escape from glucocorticoid negative feedback was examined by taking the difference between the mid-day and sunrise cortisol level after dexamethasone suppression, then using ANOVA with Group (2) and Sex as between subject factors.

Results

During preadolescence, both groups showed significant reduction in cortisol secretion across the day (Time of day: F[2,32] = 54.21, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.77$; Figure 2b), and more specifically, the diurnal cortisol rhythm was linear and adult-like at this age (repeated contrasts: sunrise vs mid-day F[1,16] = 31.7, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.67$; mid-day vs sunset F[1,16] = 27.74, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.63$). However, despite similar patterns of cortisol rhythm, Neo-A animals had significantly higher cortisol secretion compared to Neo-C animals throughout the day (Group: F[1,16] = 4.78, p = 0.044, $\eta^2 = 0.23$) and this hypersecretion of cortisol was similar in both sex (Sex: F[1,16] = 0.92, p = 0.35, $\eta^2 = 0.06$).

Thus, the elevated cortisol secretion observed after post-stress HPA axis reactivity

(Experiment 1) and across the diurnal rhythm (Experiment 2) suggests that early damage to the amygdala has altered the normal functioning of the HPA axis. To examine the precise nature of the altered HPA axis functioning neuropeptide challenges were employed. Overall, the results indicate that HPA axis neuropeptide challenges elicited significant changes in neuroendocrine responses in juvenile monkeys with or without neonatal amygdalectomy.

First, as shown in Figure 3a, after the ACTH neuropeptide challenge, both groups responded with a significant increase in cortisol compared to a saline injection (Drug: F[1,38] =102.2, p < 0.001, $n^2 = 0.77$) and the effects of Group and Sex and their interactions did not reach significance. Second, as shown in Figure 3b, after CRH challenge, again both groups responded with a significant increase in cortisol compared to saline (Drug: F[1,36] = 28.4, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 =$ 0.50). However, the cortisol response to CRH was less in magnitude in Neo-A animals as compared to Neo-C animals (Group: (F[1,36] = 5.42, p = 0.027, $\eta^2 = 0.16$; see Figure 3b). This lower response to CRH challenge among Neo-A animals was also confirmed when comparing ACTH levels after CRH and saline injections. It is first important to note that ACTH levels were high in the baseline samples because animals exhibited a physiological response to capture, and CRH administration delayed the ACTH decrease compared to saline. The results showed a significant interaction between Drug, Group, and Sex for ACTH response to CRH challenge $(F[1,36] = 4.2, p = 0.05, \eta^2 = 0.13;$ see Figure 3c). Although both groups responded similarly to the CRH challenge, showing less reduction in ACTH levels compared to saline injection, this blunted response to the CRH challenge was present in both Neo-C males and females, but only in Neo-A males. Neo-A females did not show changes in ACTH levels after the CRH challenge (see AUCi Figure 3c). Third, to confirm the effects of neonatal amygdalectomy on cortisol levels after CRH challenge, CRF concentration was measures in CSF samples. There was a

significant Group X Sex interaction for CRF concentration (F[1,19] = 6.5, p = 0.022, $\eta^2 = 0.30$; see Figure 2c), indicating that Neo-A females exhibited higher CRF in CSF compared to Neo-A males and Neo-C animals of both sex.

Lastly, glucocorticoid negative feedback was examined using the dexamethasone suppression test. As shown in Figure 2b, dexamethasone administration significantly suppressed cortisol levels at sunrise, 10 hours after its administration in both groups and animals escaped the glucocorticoid negative feedback by mid-day (Drug X Time (F[1,30] = 43.5, p < 0.001, η^2 = 0.59). Nevertheless, the effect of dexamethasone suppression was altered by neonatal amygdalectomy (Drug X Group: F[1,30] = 4.91, p = 0.035, η^2 = 0.14). Thus, Neo-C animals (M = 7.92 ± 1.4) exhibited a significantly greater escape from dexamethasone suppression test than Neo-A animals (M = 2.52 ± 1.6; Group: F[1,20] = 6.09, p = 0.026, η^2 = 0.29).

Discussion

The present study provides conclusive evidence that damage to the amygdala in infancy alters the normal development of the HPA axis in monkeys. First, contrary to previous studies demonstrating a blunted HPA axis response to a stressor in adult animals with either adult-onset (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008) or neonatal (Raper, et al., 2012a) amygdala lesions, the current results indicate that neonatal amygdala lesions lead to increased cortisol stress response to a threatening stimulus in juvenile monkeys. Second, neonatal amygdala damage also impacted the normal functioning of the HPA axis as reflected in the increased basal cortisol rhythm, decreased response to CRH challenge and impaired ability to escape from dexamethasone suppression test. Finally, these changes in the normal development of the HPA axis functions were confirmed by the increased CRF found in CSF of animals with neonatal

amygdala lesions.

Amygdala and development of the HPA axis stress reactivity

Juvenile monkeys responded to the psychological stress of the Human Intruder paradigm with increased plasma cortisol and ACTH, and the increase in cortisol was even greater in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions. Interestingly, females with neonatal amygdala lesions expressed significantly greater cortisol secretion in response to the stressor compared to all other animals. The increased stress reactive cortisol response from neonatal amygdalectomized animals was unexpected given that previous lesion studies have reported blunted stress response after amygdalectomy (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Raper, et al., 2012a). One potential factor that could explain these unexpected findings is the age at which the stress response was examined. All previous lesion studies have examined the effects of amygdala lesions on stress response in adulthood (after puberty), whereas the current study focused on preadolescence (before puberty). Puberty is a period of continued development of neural pathways involved in coordinating the HPA axis stress response (Lidow, et al., 1991; Andersen, 2003). For example, prior to puberty neurotransmitter receptor density is steadily declining until tapering off at puberty (Lidow, et al., 1991). In contrast, glucocorticoid receptors (GR) density increases from infancy to adolescence at which time GR expression reaches a plateau and then declines in old age (Perlman, et al., 2007; Sinclair, et al., 2011b). In fact, prepubertal rodents exhibit an exaggerated stress response and delayed return to baseline after stressors compared to adults (Romeo, et al., 2004a, 2004b, 2006), suggesting an immaturity of the HPA axis glucocorticoid negative feedback before puberty. Additionally, primate studies have reported that pre-pubertal female monkeys exhibit greater cortisol response to stressors (Clarke, 1993;

Davenport, et al., 2003; Sanchez, et al., 2005). Thus, the cortisol hyper-secretion observed after neonatal amygdala lesions, particularly in females, suggests that the neonatal lesions have impacted the normal development of the HPA axis and, more specifically, the normal changes in receptor density, leading to a hyperactive stress response. Further examining the stress reactive response of these animals after puberty when the animals will reach maturity will demonstrate whether the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions are transitory or in the contrary will lead to blunted cortisol secretion as it has been shown in the earlier studies (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Raper, et al., 2012a).

Despite the exaggerated stress reactive response, neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited blunted fear reactivity during the human intruder as reflected by a reduction of freezing in the presence of the intruder as compared to controls (Raper, et al., 2012c). Thus, the data indicate a dichotomy between the effects of neonatal amygdala lesions on fear responses and on HPA axis functioning. This dichotomy could be explained by the different connections of the amygdala with brain systems critical for the production of fear behaviors as those responsible for HPA axis fear reactivity. Thus, the regulation of freezing behaviors requires activation of the periaqueductal gray matter which receives direct inputs from the amygdala (Kalin, et al., 2001; Walker & Davis, 1997). For the reactive stress response, although the amygdala could directly impact hypothalamic activation, there exist alternative pathways that could differently impact the HPA axis reactivity in the absence of a functional amygdala. Thus, both the prefrontal limbic cortex and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis have strong connections with the hypothalamus and both receive strong inputs from the amygdala (Rempel-Clower & Barbas, 1998; Myers, et al., 2012; Radley, 2012). Therefore, in the absence of a functional amygdala, it is possible that the HPA axis reactive stress response could still be stimulated by other structures.

Amygdala and development of diurnal cortisol rhythm

To date, only few studies have examined the diurnal cortisol rhythm of juvenile rhesus monkeys and have primarily focused on the impact of early life experience on the HPA axis (Sanchez, et al., 2005; Barrett, et al., 2009). Those studies demonstrate a linear pattern in diurnal cortisol secretion in juvenile monkeys, which was replicated in the current study. Thus, both control and neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited the highest cortisol levels at sunrise. with progressive decline at mid-day and further decline from mid-day to sunset. Interestingly, despite this overall change in diurnal cortisol secretion, the shape of the decline through the day differed with maturation of the animals. At the youngest age (5 months), infant monkeys exhibited equal levels of cortisol at sunrise and mid-day with a significant decline occurring only at sunset (Raper, et al., 2012b). In contrast, by 12 months of age, the linear pattern of cortisol decline from sunrise to mid-day and mid-day to sunset reached an adult pattern (Sanchez, et al., 2005; Goncharova, et al., 2006; Barrett, et al., 2009; Collura, et al., 2009; Arce, et al., 2010. Similar to controls, animals with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited a linear decline in diurnal cortisol, but had elevated cortisol levels across all time points. This higher cortisol rhythm suggests that damage to the amygdala early in life impacts the typical basal HPA axis secretion. Therefore, disruption of the amygdalar inputs to the hypothalamus and other neural structures involved in HPA axis functioning may have impacted the basal tone of the HPA axis. Support for this proposition comes from adult rodent studies (Allen & Allen, 1975; Regev, et al., 2012). In adult rats, the amygdala is necessary to maintain ACTH secretion after adrenalectomy, suggesting that in the absence of glucocorticoid regulation, the amygdala plays a critical role in maintaining the tonic (basal) control of the HPA axis (Allen & Allen, 1975). Further, CRH

knockdown in the central nucleus of the amygdala in adult mice leads to increased basal corticosterone secretion (Regev, et al., 2012). Although the exact mechanism by which the amygdala exerts its influence on the basal tone of the HPA axis is unknown, the results obtained with the use of pharmacological challenges that targeted different levels of the HPA axis offer some potential explanations.

Putative mechanisms

Increased stress reactivity and diurnal cortisol secretion after neonatal amygdalectomy suggest a significant impact on the neural changes in neurotransmitters and glucocorticoid receptors that normally occur during development. To inform on the potential changes in receptors involved in HPA axis functioning after early amygdala damage, specific neuropeptide pharmacological challenges were used to assess functioning of different levels of the HPA axis. Functioning of the adrenal cortex was examined using an ACTH neuropeptide challenge. Because the ACTH challenge was performed under anesthesia to ensure that animals were not undergoing psychological stress at the time of the challenge, the results reflect only the activation of adrenal receptors by the exogenous ACTH leading to cortisol synthesis and secretion. Thus, as expected, after the ACTH challenge controls exhibited an increase in cortisol section and a similar increase was found in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions. The lack of a group difference after exogenous administration of ACTH rules out the possibility that the increased stress reactivity after neonatal amygdalectomy was due to changes in responsiveness of the adrenal cortex. In addition, animals of both sex reacted similarly to the ACTH challenge. These findings confirm earlier results indicating that sex differences in response to ACTH challenges normally emerge after puberty when gonadal hormones are present in systemic

circulation (Meyer & Bowman, 1972; Wilson, et al., 2005).

The normal functioning of the pituitary was examined using exogenous CRH. The results demonstrated that both groups exhibited an increase plasma cortisol and ACTH secretion to administration of CRH, yet this increase was greater in controls than in animals with neonatal amygdala lesion, regardless of sex. The baseline sample did exhibit elevated plasma ACTH in all subjects, presumably due to the physical activation of the HPA axis during the capture procedure, and the CRH administration delayed the ACTH decrease while subjects were under anesthesia. The results of this CRH challenge suggest that damage to the amygdala early in life has altered the normal function of the HPA axis, potentially through alterations in CRH and glucocorticoid receptors in the hypothalamus and pituitary. Taken together, the elevated diurnal cortisol rhythm and reduced response to CRH challenge among neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals suggest elevated secretion of CRF in these animals. This conclusion is further supported by examination of CRF within the CSF. The results revealed higher CRF concentration in CSF of females with neonatal amygdala lesions as compared to controls and amygdala-lesioned males. Elevated CRF secretion from the hypothalamus results in a down-regulation of CRH receptors in the anterior pituitary (Wynn, et al., 1985; Hauger & Aguilera, 1993), resulting in fewer CRH receptors available for binding the exogenous CRH, thus leading to the lower ACTH and cortisol response seen among neonatal amygdalecomized animals as compared to controls. Thus, these data provide indirect evidence that early amygdala damage alters the normal developmental changes in receptors and neural pathways involved in coordinating the stress response.

Lastly, assessment of glucocorticoid negative feedback using the dexamethasone suppression test revealed that both groups exhibited cortisol suppression 10 hours after

dexamethasone administration and this effect was observed for both sex. Studies in adult animals have demonstrated the direct influence of estrogen, such that estrogen administered to females resulted in non-suppression and a faster escapes from maximal suppression compared to control females (Wilson, et al., 2005). The lack of sex differences in the current study is likely due to the fact that the juvenile animals were at a developmental stage of gonadal quiescence. The ability of amygdalectomized animals to suppress the morning rise in cortisol secretion after exposure to dexamethasone suggests that these animals have a sufficient density of GR's to impose negative feedback, such that the elevated diurnal cortisol secretion is not due to a lack of glucocorticoid negative feedback. Rather, the elevated basal cortisol secretion could be due to increased hypothalamic output, a conclusion supported by the increased CRF concentrations found in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions.

Despite their normal glucocorticoid negative feedback, the release from dexamethasone suppression in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions was blunted as compared to controls. This super-suppression after early amygdala damage suggests that other neural structures (e.g. prefrontal cortex, hippocampus) involved in negative feedback on the HPA axis may be compensating for the elevated CRF concentration and diurnal cortisol rhythm. Studies examining the anti-inflammatory actions of glucocorticoids demonstrate that GR can be up-regulated in peripheral mononuclear cells after exposure to endotoxins or glucocorticoids (Bartholome, et al., 2004; review Stahn, et al., 2007), but whether this same type of GR up-regulation occurs in neurons has yet to be demonstrated. However, if such an up-regulation of GR's existed in the neural pathways coordinating negative feedback control of the HPA axis, it is likely that dexamethasone will have a much stronger effect on these neural GR's. Given that GR's have a higher affinity for dexamethasone compared to cortisol (Dallman, 2010),

dexamethasone would more readily bind to GR's in neonatal amygdalectomized animals, resulting in an increase in glucocortiocoid negative feedback response.

As mentioned above, up-regulation of GR's have been demonstrated in peripheral cells (Bartholome, et al., 2004; review Stahn, et al., 2007), but whether this occurs in neurons is unknown. Most studies have focused on the deleterious effects of glucocorticoids on GR downregulation and neuronal atrophy in the hippocampus, an area implicated in negative feedback control of the HPA axis (Sapolsky, et al., 1986; Patil, et al., 2007; Oitzl, et al. 2009). Thus, an up-regulation of GR's is still questionable. Alternatively, in contrast to the hippocampus, exposure to high levels of glucocorticoids results in an increased arborization of dendrites in neurons of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BnST; Vyas, et al., 2003). If this scenario will prove to be true, elevated HPA activity in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions may yield to an enlarged BnST. The BnST has not only been implicated in anxiety disorders and sustained fear (review Walker & Davis, 2008), but also in the modulation of the HPA axis (Myers, et al., 2012; Radley, 2012). It is interesting to note that the amygdalectomized animals participating in this study exhibited an inability to modulate fear and anxious behaviors (Raper, et al., 2012c), suggesting a potential overactivity of the BnST. Therefore, an alternative hypothesis to explain the dexamethasone super-suppression among neonatal amygdalectomized animals may be the disconnections between the amygdala and the BnST and its influence on the HPA axis. The major outputs of the amygdala are GABA-ergic projections to the BnST, which in turn sends direct GABA-ergic inputs to the PVN (Freese & Amaral, 2009; Myers, et al., 2012; Radley, 2012). Therefore, the amygdala's excitatory influence on the HPA axis is likely mediated through trans-synaptic disinhibition of the PVN (Myers, et al., 2012; Radley, 2012). Taken together, these data suggest that animals with neonatal amygdalectomies lack the ability to

disinhibit the BnST, resulting in an inability to overcome the suppression from dexamethasone. The current data cannot determine whether the super-suppression after dexamethasone administration in neonatal amygdala lesion animals is the result of up-regulated GR's as a compensatory mechanism for elevated HPA output, or due to the lack of amygdala inputs to the BnST to stimulate the escape from glucocorticoid negative feedback. Future PET imaging or *in situ* hybridization studies in these animals may help determine which of these alternative hypotheses is correct.

Acknowledgements

Authors are grateful to Amy Henry, Trina Villarreal, Shannon Stephens, M.A., Patrick McFarland, Cassie Lyons, Sara Dicker, Rebecca Roberts, M.A., and Daniela Sanchez, M.A., for their invaluable assistance in pharmacological challenges, animal handling, mother-infant reunions, and reintroductions to the social group. We also thank all members of the Bachevalier Laboratory who have helped with the neuroimaging and surgical procedures on the infant monkeys. This research was supported by the National Institute for Mental Health (MH050268). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official view of the NIMH, or the National Institutes of Health. The studies were also supported by the Center for Behavioral Neuroscience (NSF IBN 9876754), and Integrated Training in Psychobiology and Psychopathology Fellowship (NIMH T32 MH732505), as well as by the National Center for Research Resources to the Yerkes National Research Center (P51 RR00165; YNRC Base grant) which is currently supported by the Office of Research Infrastructure Programs/OD P510D11132. The YNPRC is fully accredited by the American for the Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Care, International.

Figure captions

Figure 1. Two coronal MR images through the amygdala: T1-weighted images in one shamoperated control (Neo-C-1) and Fluid Attenuated Inversion Reversal (FLAIR) images in a representative case with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A-F6). The numerals to the left of each coronal section indicate the distance in millimeters from the interaural plane. Black arrows point to the hypersignal resulting from the cell death from neurotoxic injections.

Figure 2. Mean \pm SEM of cortisol during Human Intruder stressor (A), Diurnal rhythm and dexamethasone suppression (B). Also the mean \pm SEM of corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) measured in cerebrospinal fluid (C). Sham operated controls (Neo-C) are represented by squares (males = open squares, females = grey squares) or open bars, neonatal amygdala lesion animals (Neo-A) are represented by circles (males = black circles, females = grey circles) or black bars. Dashed lines indicate cortisol levels after dexamethasone administration. * indicates a significant difference (p < 0.05).

Figure 3. Mean \pm SEM of cortisol levels after an ACTH, CRH (C), or saline vehicle (Veh or V) challenge, as well as mean \pm SEM of ACTH level after CRH or saline vehicle challenge. Sham operated controls (Neo-C) are represented by squares or open bars, neonatal amygdala lesion animals (Neo-A) are represented by circles or black bars. Response to a saline vehicle injection is indicated by solid lines and shapes, ACTH injections are indicated by dashed lines and striped shapes, and CRH injections are indicated by double lines and checked shapes. * indicates a significant difference (p < 0.05).



Figure 1. Cortisol and corticotropin releasing factor levels



Figure 2. Response to neuropeptide pharmacological challenges

Intended Damage					Unintended Damage							
	Amygdala				Hippocampus				Entorhinal			
Subjects	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%	Rt%	Lf%	X%	W%
Neo-A-F1	82.3	0.0	41.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	18.3	0.0	9.2	0.0
Neo-A-F3	100	32.2	66.1	32.2	2.5	0.0	1.2	0.0	21.8	2.9	12.4	0.6
Neo-A-F4	90.9	89.3	90.1	81.1	1.9	0.0	1.0	0.0	12.3	0.0	6.2	0.0
Neo-A-F5	61.6	58.4	60.0	36.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6	0.0	0.8	0.0
Neo-A-F6	100	97.7	98.8	97.7	2.4	7.9	5.1	0.2	1.3	2.0	1.6	0.03
Neo-A-F7	98.3	99.0	98.6	97.3	4.3	2.1	3.2	0.1	7.3	2.5	4.9	0.2
Mean	88.9	62.8	75.8	57.4	1.9	1.7	1.8	0.05	10.4	1.2	5.9	0.18
Neo-A-M1	100	80.6	90.3	80.6	8.9	9.0	9.0	0.8	8.3	15.8	12.0	1.3
Neo-A-M3	70.3	90.8	80.6	63.9	3.1	5.3	4.2	0.2	2.1	31.4	16.8	0.7
Neo-A-M4	50.5	84.9	67.7	42.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Neo-A-M6	77.3	92.3	84.8	71.3	4.4	0.0	2.2	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0
Neo-A-M7	90.9	98.9	94.9	90.0	5.1	0.6	2.9	0.03	1.4	0.0	0.7	0.0
Neo-A-M8	100	87.0	93.5	87.0	6.4	0.4	3.4	0.03	7.1	0.0	3.6	0.0
Neo-A-M9	61.8	93.2	77.5	57.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.4	0.0
Mean	78.7	89.7	84.2	70.5	4.0	2.2	3.1	0.15	2.7	6.9	4.8	0.3

Table 1. Intended and unintended damage after neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala

L%: percent damage in the left hemisphere; R%: percent damage in the right hemisphere; X%: average damage to both hemispheres; W%: weighted average damage to both hemispheres (W%=(L%×R%)/100). Neo-A-F: female amygdala lesion subject, Neo-A-M: male amygdala lesion subject.

General Discussion

The primary goal of this project was to investigate the role of the amygdala in the development of emotional behavior and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis function. Understanding how the amygdala influences the development of these processes will provide valuable insights into developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. Aberrant amygdala development as well as abnormal fear reactivity and emotional dysregulation are present in developmental neuropsychiatric disorders such as autism, schizophrenia, and mood disorders (see review Schumann, et al., 2011). Neuropsychiatric disorders are also characterized by HPAaxis dysfunction (Kaufman, et al., 2001; Walker, Mittal, & Tessner, 2008; Corbett, et al., 2009). Children with autism lack consistency in day-to-day diurnal cortisol production, generally exhibiting higher cortisol levels at night (Corbett, et al., 2006, 2008, 2009). Children with depression or schizophrenia exhibit an elevated diurnal cortisol rhythm (Kaufman, et al., 2001; Walker, Mittal, & Tessner, 2008). There is also a sex difference in prevalence and behavioral profile of neuropsychiatric disorders. Men exhibit a great preponderance of autism, schizophrenia, and conduct disorder, whereas women display more mood disorders; e.g. anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, (Häfner, 2003; Zahn-Waxler, Shirtcliff, & Marceau, 2008; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). The clinical profile of neuropsychiatric disorders differs in a way that is consistent with sex differences in the normal population, such that children with disorders exhibit an exaggerated pattern of typical sex differences (Häfner, 2003; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). Furthermore, the amygdala's sexual dimorphism in size and androgen receptors (Pomerantz & Sholl, 1987; Micheal, Rees, Bonsall, 1989; Abdelgardir, et al., 1999) position it as an important area in the expression of sexually dimorphic behaviors (McClure, et al., 2004; Zosuls, et al., 2009; Saint-Maurice, et al., 2011). Taken together these

data suggest that the amygdala plays a critical role in the behavioral and neuroendocrine features of neuropsychiatric disorders, such that early perturbation results in emotional and HPA-axis dysfunction. In order to examine the precise role of the amygdala in normal behavior and HPAaxis functioning throughout development, we utilized a non-human primate neonatal lesion model.

There are several reasons that a non-human primate serves as a good animal model to study the amygdala's involvement in developmental neuropsychiatric disorders in humans. Studies utilizing rodents to model neuropsychiatric disorders have provided important findings, although they suffer from a lack of homology with higher order brain structures in humans (e.g., prefrontal cortex). The non-human primate brain has a complex prefrontal cortex, which is more similar to humans, perhaps making it a better animal model for translational research. It is important for an animal model to take into consideration the early ontogeny of many neuropsychiatric disorders, including autism, schizophrenia, and mood disorders and to follow how progression of symptoms manifests throughout the lifespan. To this end, the present study explored the amygdala's involvement in behavioral and neuroendocrine aspects of neuropsychiatric disorders using a nonhuman primate lesion model followed from birth to adulthood. This paper primarily focuses on the infancy and preadolescent stages of development.

We predicted that neonatal amygdala lesions would a) alter emotional reactivity toward a novel human intruder, such that neonatal amygdala lesion animals would still express emotional and defensive behaviors but would lack the ability to modulate their behaviors based on the presence and gaze direction of the intruder; b) impact the basal functioning of the HPA-axis, such that the diurnal cortisol rhythm would be flattened and lower compared to controls; c) result in a blunted cortisol response to a stressor; and d) alter the normal functioning of the HPA-axis at the feed-forward loop examined by CRH challenge and the escape from negative feedback loop after dexamethasone suppression, but leave cortisol production unaffected as assessed via ACTH challenge. As summarized in Tables 1 and 2, the current project revealed some intriguing group differences, though not all were consistent with our predictions.

Is the amygdala important for the development of emotional behavior expression?

Previous studies have shown that the ability to modulate defensive and emotional behaviors based on contextual information is mature by approximately three months of age in rhesus monkeys (Kalin, et al., 1989, 1991; Raper, et al., 2012a submitted). Therefore, we predicted that neonatal amygdala lesions would impair animals' ability to modulate emotional behaviors based on the contextual information in the environment (e.g., presence and gaze direction of the intruder). In addition to our prediction of dysregulation of emotional modulation, we noted novel findings of behavioral sex differences during the task, and the impact of neonatal amygdala lesions differed depending on the sex of the animal and age at examination (see Table 1).

It is important to point out that damage to the amygdala early in life did not disrupt the emergence of species-typical defensive and emotional behaviors. When tested in infancy, both sham-operated controls and neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited the appropriate pattern of defensive behaviors; i.e. more freezing during the Profile condition and hostility during the Stare condition. Despite their ability to express species-typical behaviors, infants with neonatal amygdala lesions were unable to modulate their coo vocalizations, fearful defensive behaviors, or tooth grinding based on the salience of the threat in the condition. Considering the role that the amygdala plays in the expression of fear and anxiety, it is logical that early amygdala damage would impair the ability to modulate the above behaviors. The impact of early amygdala damage on defensive behaviors became more apparent later in development, when subjects were tested again as juveniles. During preadolescence, neonatal amygdala lesion animals exhibited less freezing and hostility, but continued to exhibit more coo vocalizations as compared to controls. At both ages, neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals expressed less anxiety, as indicated by decreased tooth grinding. These results suggest that the impact of neonatal amygdala lesions on the expression of defensive and emotional behaviors becomes more evident later in development. Therefore, despite the increased potential for brain plasticity and compensation after early brain insult, neonatal amygdala damage resulted in deficits in defensive and emotional expressions, which worsened with age.

Another major finding of the current study pertained to the presence of behavioral sex differences during the Human Intruder task. To date, only one study has examined potential sex differences in this task, reporting no effects of sex on the duration of freezing (Kalin, et al., 1998). The current study also demonstrated no sex differences in freezing, but an overall sex difference in yawning and self-soothing behaviors, as well as an interaction between lesion and sex for fearful defensive and anxious behaviors, such as tooth grinding (see Table 1). In the cases of yawning, fearful defensive, and tooth grinding, the sex differences were evident during infancy, but were no longer present when animals were re-tested as juveniles. This contrasts with the findings of previous studies showing that sex differences do not emerge until after puberty when gonadal hormones are in high circulation (Mason, et al., 1960; Hadidian, 1980; Troisi, et al., 1990). At the time of testing during infancy, males were experiencing the postnatal testosterone (T) surge, which typically occurs from birth through four months of age in male

rhesus monkeys (Robinson & Bridson, 1978; Mann, et al., 1989). Therefore, the sex difference and Group X Sex interactions found during infancy may be influenced by the activational effects of circulating testosterone at this age. For example, in adult monkeys, serum T levels have been shown to directly influence yawning behavior with an increased T levels resulting in increased yawning (Phoenix, et al., 1973; Graves & Wallen, 2005). The current study also reported that this positive relationship between T levels and yawning during infancy was present at a time when the males were under activational influence of high levels of T in circulation. Interestingly, some other sexually dimorphic behavioral responses are impacted by neonatal amygdala damage (e.g., fearful defensive and tooth grinding), whereas other behaviors are not (e.g., yawning and self-soothing). Taken together, these findings suggest that the amygdala is essential for some but not all sexually dimorphic behaviors, and despite the loss of androgen receptors due to amygdala lesion, testosterone can still exert an activational influence on sexually dimorphic behaviors like yawning. More sexually dimorphic behaviors will likely emerge with the onset of puberty, when gonadal hormones turn on again after the period of quiescence during late infancy and preadolescence. It will be interesting to see which sex differences are spared after puberty, and thus not amygdala-centric, versus which sexually dimorphic behaviors are negatively impacted by this early perturbation. Continued observation of these same animals throughout puberty and into adulthood will shed valuable light on the amygdala's role in the expression of behavioral sex differences across development.

Overall, the data from the current study appears to indicate that the amygdala is important early in life for the normal development of emotional reactivity. Although animals with neonatal amygdala lesion can produce emotional behaviors, they cannot modulate their emotional behaviors based on the contextual information in the environment. Additionally, the amygdala is essential for the normal expression of some, but not all, sexually dimorphic behaviors.

How does the present results inform on the role of the amygdala on emotional reactivity in neuropsychiatric disorders?

First, there are many similarities between characteristics of neuropsychiatric disorders and the progression of symptoms observed in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions. First, the clinical characteristics of neuropsychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia and mood disorders, become more apparent later in development (Häfner, 2003; Zahn-Waxler, et al., 2008; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). The impact of early amygdala damage on emotional behavior in rhesus monkeys also becomes more apparent with age. During infancy, neonatal amygdalalesioned animals exhibited normal freezing and hostile expressions, whereas later, during preadolescence, they exhibited impairments in those defensive behaviors. The later emergence of deficits in emotional behavior suggests that early damage to the amygdala impacts developmental changes in other neural structures involved in threat appraisal and coordination of the reactive stress response. In fact, there are a myriad of developmental changes occurring between infancy and adolescence in both human and non-human primates: the amygdala increases in volume (Giedd, et al., 1996, 1997; Schumann, et al., 2004; Ostby, et al., 2009; Payne, et al., 2010), glucocorticoid receptors density increases (Perlman, et al., 2007; Sinclair, et al., 2011b), other neurotransmitter receptor density steadily decline (Lidow, et al., 1991), and the prefrontal cortex continues to experience growth and refinement (Lambe, et al., 2000, 2011; Raznahan, et al., 2011). Therefore, early damage to the amygdala may negatively impact the

normal development of other systems, leading to the increased alterations of emotional behavior later in development versus infancy.

Second, although the core symptoms of neuropsychiatric disorders are similar between males and females, the behavioral profile differs in a way that is consistent with sex differences seen in the normal population (Häfner, 2003; Rinehart, Cornish, & Tonge, 2011). Normally developing children exhibit a sex difference in externalizing behaviors and toy preference. Boys exhibit more hyperactivity and prefer wheeled toys, whereas girls are more inhibited, shy, and prefer to play with dolls. These normal sex differences are exaggerated among individuals with neuropsychiatric disorders; autistic boys exhibit a fixation on vehicles (Rinehart, et al., 2011), and pre-schizophrenic males exhibit more externalizing behaviors compared with normally developing siblings (Walker, et al., 1995; Häfner, 2003). Similar exaggerations of normal behavioral sex differences in rhesus monkeys are seen in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions. Female rhesus monkeys typically exhibit more fear grimaces and hostility toward social stimuli compared to males (Mason, et al., 1960). This pattern is exaggerated in infant females with neonatal amygdala lesions, such that they display more fearful defensive and screaming compared to control females. The findings of exaggerated sex differences among neonatal amygdalectomized animals lend validity to comparisons between this lesion model and neuropsychiatric disorders. These findings also suggest that the amygdala is important for the normal expression of some sexually dimorphic behaviors.

Lastly, along with aberrant amygdala development, neuropsychiatric disorders share common features of abnormal fear reactivity and altered threat appraisal. Individuals with autism, schizophrenia, and anxiety disorders exhibit high fear reactivity, suggesting a hyperactive threat appraisal level (review Schumann, et al., 2011). For example, in a test of temperament, autistic children show decreased approach of novel foods or objects compared to typically developing or developmentally delayed children (Brock, et al., 2012). A similar result was found in the current study. Neonatal amygdala lesion males spent significantly less time exploring a novel fruit compared to controls. Additionally, unlike controls, neonatal amygdalalesioned animals express more coo vocalizations across all conditions and threat levels of the Human Intruder paradigm, suggesting that amygdala damage has altered their ability to discern the differences in threat level. These data support previous work outlining the amygdala's role in the detecting danger in the environment and one's ability to select the appropriate emotional response according to the threat level (Davis & Whalen, 2001). Overall, the current study demonstrates the critical role of the amygdala for the normal development of emotions, expression of sexually dimorphic behaviors, threat detection, and potentially the normal development of other neural systems.

Is the amygdala important for normal functioning of the HPA-axis?

The HPA-axis has two main functions: 1) a reactive response is important for promoting activation of neural systems to rapidly respond to threats and redistribute resources (Herman, et al., 2003, 2005); and 2) a basal secretory rhythm that is essential for the body's homeostasis and normal functioning of other systems in the organism, such as metabolism, growth, and immune function (Munck, Guyre, & Holbrook, 1984). Studies in adult animals have demonstrated the excitatory influence of the amygdala on the HPA-axis, such that electrical stimulation results in increased cortisol secretion (Mason, 1959; Ehle, Mason, & Pennington, 1977). In contrast, lesions of the amygdala result in lower HPA-axis response to stressors (Knigge, 1961; Knigge & Hays, 1963; Beaulieu, DiPaolo, & Barden, 1986; Feldman, et al., 1994; Kalin, et al, 2004;

Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Raper, et al., 2012a). Additional evidence from rodent studies (Allen, & Allen, 1975; Beaulieu, et al., 1989; Regev, et al., 2011) and neonatal lesions in primates (Raper, et al., 2012a) indicate that the amygdala plays an important role in the basal HPA-axis function. Therefore, we predicted that early damage to the amygdala would alter the normal functioning of the HPA-axis. Specifically, amygdala damage would impact the feed-forward loop of the HPA-axis, resulting in lower basal cortisol rhythm, blunted stress reactive cortisol response, and increased HPA-activity to an exogenous CRH challenge. In contrast, neonatal amygdalectomy would not impact the responsiveness of the adrenal cortex to ACTH, nor would it impair glucocorticoid negative feedback, as examined by an exogenous ACTH challenge and dexamethasone suppression test, respectively. The majority of our predictions were not supported, with a few exceptions (see Table 2).

First, the basal cortisol rhythm was examined at three different ages during development: 2.5 months, 5 months, and 12 months of age. At 2.5 months of age, neonatal amygdala lesions produced significant decreases in basal cortisol secretion in males, thus eliminating the sex difference in cortisol during the postnatal testosterone (T) surge without affecting the T surge itself. After the postnatal T surge was over, neonatal amygdala lesions resulted in a flattened diurnal rhythm at 5 months of age compared to controls, driven by higher cortisol levels secreted at night. However, later in development, during preadolescence (12 months of age), animals with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited the typical linear pattern in cortisol, yet they secreted higher levels of cortisol across the day compared to controls. These results are partially in line with our predictions. As predicted, at 2.5 months neonatal amygdala lesions did not differ from control females or amygdala lesion males. Again, as predicted, neonatal amygdalectomy resulted

in a flattened diurnal cortisol rhythm at 5 months of age; however, the flattened rhythm is a result of higher cortisol at sunset, thus the rhythm was not flattened in the direction predicted. Increased cortisol secretion at 12 months of age was also unexpected given that previous studies in adult animals indicated that the amygdala has an excitatory influence on the HPA-axis, such that lesion result in decreased cortisol secretion (Allen, & Allen, 1975; Beaulieu, et al., 1989; Regev, et al., 2011; Raper, et al., 2012a).

Examination of the stress reactive HPA-axis response also revealed unexpected results. At 12 months of age, animals with neonatal amygdala lesions secreted significantly more cortisol after the stressor compared to same sex controls. Additionally, a significant interaction revealed that females with neonatal amygdala lesions exhibited greater increase in cortisol secretion compared to males with neonatal amygdalectomies as well as controls. These findings were unexpected given that previous studies have shown that lesions of the amygdala in adulthood (Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008) or neonatally (Raper, et al., 2012a) resulted in a blunted reactive HPA-axis response to an acute stressor. However, the latter study only examined the effect of neonatal amygdala lesions in adulthood, after puberty (Raper, et al., 2012a). Considering that puberty is a period of continued development of the neural pathways involved in coordinating the stress response (Lidow, et al, 1991; Anderson, 2003, Perlman, et al., 2007; Sinclair, et al., 2011b), it is possible that the neonatal amygdalectomized animals in the previous study had underwent such developmental changes during puberty, which lead to their blunted HPA-axis reactivity similar to adult-onset lesions. Although the results of the basal cortisol rhythm and reactive HPA-axis response were unexpected, the current data support the prediction that amygdala damage alters the feed-forward loop of the HPA-axis, but the alteration is not in the direction predicted.

Direct examination of the feed-forward loop of the HPA-axis was conducted at 12 months of age with exogenous CRH and ACTH challenges. As predicted, adrenal responsiveness to exogenous ACTH was not affected by neonatal amygdala damage, whereas response to exogenous CRH was impaired. Compared to controls, neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited a reduced ACTH and cortisol response to the CRH challenge. The combination of neonatal amgydalectomized animals exhibiting elevated basal cortisol rhythm and reduced response to exogenous CRH challenge suggests that elevated CRF secretion. In fact, neonatal amygdalectomized females exhibited increased CRF concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. Evidence from rodent studies demonstrate that above normal secretion of CRF from the hypothalamus causes a down-regulation of CRH receptors in the anterior pituitary (Wynn, et al., 1985; Hauger & Aguilera, 1993). A down-regulation of CRH receptors in the pituitary of amygdalectomized animals would result in reduced response to exogenous CRH due to the reduction in receptors to which CRH could bind. These data give direct evidence that early amygdala damage alters the normal developmental maturation in receptors in other neural structures.

Predictions about glucocorticoid negative feedback were partially supported. Neonatal amygdala lesions did not impair the ability to suppress the morning rise in cortisol after administration of dexamethasone, an artificial glucocorticoid. However, neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals were unable to escape from maximal suppression by mid-day, as shown by their lower cortisol levels at mid-day, after dexamethasone administration, compared to controls. The dexamethasone suppression test data suggest that early amygdala damage may alter normal developmental changes in glucocorticoid receptors (GR) and neural pathways involved in coordinating negative feedback control on the HPA-axis. Taken together, all of the results from

the current study of both the basal rhythm, reactive HPA-axis response, CRH challenge, and dexamethasone suppression suggest that the amygdala may have a very different role during early development compared to adulthood, thus leading to this different HPA-axis profile compared to previous work in adult animals (Allen, & Allen, 1975; Beaulieu, et al., 1989; Kalin, et al., 2004; Machado & Bachevalier, 2008; Regev, et al., 2011; Raper, et al., 2012a).

Studies in adult animals and humans have shown that the amygdala facilitates the HPAaxis stress response, whereas the prefrontal cortex (PFC) has an inhibitory feedback on the HPAaxis (Herman, et al, 2003, 2005). Additionally, the medial PFC has been shown to be involved in top-down inhibitory control over the amygdala (Phillips, et al., 2003; Quirk & Beer, 2006), thereby modulating amygdala activity during emotional tasks and regulating affective responses (Etkin, et al., 2006; Gianaros, et al., 2008; Wager, et al., 2009). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies utilizing resting-state functional connectivity have reported strong negative connectivity between the mPFC and amygdala; higher activity in the mPFC corresponds with lower activity in the amygdala (Urry, et al., 2006; Roy, et al., 2009; Veer, et al., 2011). Additionally, basal cortisol levels are associated with the connection between the amygdala and mPFC (Urry, et al., 2006; Veer, et al., 2011). Urry and colleagues (2006) found that, among healthy adults, a steeper diurnal cortisol curve was related to higher mPFC activity, lower amygdala activity, and better performance during an affective regulation task. This suggests that, in adulthood, the mPFC and amygdala exhibit negative connectivity, and that cortisol levels either influence the crosstalk between these structures, or that the cross-talk between these structures influences basal cortisol.

Yet, this adult-like pattern of negative connectivity between mPFC and amygdala is not the same as the pattern exhibited during development. Healthy children ages 4 to 9 years of age exhibit positive connectivity between the mPFC and amygdala compared to adolescents and adults when viewing fearful faces (Tottenham, personal communication). Dr. Tottenham hypothesizes that, early in life, the amygdala and mPFC have an excitatory connection, with inhibitory inputs from the mPFC to the amygdala developing during childhood, such that the adult-like pattern of negative connectivity is seen later in development. This hypothesis of a developmental change in PFC and amygdala connectivity is supported by data from Gee and colleagues (2012), which show that ventral lateral PFC activation exhibits an age-related increase, whereas the amygdala exhibits a decrease in activity from adolescence to early adulthood. Additional evidence comes from a resting-state fMRI study in rhesus monkeys, which showed a positive connectivity between the mPFC and amygdala at 3 months of age (Sanchez, et al., 2011; Howell, et al., 2011, 2012). Taken together, these data suggest that the connectivity between the PFC and amygdala is different early in development compared to adulthood; therefore, the impact of basal cortisol on this connectivity may also be quite different early in development.

If the connectivity between the amygdala and PFC is different during development compared with adulthood, and the cross-talk between these structures influences basal cortisol levels, then this may explain the divergent results in cortisol found in the current study. Presumably, early damage to the amygdala could alter activity of the PFC, which in turn, will result in differential activation of the HPA-axis (e.g., increased CRH and cortisol secretion). Damage to the amygdala in adulthood, after negative connectivity between the amygdala and PFC had fully developed, would result in increased negative feedback on the HPA-axis (e.g., decreased CRH and cortisol secretion). Given the protracted development of the PFC and developmental changes in the HPA-axis during puberty, it is also possible that the inhibitory influence of the PFC on the HPA-axis would still emerge later in development (e.g., after puberty), despite neonatal amygdala damage. This may explain why an earlier study of neonatal amygdala lesions found a blunted cortisol response to a stressor and flattened (lower cortisol at awakening) diurnal cortisol rhythm (Raper, et al., 2012a) when these measures were taken in adulthood. Another study of adult monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions reported altered resting brain metabolism in multiple brain areas, including the frontal lobe, hippocampus, caudate, and putamen (Machado, et al., 2008). These studies demonstrate that amygdala damage early in development results in long-term alterations of brain metabolism and HPA-axis function. Unfortunately, these two studies did not investigate basal HPA-axis function or brain activity during development, thus limiting the conclusions that can be drawn from them about the role of the amygdala during development. To further investigate this hypothesis of the amygdala having a different role on the HPA-axis during development, future studies should utilize either resting-state MRI or resting-state PET technology to examine the impact of amygdala damage during infancy.

As suggested above, early amygdala damage could alter activity of the PFC, which in turn results in differential activation of the HPA-axis (e.g., increased CRH and cortisol secretion). Elevated glucocorticoids can have a deleterious effect on the brain and body (Dallman, 2010); therefore, compensatory mechanisms may emerge in an attempt to restore homeostasis. One such compensatory mechanism was seen in our study. The reduced response to exogenous CRH suggests that neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals have down-regulated CRH receptors in the anterior pituitary to compensate for high levels of CRF being secreted from the hypothalamus. Other compensatory mechanisms may also be present in these animals in an attempt to restore homeostasis. Evidence in anti-inflammatory research demonstrates the upregulation of GR in peripheral mononuclear cells (Bartholome, et al., 2004; review Stahn, et al., 2007). Whether this type of GR up-regulation may occur in neurons is unknown. If GR up-regulation occurred in neural pathways that coordinate the negative feedback control of the HPA-axis (e.g., PFC, hippocampus), this may explain why the neonatal amygdalectomized animals showed an inability to escape dexamethasone suppression by mid-day. GRs have a higher affinity for dexamethasone over cortisol compared to mineralocorticoid receptors (MR), such that under basal conditions, MRs more readily bind cortisol (Dallman, 2010). Since GRs preferentially bind dexamethasone, and if neonatal amygdalectomized animals' exhibit increased GRs due to up-regulation, then one would expect the greater glucocorticoid negative feedback response exhibited by neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals. Quantifying the number of GRs in neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals compared to control animals would be needed to assess the validity of this hypothesis. However, these animals are still involved in additional aims of this longitudinal study, therefore histological assessment is not possible at this time.

Alternatively, the amygdala may influence the basal tone of the HPA-axis via GABAergic projections to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BnST), which in turn send GABAergic projections to the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus (Radley, 2012; see Figure 1). Disruption of the GABAergic tone of the BnST has been shown to impact anxietylike behaviors and autonomic responses (e.g., increased heart rate) to a social interaction (Sajdyk, et al., 2008). Therefore, the loss of GABAergic input into the BnST after damage to the amygdala may impact the neuroendocrine as well as autonomic output. One way to potentially assess this hypothesis is to utilize [F-18] fluorodoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) combined with behavioral tests to examine the activity of the BnST in animals with neonatal amygdala lesions compared to control animals. This technique has been successfully used to assess alterations in brain metabolism of the amygdala and BnST after orbital frontal cortex lesions in adult rhesus monkeys (Fox, et al., 2010). Future examination of the animals in the current study utilizing FDG-PET may clarify the potential for increased BnST activity among neonatal amygdala lesion animals.

The BnST not only plays an important role in the modulation of the HPA-axis (Myers, et al., 2012; Radley, 2012), it is also involved in anxiety and sustained fear responses (review Walker & Davis, 2008). Interestingly, the BnST exhibits increased arborization of dendrites after exposure to high levels of glucocorticoids (Vyas, et al., 2003). Therefore, the elevated cortisol levels secreted by neonatal amygdalectomized animals could result in an enlarged BnST and consequently lead to increased anxiety in these animals. Certainly, data presented above demonstrate that neonatal amygdalectomized animals exhibit increased fearful defensive behaviors and an inability to modulate other emotional behaviors, suggesting BnST activity influences behavioral responses toward threatening stimuli.

Overall, the data from the current study indicates that the amygdala is important early in life for the normal development and functioning of the HPA-axis. Though previous research in adult animals has shown that amygdala lesions result in lower HPA-axis responses, the elevated pattern of HPA-axis secretion in the current study suggests that the amygdala and its connection may be very different early in life compared to adulthood.

How do these data inform on the role of the amygdala on HPA-axis activity in neuropsychiatric disorders?

Dysregulation of basal HPA-axis secretion is commonly seen in individuals with neuropsychiatric disorders, which is similar to those exhibited by the neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals in the current study. Elevated basal cortisol secretion has been demonstrated in neuropsychiatric disorders, such as autism, schizophrenia, and depression. Specifically, children with autism exhibit increased cortisol at night (Corbett, et al., 2006, 2008, 2009), which is similar to the findings of increased cortisol at sunset in 5-month-old infant monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions. An elevated diurnal cortisol rhythm is exhibited by children with either depression or schizophrenia (Kaufman, et al., 2001; for review see Walker, et al., 2008). Examination of the diurnal cortisol rhythm during preadolescence revealed that neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals exhibited an overall higher cortisol rhythm compared to controls. The elevated basal cortisol secretion exhibited by individuals with depression and schizophrenia has been found to be linked to increased concentrations of CRF found in cerebrospinal fluid (Nemeroff, et al., 1984; Banki, et al., 1987; 1992). The current study also demonstrated elevated CRF in females with neonatal amygdala lesions. Therefore, the impact of early amygdala damage results in an elevated basal HPA-axis profile similar to neuropsychiatric disorders. These data demonstrate that the amygdala is essential during development for the normal functioning of the HPA-axis during infancy and later in preadolescence.

Along with elevated basal cortisol secretion, neuropsychiatric patients often exhibit non-suppression to dexamethasone, which is most likely the result of an impaired negative feedback caused by a reduction in glucocorticoid receptors (Knable, et al., 2001, 2004; Sinclair, et al., 2011a). Despite the elevated diurnal cortisol rhythm and CRF secretion, neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals were able to suppress the morning rise in cortisol, demonstrating that neonatal amygdalectomy does not impair glucocorticoid negative feedback. Interestingly, amygdalectomized animals exhibit super-suppression from dexamethasone, as evidenced by their inability to escape from dexamethasone at mid-day. Super-suppression to low doses of
dexamethasone is commonly found in individuals with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD; review de Kloet, et al., 2006; Savic, et al., 2012), suggesting increased glucocorticoid negative feedback. A recent study found that soldiers who developed PTSD exhibited an increase GR in peripheral mononuclear cells both prior to, and up to 6 months after, deployment (van Zuiden, et al., 2011). If GR number in peripheral cells is a proxy for the amount of GR in neural systems controlling negative feedback of the HPA-axis, then this could explain the super-suppression from dexamethasone exhibited by individuals with PTSD. Lastly, since GRs can be up-regulated in peripheral cells, it is possible that neonatal amygdala-lesioned animals are up-regulating GR in neural systems involved in negative feedback to compensate and attempting to restore homeostatic balance. The glucocorticoid binding capacity of peripheral cells in neonatal amygdala lesion animals may further enlighten the hypothesis of increased GR's and compensatory mechanisms.

The neuroendocrine profile of neonatal amygdala-lesioned monkeys is similar to that observed in several neuropsychiatric disorders. The characteristics displayed by animals with neonatal amygdala lesions do not fully capture the complexity of any single neuropsychiatric disorder. This model is useful in elucidating the precise role that the amygdala plays during development on the normal functioning of the HPA-axis.

Summary

The current study has demonstrated that damage to the amygdala early in life results in a cascade of dysfunction in emotional and neuroendocrine regulation. Although previous studies have merely focused on the role of the amygdala in the reactive stress response (Herman, et al., 2003, 2005), the current study demonstrates the critical role that the amygdala plays in basal

cortisol rhythm, suggesting that the amygdala plays a larger role beyond that of threat detection and rapid HPA-axis response. The current study also demonstrates the importance of normal amygdala functioning in the normal development of other systems, such as emotional regulation and neuroendocrine function. Lastly, the impact of early perturbation to the amygdala results in behavioral and neuroendocrine features similar to those found in neuropsychiatric disorders, suggesting that the amygdala is a key structure that influences the clinical profile of these disorders.

Behavioral	Age		
measure	2.5 months	12 months	
Cage Exploration	Neo-A < Neo-C	Neo-A = Neo-C	
	$M \leq F$	M = F	
Affiliative	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A M > Neo-C M in Stare	
		Neo-A $F >$ Neo-C F in Alone	
Coo vocalizations	Neo-A > Neo-C	Neo-A > Neo-C	
Fearful defensive	Neo-A M > Neo-C M in Profile, Stare	Neo-C: Profile > Alone, Stare	
	Neo-A F > Neo-C F in Alone, Stare	Neo-A: Alone = Profile > Stare	
Freezing	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A < Neo-C	
Hostile defensive	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A < Neo-C	
Scream vocalizations	Neo-A F > Neo-C, Neo-A M	Neo-A = Neo-C	
Anxious behaviors	Neo-A, Neo-C F < Neo-C M	Neo-A = Neo-C	
Tooth grinding	Neo-A, Neo-C F < Neo-C M	Neo-A < Neo-C	
Yawning	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A = Neo-C	
	$M \ge F$	M = F	
Stereotypies	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A = Neo-C	
Self-soothing	Neo-A = Neo-C	Neo-A = Neo-C	
	$M \leq F$	M < F	

Table 1. Summary of emotional reactivity results

Results of behavioral responses to the Human Intruder paradigm across development in males (M) and females (F) with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A) or sham operated controls (Neo-C).

Age	Endocrine	Sex Differences		
(months) measure	Neo-C	Neo-A	Group Differences
2.5	Basal cortisol	M > F	M = F	Neo-A M < Neo-C M
				Neo-A M = Neo-A F, Neo-C F
	Testosterone	M > F	M > F	Neo-A $M =$ Neo-C M
				Neo-A F = Neo-C F
5 D	Diunral rhythm cortisol	M = F	M = F	Neo-A = Neo-C at sunrise, mid-day
				Neo-A > Neo-C at sunset
	Testosterone	M = F	M = F	Neo-A = Neo-C
12	Diurnal rhythm cortisol	M = F	M = F	Neo-A > Neo-C at sunrise, mid-day, sunset
	Testosterone	M = F	M = F	Neo-A = Neo-C
	Stress response: cortisol	M = F	M < F	Neo-A > Neo-C
Str AC CF CF De: CF				Neo-A F > Neo-C, Neo-A M at post-stress
	Stress response: ACTH	M = F	M = F	Neo-A = Neo-C
	ACTH challenge: cortisol	M = F	M = F	Nco-A = Nco-C
	CRH challenge: cortisol	M = F	M = F	Neo-A < Neo-C
	CRH challenge: ACTH	M = F	M > F	Neo-A < Neo-C
	Dexamethasone: cortisol	M=F	M = F	Neo-A = Neo-C at sunrise
				Neo-A < Neo-C at mid-day
	Cerebrospinal fluid: CRF	M = F	M < F	Neo-A F > Neo-A M, Neo-C M, Neo-C F

Table 2. Summary of hormone results

Results of hormone analyses across development in males (M) and females (F) with neonatal amygdala lesions (Neo-A) or sham operated controls (Neo-C).

References

- Abdelgadir, S.E., Roselli, C.E., Choate, J.V.A., and Resko, J.A., (1999). Androgen receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in brains and pituitaries of male rhesus monkeys: Studies in distribution, hormonal control, and relationship to luteinizing hormones secretion. Biology of Reproduction, 60: 1251-1256.
- Adolphs, R. (2001). The neurobiology of social cognition. Current Opinions in Neurobiology, 11(2): 231-239.
- Adolphs, R., Tranel, D., and Damasio, A.R. (1998). The human amygdala in social judgment. Nature, 393: 470-474.
- Allen, J.P., and Allen, C.F. (1975). Amygdalar participation in tonic ACTH section in the rat. Neuroendocrinology, 19: 115-125.
- Altmann, S.A. (1962). A field study of the sociobiology of rhesus monkeys, Macaca mulatta. Annals New York Academy of Sciences, 102: 338-435.
- Amaral, D.G., Price, J.L., Pitkanen, A., and Carmichael, S.T. (1992). Anatomical organization of the primate amygdaloid complex. In J.P. Aggleton (Eds.), The Amygdala: Neurobiological Aspects of Emotion, Memory, and Mental Dysfunction. (1st ed. pp 1-66). New York: Wiely-Liss, Inc.
- Amaral, D.G., Capitanio, J.P., Jourdain, M., Mason, W.A., Mendoza, S.P., and Prather, M. (2003). The amygdala: is it an essential component of the neural network for social cognition? Neuropsychologia, 41: 235-240.
- Anand, K.J.S., and Aynsley-Green, A. (1988). Measuring the severity of surgical stress in newborn infants. Journal of Pediatric Surgery, 23: 297-305.

Andersen, S.L. (2003). Trajectories of brain development: point of vulnerability or window of

opportunity? Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 27: 3-18.

- Arce, M., Michopoulos, V., Shepard, K.N., Ha, Q.C., and Wilson, M.E. (2010). Diet choice, cortisol reactivity, and emotional feeding in socially housed rhesus monkeys. Physiology and Behavior, 101: 446-455.
- Aylward, E.H., Minshew, N.J, Goldstein, G., Honeycutt, N.A., Augustine, A.M., Yates, K.O.,
 Barta, P.E., and Pearlson, G.D. (1999). MRI volumes of amygdala and hippocampus in non-mentally retarded autistic adolescents and adults. Neurology, 53: 2145-2150.
- Bachevalier, J. (2000). The amygdala, social cognition, and autism. In J.P. Aggelton (Eds.), The Amygdala. A Functional Analysis (2nd ed. pp. 509-543). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bachevalier, J., and Meunier, M. (2005). The neurobiology of social-emotional cognition in nonhuman primates. In A. Easton, & N.J. Emery (Eds.), The Cognitive Neuroscience of Social Behavior (pp. 19-57). East Sussex: Psychology Press.
- Banki, C.M., Bissette, G., Arato, M., O'Connor, L., and Nemeroff, C.B. (1987). CSF corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunreactivity in depression and schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry, 144: 873-877.
- Banki, C.M., Karmacsi, L., Bissette, G., and Nemeroff, C.B. (1992). CSF corticotropin releasing hormone, somatostatin, and thyrotropin releasing hormone in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Research, 43: 13-21.
- Barrett, C.E., Noble, P., Hanson, E., Pine, D.S., Winslow, J.T., andNelson, E.E. (2009). Early adverse rearing experiences alter sleep-wake patterns and plasma cortisol levels in juvenile rhesus monkeys. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 34: 1029-1040.

Bartholome, B., Spies, C.M., Gaber, T., Schuchmann, S., Berki, T., Kunkel, D., Bienert, M.,

Radbruch, A., Burmester, G.R., Lauster, R., Scheffold, A., Buttgereit, F. (2004). Membrane glucocorticoid receptor (mGCR) are expressed in normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and upregulated after in vitro stimulation and in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. FASEB J, 18: 70-80.

- Beaulieu, S., Di Paolo, T., and Barden, N., (1986). Control of ACTH secretion by the central nucleus of the amygdala: Implication of the serotoninergic system and its relevance to the glucocorticoid delayed negative feedback mechanism. Neuroendocrinology, 44: 247-254.
- Beaulieu, S., Pelletier, G., Vaudry, H., and Barden, N. (1989). Influence of the central nucleus of the amygdala on the content of corticotrophin-releasing factor in the median eminence. Neuroendocrinology, 49: 255-261.
- Bliss-Moreau, E., Toscano, J.E., Bauman, M.D., Mason, W.A., and Amaral, D.G. (2010).
 Neonatal amygdala or hippocampus lesions influence responsiveness to objects.
 Developmental Psychobiology, 52: 487-503.
- Boas, M., Boisen, K.A., Virtanen, H.E., Kaleva, M., Suomi, A-M., Schmidt, I.M., Damgaard, I. N., Kai, C.M., Chellakooty, M., Skakkebaek, N.S., Toppari, J., and Main, K.M., (2006).
 Postnatal penile length and growth rate correlate to serum testosterone levels: a longitudinal study of 1962 normal boys. European Journal of Endocrinology, 154: 125-129.
- Bouvattier, C., Carel, J-C., Lecointre, C., David, A., Sultan, C., Bertrand, A-M., Morel, Y., and Chaussain, J-L., (2002). Postnatal changes in T, LH, and FSH in 46,XY infants with mutations in the AR gene. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 87: 29-32.

Boyce, W.T., Champoux, M., Suomi, S.J., and Gunnar, M.R., (1995). Salivary cortisol in

nursery-reared rhesus monkeys: reactivity to peer interactions and altered circadian activity. Developmental Psychobiology, 28: 257-267.

- Brock, M.E., Freuler, A., Baranek, G.T., Watson, L.R., Poe, M.D., and Sabatino, A. (2012).
 Temperament and sensory features of children with autism. Journal of Autism and
 Developmental Disorders, electronic publication ahead of press DOI 10.1007/s10803-012-1472-5
- Burgess, L.H., and Handa, R.J. (1992). Chronic estrogen-induced alteration in adrenocorticotropin and corticosterone secretion, and glucocorticoid receptor-mediated functions in female rats. Endocrinology, 131: 1261-1269.
- Caparros-Lefebvre, D., Girard-Buttaz, I., Reboul, S., Lebert, F., Cabaret, M., Verier, A., Steinling, M., Pruvo, J.P., and Petit, H. (1996). Cognitive and psychiatric impairment in herpes simplex virus encephalitis suggest involvement of the amygdalo-frontal pathways. Journal of Neurology, 243: 248-256.
- Capitanio, J.P., Mendoza, S.P., Mason, W.A., and Maninger, N. (2005). Rearing environment and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal regulation in young rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Developmental Psychobiology, 46: 318-330.
- Champoux, M., Coe, C.L., Schanberg, S.M., Kuhn, C.M., Suomi, S.J. (1989). Hormonal effects of early rearing conditions in the infant rhesus monkey. American Journal of Primatology, 19: 111-117.
- Chareyron, L.J., Banta Lavenex, P., Amaral, D.G., and Lavenex, P. (2012). Postnatal development of the amygdala: A sterological study in macaque monkeys. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 520: 1965-1984.

Choate, J.V., Slayden, O.D., and Resko, J.A. (1998). Immunocytochemical localization of

androgen receptors in brains of developing and adult male rhesus monkeys. Endocrine, 8: 51-60.

- Clarke, A.S. (1993). Social rearing effects on HPA axis activity over early development and in response to stress in rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychobiology, 26: 433-446.
- Collura, L.A., Hoffman, J.B., and Wilson, M.E. (2009). Administration of human leptin differentially affects parameters of cortisol secretion in socially housed female rhesus monkeys. Endocrine, 36: 530-537.
- Corbett, B.A., Schupp, C.W., Levine, S., and Mendoza, S. (2009). Comparing cortisol, stress, and sensory sensitivity in children with autism. Autism Research, 2: 39-49.
- Corbett, B.A., Mendoza, S., Abdullah, M., Wegelin, J.A., and Levine, S. (2006). Cortisol circadian rhythms and response to stress in children with autism.Psychoneuroendocrinology, 31: 59-68.
- Corbett, B.A., Mendoza, S., Wegelin, J.A., Carmean, V., and Levine, S. (2008). Variable cortisol circadian rhythms in children with autism and anticipatory stress. Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience, 33: 227-234
- Chutorian A.B. and Antunes J.L. (1981). Klüver-Bucy syndrome and Herpes encephalitis: Case report. Neurosurgery, 8: 388-390.
- Dallman, M.F. (2010). Glucocorticoid negative feedback. In G. Fink (ed), Stress Science: Neuroendocrinology. (pp 81-85). Oxford: Elsevier Inc.
- Davis, M. (2000). The role of the amygdala in conditioned and unconditioned fear and anxiety.
 In J.P. Aggleton (Eds.), The Amygdala: A Functional Analysis. (2nd ed. pp 117-153).
 New York: Oxford University Press.

Davis, M., and Whalen, P.J. (2001). The amgydala: vigilance and emotion. Molecular

Psychiatry, 6: 13-34.

- Davis, M., and Emory, E. (1995). Sex differences in neonatal stress reactivity. Child Development, 66: 14-27.
- de Kloet, E. R., Vermetten, E., Geuze, E., Kavelaars, A., Heijnen, C.J., and Westenberg, H.G.,
 (2006). Assessment of HPA-axis function in posttraumatic stress disorder:
 pharmacological and non-pharmacological challenge tests, a review. Journal of
 Psychiatry Research, 40: 550-567.
- de Kloet, E. R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M.S., and Joels, M. (1998). Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. Endocrine Reviews, 19(3): 269-301.
- Diamond, D.M., Bennett, M.C., Fleshner, M., and Rose, G.M. (1992). Inverted-U relationship between the level of peripheral corticosterone and the magnitude of hippocampal primed burst potentiation. Hippocampus, 2(4): 421-430.
- Downer, J.L.deC. (1961). Changes in visual Gnostic functions and emotional behaviour following unilateral temporal pole damage in the "split-brain" monkey. Nature, 191(4783): 50-51.
- Ehle, A.L., Mason, J.W., and Pennington, L.L. (1977). Plasma growth hormone and cortisol changes following limbic stimulation in conscious monkeys. Neuroendocrinology, 23: 52-60.
- Elmlinger, M.W., Kühnel, W., and Ranke, M.B. (2002). Reference ranges for serum concentrations of lutropin (LH), follitropin (FSH), estradiol (E2), prolactin, progesterone, sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS), cortisol, and ferritin in neonates, children and young adults. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, 40: 1151-1160.

- Essex, M.J., Klein, M.H., Cho, E., and Kalin, N.H. (2002). Maternal stress beginning in infancy may sensitize children to later stress exposure: Effects on cortisol and behavior.
 Biological Psychiatry., 52, 776-784.
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Peraza, D.M., Kandel, E.R., and Hirsch, J. (2006). Resolving emotional conflict: A role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. Neuron, 51: 871-882.
- Feldman, S., Conforti, N., and Saphier, D. (1990). The preoptic area and bednucleus of the stria terminalis are involved in the effects of the amygdala on adrenocortical secretion. Neuroscience, 37(3): 775-779.
- Feldman, S., Conforti, N., Itzik, A., and Weidenfeld, J. (1994). Differential effect of amygdaloid lesions on CRF-41, ACTH, and corticosterone response following neural stimuli. Brain Research, 658: 21-26.
- Feldman, S., Conforti, N., and Weidenfeld, J. (1995). Limbic pathways and hypothalamic neurotransmitters mediating adrenocortical responses to neural stimuli. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 19: 235-240.
- Feldman, S., and Weidenfeld, J. (1998). The excitatory effects of the amygdala on hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical responses are mediated by hypothalamic norepinephrine, serotonin, and CRF-41. Brain Research Bulletin, 45(4): 389-393.
- Forest, M. G., Sizonenko, P. C., Cathiard, A. M., and Bertrand, J. (1974). Hypophyso-gonadal function in humans during the first year of life. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 53: 819-828.
- Forest, M. G. (1979). Plasma androgens (testosterone and 4-androstenedione) and 17hydroxyprogesterone in the neonatal, prepubertal, and peripubertal periods in the human

and the rat: Differences between species. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry, 11: 543-548.

- Fox, A.S., Shelton, S.E., Oakes, T.R., Converse, A.K., Davidson, R.J., and Kalin, N.H. (2010). Orbitofrontal cortex lesions alter anxiety-related activity in the primate bed nucleus of stria terminalis. Journal of Neuroscience, 30: 7023-7027.
- Frankel, R.J., Jenkins, J.S., and Wright, J.J. (1978). Pituitary-adrenal response to stimulation of the limbic system and lateral hypothalamus in the rhesus monkey (Macaca Mulatta).
 Acta Endocrinologica, 88: 209-216.
- Freese, J.L., and Amaral, D.G. (2009). Neuroanatomy of the primate amygdala. In P.J. Whalen and E.A. Phelps (Eds.), The Human Amygdala. (pp 1-42). New York: Gilford Press, Inc.
- Gee, D.G., Karlsgodt, K.H., van Erp, T.G.M., Bearden, C.E., Lieberman, M.D., Belger, A.,
 Perkins, D.O., Olvet, D.M., Cornblatt, B.A., Constable, T., Woods, S.W., Addington, J.,
 Cadenhead, K.S., McGlashan, T.H., Seidman, L.J., Tsauang, M.T., Walker, E.F., and
 Cannon, T.D. (2012). Altered age-related trajectories of amygdala-prefronal circuitry in
 adolescents at clinical high risk for psychosis: A preliminary study. Schizophrenia
 Research, 134: 1-9.
- Geoffroy, M-C., Côté, S.M., Parent, S., and Séguin, J.R. (2006). Daycare attendance, stress, and mental health. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 51, 607-615.
- Gianaros, P.J., Sheu, L.K., Matthews, K.A., Jennings, J.R., Manuck, S.B., and Hariri, A.R. (2008). Individual differences in stressor-evoked blood pressure reactivity vary with activation, volume, and functional connectivity of the amygdala. Journal of Neuroscience, 28: 990-999.
- Giedd, J.N. (1997). Normal development. Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 6: 265-282.

- Giedd, J.N., Snell, J.W., and Lange, N. (1996). Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of human brain development: Ages 4-18. Cerebral Cortex, 6: 551-560.
- Gibson, K.R. (1991). Myelnation and behavioral development: A comparative perspective on questions of noeteny, altriciality and intelligence. In K.R. Gibson & A.C. Peterson (Eds.), Brain Maturation and Cognitive Development: Comparative and Cross-cultural Perspectives (pp. 29-63). New York: Aldine De Gruyter.
- Goncharova, N.D., Shmaliy, A.V., Bogatyrenko, T.N., and Koltover, V.K. (2006). Correlation between activity of antioxidant enzymes and circadian rhythms of corticosteroids in Macaca mulatta monkeys of different age. Experimental Gerontology, 41: 778-783.
- Goosens, K.A., and Maren, S. (2001). Contextual and auditory fear conditioning are mediated by the lateral, basal and central amygdaloid nuclei in rats. Learning and Memory, 8: 148-155.
- Goursaud, A-P.S., Mendoza, S.P., and Capitanio, J.P. (2006). Do neonatal bilateral ibotenic acid lesions of the hippocampal formation or of the amygdala impair HPA axis responsiveness and regulation in infant rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta)? Brain Research, 1071: 97-104.
- Graves, F.C., and Wallen, K. (2006). Androgen-induced yawning in rhesus monkey females is reversed with a nonsteroidal anti-androgen. Hormones and Behavior, 49: 233-236.
- Gunnar, M.R., Kryzer, E., Van Ryzin, M.J., and Phillips, D.A. (2011). The import of the cortisol rise in child care differs as a function of behavioral inhibition. Developmental Psychology, 47: 792-803.

Häfner, H. (2003). Gender differences in schizophrenia. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 28: 17-54.Hadidian, J. (1980). Yawning in an old world monkey, Macaca Nigra (Primates:

Cercopithecidea). Behaviour, 75: 133-147.

- Hassett, J.M., Rupp, H.A., and Wallen, K. (2010). Social segregation in male, but not female yearling rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta). American Journal of Primatology, 72: 87-92.
- Hauger, R.L., and Aguilera, G. (1993). Regulation of pituitary corticotropin releasing hormone(CRH) receptors by CRH: Interaction with vasopressin. Endocrinology, 133: 1708-1714.
- Herman, J.P., Figueiredo, H., Mueller, N.K., Ulrich-Lai, Y., Ostrander, M.M., Choi, D.C., and Cullinan, W.E. (2003). Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 24: 151-180.
- Herman, J.P., Ostrander, M.M., Mueller, N.K., and Figueiredo, H. (2005). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: Hypothalmo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 29: 1201-1213.
- Higley, J.D., Suomi, S.J., and Linnoila, M., (1992). A longitudinal assessment of CSF
 monoamine metabolite and plasma cortisol concentrations in young rhesus monkeys.
 Biological Psychiatry, 32: 127-145.
- Hinde, R.A., Rowell, T.E., and Spencer-Booth, Y. (1964). Behavior of socially living rhesus monkey in their first six months. Proceedings of the Zoological Society London, 143: 609-649.
- Howell, B.R., and Sanchez, M.M. (2012). Developmental effects of adverse early experience: prefrontal-amygdala circuits. Wisconsin Symposium on Emotion (Madison, WI; April 18-19)

Howell, B.R., Shi, Y., Zhang, X., Nair, G., Hu, X., Styner, M., and Sanchez, M.M. (2011).

Adverse early experience affects brain white matter tract integrity: a longitudinal DTI study in infant rhesus monkeys. 41st Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience (SfN). (Washington, DC; Nov 12-16)

- Iwai, E., and Yukie, M. (1987). Amygdalofugal and amygdalopetal connections with modalityspecific visual cortical areas in macaques (Macaca Fuscata, M. Mulatta, and M. Fascicularis). Journal of Comparative Neurology, 261: 362-387.
- Jahn AL, Fox AS, Abercrombie HC, Shelton SE, Oakes TR, and Davidson RJ, Kalin NH (2010) Subgenual prefrontal cortex activity predicts individual differences in hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal activity across different contexts. Biological Psychiatry, 67: 175-181.
- Jonetz-Mentzel, L., and Wiedemann, G., 1993. Establishment of reference ranges for cortisol in neonates, infants, children, and adolescents. European Journal of Clinical Chemistry Clinics., 31: 525-529.
- Kalin, N., and Shelton, S. E. (1989). Defensive behaviors in infant rhesus monkeys:Environmental cues and neurochemical regulation. Science, 243: 1718-1721.
- Kalin, N.H., Shelton, S.E., and Davidson, R.J. (2004). The role of the central nucleus of the amygdala in mediating fear and anxiety in the primate. The Journal of Neuroscience, 24(24): 5506-5515.
- Kalin, N.H., Shelton, S.E., Davidson, R.J., and Kelley, A.E. (2001). The primate amygdala mediates acute fear but not the behavioral and physiological components of anxious temperament. The Journal of Neuroscience, 21(6): 2067-2074.
- Kalin, N.H., Shelton, S.E., Rickman, M., and Davidson, R.J. (1998). Individual differences in freezing and cortisol in infant and mother rhesus monkeys. Behavioral Neuroscience, 112(1): 251-254.

- Kalin, N.H., Shelton, S.E., and Takahashi, L.K. (1991). Defensive behaviors in infant rhesus monkeys: Ontogeny and context-dependent selective expression. Child Development, 62: 1175-1183.
- Kaufman, J., Martin, A., King, R.A., and Charney, D. (2001). Are child-, adolescent-, and adultonset depression on and the same disorder? Biological Psychiatry, 49: 980-1001.
- Keller-Wood, M.E., and Dallman, M.F. (1984). Corticosteroid inhibition of ACTH secretion. Endocrine Rev, 5: 1-24.
- Kling, A., and Green, P.C. (1967). Effects of neonatal amygdalaectomy in maternally reared and maternally deprived macaque. Nature, 213: 742-743.
- Klüver, H., and Bucy, P.C. (1939). Preliminary analysis of functions of the temporal lobes in monkeys. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 42(6): 979-1000.
- Knable, M.B., Barci, B.M., Webster, M.J., Meador-Woodruff, J., and Torrey, E.F. (2004).
 Molecular abnormalities of the hippocampus in severe psychiatric illness: postmortem findings from the Stanley Neurophathology Consortium. Molecular Psychiatry, 9: 609-620.
- Knable, M.B., Torrey, E.F., Webster, M.J., and Bartko, J.J. (2001). Multivariate analysis of prefrontal cortical data from the Stanley Foundation Neuropathology Consortium. Brain Research Bulletin, 15, 651-659.
- Knutsson, U., Dahlgren, J., Marcus, C., Rosberg, S., Brönnegard, M., Stierna, P., and Albertsson-Wikland, K., (1997). Circadian cortisol rhythm in healthy boys and girls: Relationship with age, growth, body composition, and pubertal development. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 82: 536-540.

Koupil, I., Mann, V., Leon, D.A., Lundberg, U., Byberg, L., and Vågerö, D. (2005). Morning

cortisol does not mediate the association of size at birth with blood pressure in children born from full-term pregnancies. Clinical Endocrinology, 62: 661-66.

- Lambe, E.K., Fillman, S.G., Webster, M.J., and Shannon Weickert, C. (2011). Serotonin receptor expression in human prefrontal cortex: balancing excitation and inhibition across postnatal development. PLoS One, 6: e22799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022799
- Lambe EK, Krimer LS, and Goldman-Rakic PS (2000) Differential postnatal development of catecholamine and serotonin inputs to identified neurons in prefrontal cortex of rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 20: 8780–8787.
- Lanska, D.J. and Lanska, M.J. (1993). Klüver-Bucy syndrome in juvenile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Journal of Child Neurology, 9: 67-69.
- Larson, M.C., White, B.P., Chochran, A., Donzella, B., and Gunnar, M. (1998). Dampening of the cortisol response to handling at 3 months in human infants and its relation to sleep, circadian cortisol activity, and behavioral distress. Developmental Psychobiology, 33: 327-337.
- Lidow, M.S., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., and Rakic, P. (1991). Synchronized overproduction of neurotransmitter receptors in diverse regions of the primate cerebral cortex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 88: 10218-10221.
- Machado, C.J., and Bachevalier, J. (2003). Non-human primate models of childhood psychopathology: the promise and the limitations. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 44(1): 64-87.
- Machado, C.J., and Bachevalier, J. (2008). Behavioral and hormonal reactivity to threat: Effects of selective amygdala, hippocampal, or orbital frontal lesions in monkeys.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, 33: 926-941.

- Machado, C. J., Emery, N. J., Mason, W. A., and Amaral, D. G. (2010). Selective changes in foraging behavior following bilateral neurotoxic amygdala lesions in rhesus monkeys.
 Behavioral Neuroscience, 124: 761-772.
- Malkova, L., Lex, C. K., Mishkin, M., and Saunders, R. C. (2001). MRI-based evaluation of locus and extent of neurotoxic lesions in monkeys. Hippocampus, 11(4): 361-370.
- Mann, D. R., Gould, K. G., Collins, D. C., and Wallen, K. (1989). Blockade of neonatal activation of the pituitary-testicular axis: Effect on perpubertal luteinizing hormone and testosterone secretion and on testicular development in male monkeys. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 68(3): 600-607.
- Mason, J.W. (1959). Plasma 17-hydroxycorticosteroid levels during electrical stimulation of the amygdaloid complex in conscious monkeys. American Journal of Physiology, 196(1): 44-48.
- Mason, W.A., Capitanio, J.P., Machado, C.J., Mendoza, S.P., and Amaral, D.G. (2006).Amygdalectomy and responsiveness to novelty in rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta):Generality and individual consistency of effects. Emotion, 6(1): 73-81.
- Mason, W.A., Green, P.C., and Posepanko, C.J. (1960). Sex differences in affective-social responses of rhesus monkeys. Behaviour, 16: 74-83.
- McClure, E.B., Monk, C.S., Nelson, E.E., Zarahn, E., Leibenluft, E., Bilder, R.M., Charney,
 D.S., Ernst, M., and Pine, D.S. (2004). A developmental examaination of gender
 differences in the brain engagement during evaluation of threat. Biological Psychiatry,
 55: 1047-1055.
- McCormack, K., Newman, T.K., Higley, J.D., Maestripieri, D., and Sanchez, M.M. (2009). Serotonin transporter gene variation, infant abuse, and responsiveness to stress in rhesus

macaque mothers and infants. Hormones and Behavior, 55: 538-547.

- Mendelson, M.J. (1982a). Clinical examination of visual and social responses in infant rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychology, 18(5): 658-664.
- Mendelson, M.J., Haith, M.M., and Goldman-Rakic, P.S. (1982b). Face scanning and responsiveness to social cues in infant rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychology, 18(2): 222-228.
- Meunier, M., Bachevalier, J., Murray, E.A., Malkova, L., and Mishkin, M. (1999). Effects of aspiration versus neurotoxic lesions of the amygdala on emotional responses in monkeys. European Journal of Neuroscience, 11: 4403-4418.
- Meunier, M., and Bachevalier, J. (2002) Comparison of emotional responses in monkeys with rhinal cortex or amygdala lesions. Emotion, 2: 147-161.
- Meunier, M, Cirilli, L, Bachevalier, J. (2006) Responses to affective stimuli in monkeys with entorhinal and perirhinal cortex lesions. Journal of Neuroscience, 26: 7718-7722.
- Meyer, J.S., and Bowman, R.E. (1972). Rearing experience, stress and adrenocorticoisteroids in the rhesus monkey. Physiology and Behavior, 8: 339-343.
- Michael, R.P., Rees, H.D., and Bonsall, R.W. (1989). Sites in the male primate brain at which testosterone acts as an androgen. Brain Research, 502: 11-20.
- Mosconi, M.W., Cody-Hazlett, H., Poe, M.D., Gerig, G., Gimpel-Smith, R., and Piven, J.
 (2009). Longitudinal study of amygdala volume and joint attention in 2- to 4-year-old children with autism. Archives of General Psychiatry, 66: 509-516.
- Muller, J., Corodimas, K.P., Fridel, Z., and LeDoux, J.E. (1997). Functional inactivation of the lateral and basal nuclei of the amygdala by muscimol infusion prevents fear conditioning to an explicit conditioned stimulus and to the contextual stimuli. Behavioral

Neuroscience, 111(4): 683-691.

- Munck, A., Guyre, P.M., and Holbrook, N.J. (1984). Physiological functions of glucocorticoids in stress and their relation to pharmacological actions. Endocrine Reviews, 5: 25-44.
- Myers, B., McKlveen, J.M., and Herman, J.P. (2012). Neural regulation of the stress response: The many faces of feedback. Cell Mol Neurobiol, online ahead of press doi 10.1007s10571-012-9801-y
- Nacewicz, B.M., Dalton, K.M., Johnstone, T., Long, M.T., McAuliff, E.M., Oakes, T.R.,
 Alexander, A.L., and Davidson, R.J. (2006). Amygdala volume and nonverbal social impairment in adolescent and adult males with autism. Archive of General Psychiatry, 63: 1417-1428.
- Nemanic, S., Alvarado, M. C., Price, R. E., Jackson, E. F., and Bachevalier, J. (2002).
 Assessment of locus and extent of neurotoxic lesions in monkeys using neuroimaging techniques: a replication. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 121(2): 199-209.
- Nemeroff, C.B., Widerlöv, E., Bissette, G., Walléus, H., Karlsson, I., Eklund, K., Kilts, C.D., Loosen, P.T., and Vale, W. (1984). Elevated concentrations of CSF corticotropinreleasing factor—like immunoreactivity in depressed patients. Science, 226(4680): 1342-1344.
- Netherton, C., Goodyer, I., Tamplin, A., and Herbert, J. (2004). Salivary cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone in relations to puberty and gender. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 29: 125-140.
- Norman, R.L., and Spies, H.G. (1981). Brain lesions in infant female rhesus monkeys: Effects on menarche and first ovulation and on diurnal rhythms of prolactin and cortisol. Endocrinology, 108: 1723-1729.

- Oitzl, M.S., Champagne, D.L., van der Veen, R., and de Kloet, R. (2009). Brain development under stress: Hypotheses of glucocorticoid actions revisited. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 34: 853-866.
- Ostby, Y., Tamness, C.K., Fjell, A.M., Westlye, L.T., Due-Tonnessen, P., and Walhovd, K.B. (2009). Heterogeneity in subcortical brain development: A structural magnetic resonance imaging study of brain maturation from 8 to 30 years. Journal of Neuroscience, 29: 11772-11782.
- Ouellet-Morin, I., Tremblay, R.E., Boivin, M., Meaney, M., Kramer, M., and Côté, S.M. (2010).
 Diurnal cortisol secretion at home and in child care: a prospective study of 2-year-old toddlers. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 51: 295-303.
- Patil, C.G., Lad, SP, Katznelson, L., and Laws, ER. (2007). Brain atrophy and cognitive deficits in Cushing's disease. Neurosurg Focus, 23: E11.
- Payne, C., Machado, C.J., Bliwise, N.G., and Bachevalier, J. (2010). Maturation of the hippocampal formation and amygdala in Macaca mulatta: A volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. Hippocampus, 20: 922-935.
- Perlman, W.R., Webster, M.J., Herman, M.M., Kleinman, J.E., and Weickert, C.S. (2007). Agerelated differences in glucocorticoid receptor mRNA levels in the human brain. Neurobiology of Aging, 28: 447-458.
- Phillips, M.L., Drevets, W.C., Rauch, S.L., and Lane, R. (2003). Neurobiology of emotion perception I: the neural basis of normal emotion perception. Biological Psychiatry, 54: 504-514.
- Phoenix, C.H., Slob, A.K., and Goy, R.W. (1973). Effects of castration and replacement therapy on sexual behavior of adult male rhesus. Journal of Comparative Physiological

Psychology, 84: 472-481.

- Pierce, K., Muller, R-A., Ambrose, J., Allen, G., and Courchesne, E. (2001). Face processing occurs outside the fusiform 'face area' in autism: Evidence from fMRI. Brain, 124: 2059-2073.
- Pitkänen, A., (2000). Connectivity of the rat amygdaloid complex. The Amygdala: A Functional Analysis. J. P. Aggelton. New York, Oxford University Press: 31-115.
- Pomerantz, S. M., and Sholl, S. A. (1987). Analysis of sex and regional differences in androgen receptors in fetal rhesus monkey brain. Developmental Brain Research, 36: 151-154.
- Prather, M.D., Lavenex, P., Mauldin-Jourdain, M.L., Mason, W.A., Capitanio, J.P., Mendoza, S.P., and Amaral, D.G. (2001). Increased social fear and decreased fear of objects in monkeys with neonatal amygdala lesions. Neuroscience, 106(4): 653-658.
- Prewitt, C.M., and Herman, J.P. (1994). Lesion of the central nucleus of the amygdala decreases basal CRH mRNA expression and stress-induced ACTH release. Annals of New York Academy of Sciences, 746: 438-440.
- Price, J.L., and Amaral, D.G. (1981). An autoradiographic study of the projections of the central nucleus of the monkey amygdala. Journal of Neuroscience, 1: 1242-1259.
- Provost, B., Crowe, T. K., Osbourn, P. L., McClain, C., and Skipper, B. J. (2010). Mealtime behaviors of preschool children: comparison of children with autism spectrum disorder and children with typical development. Physical and Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics, 30: 220-233.
- Quirk, G.J., and Beer, J.S. (2006). Prefrontal involvement in the regulation of emotion:
 convergence of rate and human studies. Current Opinion in Neuorbiology, 16: 723-727.
 Radley, J.J. (2012). Toward a limbic cortical inhibitory network: implications for

hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses following chronic stress. Front Behav Neurosci, 6: 1-10.

- Raper, J., Wilson, M., Sanchez, M., Machado, C., and Bachevalier, J. (2012a). Neonatal amygdala lesions in rhesus monkeys alter emotional and neuroendocrine responses to an acute stressor: Human Intruder Paradigm. Psychoneuroendocrinology, submitted.
- Raper, J., Bachevalier, J., Wallen, K., and Sanchez, M. (2012b). Basal cortisol levels after neonatal amygdala lesions in infant rhesus monkeys. Psychoneuroendocrinology, submitted.
- Raper, J., Sanchez, M., Wallen, K., and Bachevalier, J. (2012c). Sex differences in emotional reactivity of infant rhesus monkeys during the Human Intruder Paradigm and the impact of neonatal amgydala lesions. Biological Psychiatry, to be submitted.
- Raznahan, A., Lerch, J.P., Lee, N., Greenstein, D., Wallace, G.L., Stockman, M., Clasen, L., Shaw, P.W., and Giedd, J.N. (2011). Patterns of coordinated anatomical change in human cortical development: a longitudinal neuroimaging study of maturational coupling. Neuron, 72: 873-884.
- Regev, L., Tsoory, M., Gil, S., and Chen, A. (2012). Site-specific genetic manipulation of amygdala corticotropin-releasing factor reveals its imperative role in mediating behavioral response to challenge. Biological Psychiatry, 71: 317-326.
- Rempel-Clower, N. L., and Barbas, H. (1998). Topographic organization of connections between the hypothalamus and prefrontal cortex in the rhesus monkey. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 398: 393-419.
- Rinehart, N.J., Cornish, K.M., and Tonge, B.J. (2011). Gender differences in neurodevelopmental disorders: Autism and Fragile X Syndrome. Current Topics in

Behavioral Neurosciences, 8: 209-229.

- Robinson, J. A., and Bridson, W. E. (1978). Neonatal hormone patterns in the macaque. I. Steroids. Biology of Reproduction, 19: 773-778.
- Rodman, H.R. (1994). Development of inferior temporal cortex in the monkey. Cerebral Cortex, 4(5): 484-498.
- Romeo, R.D., Lee, SJ., Chhua, N., McPherson, C.R., and McEwen, B.S. (2004a). Testosterone cannot activate an adult-like stress response in prepubertal male rats. Neuroendocrinology, 79: 125-132.
- Romeo, R.D., Lee, SJ., and McEwen, B.S. (2004b). Differential stress reactivity in intact and ovariectomized prepubertal and adult female rats. Neuroendocrinology, 80, 387-393.
- Romeo, R.D., McEwen, B.S. 2006. Stress and the adolescent brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1094: 202-214.
- Rossitch, E., and Oakes, W.J. (1989). Klüver-Bucy syndrome in a child with bilateral arachnoid cysts: report of a case. Neurosurgery, 24: 110-112.
- Roy, A.K., Shehzad, Z., Margulies, D.S., Kelly, A.M.C., Uddin, L.Q., Gotimer, K., Biswal, B.B., Castellanos, F.X., and Milham, M.P. (2009). Functional connectivity of the human amygdala using resting state MRI. NeuorImage, 45: 614-626.
- Saint-Maurice, P.F., Welk, G.J., Silva, P., Siahpush, M., and Huberty, J. (2011). Assessing children's physical activity behaviors at recess: a multi-method approach. Pediatric Exercise Science, 23, 585-599.
- Sanchez, M.M., McCormack, K., Grand, A.P., Fulks, R., Graff, A., and Maestripieri, D. (2010). Effects of sex and early maternal abuse on adrenocorticotropin hormone and cortisol responses to the corticotrophin-releasing hormone challenge during the first 3 years of

life in group-living rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychopathology, 22: 45-53.

- Sanchez, M.M., Noble, P.M., Lyon, C.K., Plotsky, P.M., Davis, M., Nemeroff, C.B., and Winslow, J.T. (2005). Alterations in diurnal cortisol rhythm and acoustic startle response in nonhuman primates with adverse rearing. Biological Psychiatry, 57: 373-381.
- Sanchez, M.M., Shi, Y., Zhang, X., Nair, G., Grayson, D., Hu, X., Fisher, P., Fair, D., Styner,
 M., and Howell, B.R. (2011). Effects of early life stress on infant macaque brain
 development: a longitudinal study of structural and functional connectivity changes using
 diffusion tensor imaging and resting state fMRI. 50th Annual Meeting of the American
 College of Neuropsychopharmacology (ACNP). (Waikoloa, HI; Dec 4-8)
- Sapolsky, R.M., Krey, L.C., and McEwen, B.S. (1986). The neuroendocrinology of stress and aging: the glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis. Endocrine Reviews, 7: 284–301.
- Sapolsky, R.M., Romero, M., and Munck, A.U. (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocrine Reviews, 21(1): 55-89.
- Sapolsky, R.M., Zola-Morgan, S., and Squire, L.R. (1991). Inhibition of glucocorticoid secretion by the hippocampal formation in the primate. Journal of Neuroscience, 11: 3695-3704.
- Savic, D., Knezevic, G., Damjanovic, S., Spiric, Z., and Matic, G. (2012). Is there a biological difference between trauma-related depression and PTSD? DST says 'No'.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, online ahead of press doi: 10.1016/jpsyneuen.2012.02.005
- Schumann, C.M., Barnes, C.C., Lord, C., and Courchesne, E. (2009). Amygdala enlargement in toddlers with autism related to severity of social and communication impairments.
 Biological Psychiatry, 66: 942-949.

Schumann, C.M., Bauman, M.D., and Amaral, D.G. (2011). Abnormal structure or function of

the amgydala is a common component of neurodevelopmental disorders.

Neuorpsychologia, 49: 745-759.

- Schumann, C.M., Hamstra, J., Goodlin-Jones, B.L., Lotspeich, L.J., Kwon, H., Buonocore,
 M.H., Lammers, C.R., Reiss, A.L., and Amaral, D.G. (2004). The amygdala is enlarged in children but not adolescents with autism; the hippocampus is enlarged at all ages.
 Journal of Neuroscience, 24: 6392-6401.
- Schwartz, C.E., Wright, C.I., Shin, L.M., Kagan, J., Whalen, P.J., McMullin, K.G., and Rauch,
 S.L. (2003). Differential amygdalar response to novel versus newly familiar neutral
 faces: A functional MRI probe developed for studying inhibited temperament.
 Biological Psychiatry, 53(10): 854-862.
- Seale, J.V., Wood, S.A., Atkinson, H.C., Harbuz, M.S., and Lightman, S.L. (2004). Gonadal steroid replacement reverses gonadectomy-induced changes in the corticosterone pulse profile and stress-induced hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity of male and female rats. Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 16: 989-998.
- Sinclair, D., Tsai, S.Y., Woon, H.G., and Weickert, C.S. (2011a). Abnormal glucocorticoid receptor mRNA and protein isoform expression in the prefrontal cortex in psychiatric illness. Neuropsychopharmacology, 36: 2698-2709.
- Sinclair, D., Webster, M.J., Wong, J., and Weickert, C.S. (2011b). Dynamic molecular and anatomical changes in the glucocorticoid receptor in human cortical development. Molecular Psychiatry, 16: 504-515.
- Smith, C.J., and Norman, R.L. (1987). Circadian periodicity in circulating cortisol is absent after orchidectomy in rhesus macaques. Endocrinology, 121: 2186-2191.

Sondeijker, F.E.P.L., Ferdinand, R.F., Oldehinkel, A.J., Veenstra, R., Tiemeier, H., Ormel, J.,

and Verhulst, F.C. (2007). Disruptive behaviors and HPA-axis activity in young adolescent boys and girls from the general population. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 41: 570-578.

- Sparks, B.F., Friedman, S.D., Shaw, D.W. Aylward, E., Echelard, D., Artru, A.A., Maravilla, K.R., Giedd, J.N., Munson, J., Dawson, G., and Dager, S.R. (2002). Brain structural abnormalities in young children with autism spectrum disorder. Neurology, 59: 184-192.
- Stahn, C., Lowenberg, M., Hommes, D.W., and Buttgereit, F. (2007). Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid action and selective glucocorticoid receptor agonists. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 275: 71-78.
- Stavisky, R.C., Waston, S.L., Anthony, M.S., Manuck, S.B., Adams, M.R., and Kaplan, J.R. (2003). Influence of estradiol on cortisol secretion in ovariectomized cynomologus macaques (Macaca fascicularis). American Journal of Primatology, 60: 17-22.
- Suzuki, W.A. (1996). Neuroanatomy of the monkey entorhinal, perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices: Organizations of the cortical inputs and interconnections with the amygdala and striatum. Seminars in the Neurosciences, 8: 3-12.
- Tarullo, A.R., and Gunnar, M.R. (2006). Child maltreatment and the developing HPA axis. Hormones and Behavior, 50: 632-639.
- Thompson, C.I., Schwartzbaum, J.S., and Harlow, H.F. (1969). Development of social fear after amygdalectomy in infant rhesus monkeys. Physiology and Behavior, 4: 249-254.
- Thompson, C.I. and Towfighi, J.T. (1976). Social behavior of juvenile rhesus monkeys after amygdalectomy in infancy. Physiology and Behavior, 17: 831-836.

Thompson, C.I., Bergland, R.M., and Towfighi, J.T. (1977). Social and nonsocial behaviors of

adult rhesus monkeys after amygdalectomy in infancy and adulthood. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 91(3): 533-548.

- Thompson, C.I. (1981). Learning in rhesus monkeys after amygdalectomy in infancy or adulthood. Behavioural Brain Research, 2: 81-101.
- Tonsgard, J.H., Harwicke, N., and Levine, S.C. (1987). Klüver-Bucy syndrome in children. Pediatric Neuroloy, 3: 162-165.
- Tottenham, N. (personal communications, April 18, 2012 at the Wisconsin Symposium on Emotion)
- Troisi, A., Aureli, F., Schino, G., Rinaldi, F., and De Andelis, N. (1990). The influence of age, sex, and rank on yawning behavior in two species of macaques (Macaca fascicularis and M. fuscata). Ethology, 86: 303-310.
- Urry, H.L., van Reekum, C.M., Johnstone, T., Kalin, N.H., Thurow, M.E., Schaefer, H.S.,
 Jackson, C.A., Frye, C.J., Greischar, L.L., Alexander, A.L., and Davidson, R.J. (2006).
 Amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex are inversely coupled during regulation of negative affect and predict the diurnal pattern of cortisol secretion among older adults.
 Journal of Neuroscience, 26: 4415-4425.
- van Zuiden, M., Geuze, E., Willemen, H.L.D.M., Vermetten, E., Maas, M., Heijnen, C.J., and Kavelaars, A. (2011). Pre-existing high glucocorticoid receptor number predicting development of posttraumatic stress symptoms after military deployment. American Journal of Psychiatry, 168: 89-96.
- Veer, I.M., Oei, N.Y.L., Spinhoven, P., van Buchem, M.A., Elzinga, B.M., and Rombouts,S.A.R.B. (2011). Endogenous cortisol is associated with functional connectivity between the amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex. Psychoneuroendocrinology, online ahead of

press doi: 10.1016/j.psycneuen.2011.12.001

- Vyas, A., Bernal, S., and Chattarji, S. (2003). Effects of chronic stress on dendritic aborization in the central and extended amygdala. Brain Research, 965: 290-294.
- Wager, T.D., Waugh, C.E., Lindquist, M., Noll, D.C., Fredrickson, B.L., and Taylor, S.F. (2009).
 Brain mediators of cardiovascular responses to social threat: part I: Reciprocal dorsal and ventral sub-regions of the medial prefrontal cortex and hear-rate reactivity.
 NeuroImage, 47: 821-835.
- Walker, DL, and Davis, M, (2008). Role of the extended amygdala in short-duration versus sustained fear: a tribute to Dr. Lennart Heimer. Brain Structure and Function 213: 29-42.
- Walker, E., Mittal, V., and Tessner, K. (2008). Stress and the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis in the developmental course of schizophrenia. Annual Reviews of Clinical Psychology, 4: 189-216.
- Walker, E.F., Weinstein, J., Baum, K., and Neumann, C.S. (1995). Antecedents of schizophrenia: moderating effects of development and biological sex. In H. Hafner, W.F. Gattaz (Eds), Search for the causes of schizophrenia. Vol 3 (pp 21-42). Springer, New York.
- Watamura, S.E., Donzella, B., Kertes, D.A., and Gunnar, M.R. (2004). Developmental changes in baseline cortisol activity in early childhood: relations with napping and effortful control. Developmental Psychobiology, 45: 125-133.
- Weidenfeld, J., Itzik, A., and Feldman, S. (1997). Effect of glucocorticoids on the adrenocortical axis responses to electrical stimulation of the amygdala and the ventral noradrenergic bundle. Brain Research, 754: 187-194.

Weiskrantz, L. (1956). Behavioral changes associated with ablation of the amygdaloid complex

in monkeys. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 49: 381-391.

- Weisz, J., and Ward, I.L. (1980). Plasma testosterone and progesterone titers of pregnant rats, their male and female fetuses, and neonatal offspring. Endocrinology, 106: 306-316.
- Weitzman, E.D., Fukushima, D., Nogeire, C., Roffwarg, H., Gallagher, T.F., and Hellman, L.(1971). Twenty-four hour pattern of the episodic secretion of cortisol in normal subjects.Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 33: 14-22.
- Wilensky, A.E., Schafe, G.E., and LeDoux, J.E. (2000). The amygdala modulates memory consolidation of fear-motivated inhibitory avoidance learning but not classical fear conditioning. Journal of Neuroscience, 20(18): 7059-7066.
- Wilson, M.E., Gordon, T.P., and Collins, D.C. (1986). Ontogeny of lutenizing hormone secretion and first ovulation in seasonal breeding rhesus monkeys. Endocrinology, 118: 293-301.
- Wilson, M.E., Legendre, A., Pazol, K., Fisher, J., and Chikazawa, K. (2005). Gonadal steroid modulation of the limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (LHPA) axis is influenced by social status in female rhesus monkeys. Endocrine, 26: 89-97.
- Wolfram, M., Bellingrath, S., and Kudielka, B. M. (2011). The cortisol awakening response (CAR) across the female menstrual cycle. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 36: 905-912.
- Wynn, P.C., Harwood, J.P., Catt, K.J., and Aguilera, G. (1985). Regulation of corticotrophinreleasing factor (CRF) receptors in the rat pituitary gland: Effects of adrenalectomy on CRF receptors and corticotroph responses. Endocrinology, 116: 1653-1659.
- Zahn-Waxler, C., Shirtcliff, E.A., and Marceau, K. (2008). Disorders of childhood and adolescence: Gender and Psychopathology. Annual Reviews of Clinical Psychology, 4: 275-303.

Zosuls, K.M., Ruble, D.N., Tamis-Lemonda, C.S., Shrout, P.E., Bornstein, M.H., and Greulich,

F.K. (2009). The acquisition of gender labels in infancy: implications for gender-typed play. Developmental Psychology, 45: 688-701.